
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP  

COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION  
REGULAR MEETING 

September 6, 2023 6:00 PM 
 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

All comments limited to 3 minutes, unless prior approval for additional time for good cause is obtained from the Commission Chair. 
 
Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or services should contact the Meridian Township Communications Department; 
Communications Manager, Brandie Yates, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 or 517.853.4208 - Ten Day Notice is Required.  
Meeting Location: 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, Ml 48864 Administrative Conference Room 
 

 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
2. ROLL CALL  
3. PUBLIC REMARKS 
4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

A. March 22, 2023 Regular Meeting DRAFT Minutes 
6. COMMUNICATIONS MANAGER REPORT 

A. 2023 2nd and 3rd Quarter Report 
7. COMMISSION MEMBERS REPORTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

A. Chair’s Report 
B. Township Board Liaison’s Report 
C. Commissioner Reports 

8. ACTION ITEMS 
9. DISCUSSION ITEMS 

A. History of the Communications Commission 
B. Communications Commission Member Recruitment 

10. COMMUNICATIONS 
A. Compliments/Complaints 
B. Correspondences 

11. REPORTS 
A. Video Service Provider(s) 
B. Programming 

i. Program Totals and Video On-Demand Analytics  
C. Website & Social Media 

i. Website Analytics  
ii. Social Media Analytics  

D. Promotions/Publications 
i. Family Fun Guide 

E. Broadband 
F. Finance 
G. HOMTV Internship/Alumni 

12. PUBLIC REMARKS 
13. ADJOURNMENT 



 

 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
Communications Commission Regular Meeting DRAFT minutes 
Wednesday, March 22, 2023 | 6:00 pm 
 
PRESENT: Chair, Brian Seipel; Commissioner, Leslie Charles; Commissioner, Lisa Whiting-

Dobson 
ABSENT:  Vice Chair, Walter Benenson; Alternate Commissioner, Mike Nevells 
STAFF:  Samantha Diehl, Communications Manager 
TOWNSHIP: None 
COUNSEL: None 
COMCAST/AT&T:  None 
 
1.  CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

Chair Seipel called the meeting to order at 6:05 pm. 
 
4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Commissioner Whiting-Dobson moved TO APPROVE THE AGENDA AS SUBMITTED. 
Seconded by Commissioner Charles. 

 
VOICE VOTE: Motion carried unanimously. 

 
5.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Commissioner Whiting-Dobson moved TO APPROVE THE MINUTES FOR WEDNESDAY, 
JANUARY 11, 2023 SPECIAL MEETING. Seconded by Commissioner Charles. 

 
VOICE VOTE: Motion carried unanimously. 

 
6.  COMMUNCATIONS MANAGER REPORT 
 Manager Diehl reviewed the 1st quarter report. The Meridian Township Municipal Building 

will be undergoing an interior renovation beginning April 24, 2023, and lasting until 
October 2023. This includes new wayfinding signs internally.  

  
 HOMTV will need to shut down operations while the Control & Server Rooms are updated, 

but this won’t be until later on in the renovation process. The Communications Department 
is operating out of the HOMTV Studio during renovations. 
 
Marketing & Public Relations Specialist Andrea Smiley submitted her resignation, with a 
final day of March 30, 2023. The Marking & Public Relations Specialist position was posted 
March 17, 2023.  
 
On March 1, the Meridian Township Parks and Recreation Department unveiled their new 
newsletter, The Playbook. The monthly newsletter will highlight information and events 
offered through the Parks Department. The Communications Department will be overseeing 
the newsletter. Meridian Happenings will now move to a bi-weekly schedule to 
accommodate this new newsletter. 
 
Okemos Road bridge is open and road construction updates are still being provided. 



Manager Diehl’s report went into marking and communications efforts done by the 
Communications Department.  
 
This next portion was not included in the March 22, 2023 Regular Meeting packet due to it 
not being confirmed, but Manager Diehl announced that the Meridian Cares About You: 
Health & Safety Expo would take place on May 10, 2023.  
 
Celebrate Meridian will be a two-day event on Friday, June 23 and Saturday, June 24. Event 
takes place from 8:00 am – 11:00 pm. Celebrate Meridian page was updated and flyers 
created. 
 
Meridian Freedom Fest will be happening in June. There will be two free movie screenings 
and a blues and jazz festival. 
 
Meridian Township is hosting its first Pride Event on August 26, 2023. Website has been 
made, but no details yet. 
 
Communications Department assisted with the marketing for the Chinese New Year Event 
at the Meridian Mall. They were there to take photos and videos of the event as well. 
 
Town Hall Room renovation mostly completed, but still waiting on one more piece of 
equipment to be delivered. 
 
Catching Up with Kenize filming returned in 2023. The episode was filmed at Art Unlimited 
in Downtown Okemos. HOMTV also filmed multiple episodes of HOM Entertainment and 
interviewed cast members performing at the Wharton Center.  
 
HOMTV Spring Internship consisted of 3 interns. 12 applicants for the summer 2023 
internship.  

 
7.  COMMISSION MEMBERS REPORTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

Communications Chair: Chair Seipel would like to present on the history of the Commission 
at a future meeting. Stated that he would like a directory of Commission members. Chair 
Seipel asked Manager Diehl about the Ingham County broadband survey, but Manager Diehl 
had no updates to report at the time.  
 
Township Board Liaison:  
 
None. 
 
Commissioners Report:  

  
 None.  
 

 
8. ACTION ITEMS  
 



 None. 
 
9.  DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 

A. HOMTV Operating Policies Revision 
Manager Diehl expressed her interest in revising HOMTV’s Operating Policies to 
make the language more inclusive and to match the Township’s policies on 
wording. Manager Diehl asked Commissioners to read through the policies and 
provide their feedback. 
 

10.  COMMUNICATIONS 

 A.    Compliments/Complaints  

         None. 

B. Correspondences 
None. 

 

11.  REPORTS 
 

A. Video Service Provider(s) 
None. 

 
B. Programming  

Program totals and video on-demand analytics were shared in the packet. Manager 
Diehl noted that Swagit on-demand 1st quarter stats increased 50% from 2022. This 
means more people were watching the televised meetings.  
 

C. Website & Social Media 
Website and social media analytics were shared in the packet. Manager Diehl mentioned 
that a new Instagram account was made for Meridian Township Parks and Recreation 
Department. Manager Diehl also stated that Nextdoor is another channel that is being 
utilized more, but residents were upset that Nextdoor wasn’t alerting them of new posts 
from Meridian Township.  
 

D. Promotions/Publications  
Meridian Township Parks and Recreation Department will be releasing their Family Fun 
Guide publication in mid-April. The Family Fun Guide will list all the events available in 
2023. 
 

E. Finance 
None. 

 
F.   HOMTV Internship/Alumni 

None. 
 

 



12.  PUBLIC REMARKS 
 
  None. 
 
13.  ADJOURNMENT 

Chair Seipel moved TO ADJOURN THE MEETING. Seconded by Commissioner Charles. 
 

VOICE VOTE: Motion carried unanimously 
 
Chair Kiyak adjourned the meeting at 7:02 pm.  



Comm 
 
 

Communications 
Commission 

 
 
 
 
 

 
COMMUNICATIONS 
MANAGER REPORT 



Communications Department 
2nd Quarter Report 

April – June 2023 

 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 
 

Municipal Building Renovation 
The Meridian Township Municipal Building began renovations on Monday, April 24. In the week leading 
up to the move, Township staff relocated to their temporary work stations. The Communications 
Department moved into the HOMTV Studio so that equipment could still be accessed. The HOMTV 
Studio provides an external door to the outside, so Staff can avoid areas under renovation if needed.  

The Town Hall Room remains open to serve residents who utilize the Municipal Building for its various 
in-person services.  

The HOMTV Server & Control Rooms will be renovated in late August/September. Staff will need to 
schedule renovations around the Township meeting schedule, as HOMTV operations will need to be 
powered down during work in those rooms.  

Staffing Changes 
On May 1, Rachael Stohlin started in the position of Marketing and Public Relations Specialist, taking 
over for Andrea Smiley. The Marketing and Public Relations Specialist position received over 20 
applications, and three in-person interviews were conducted before Manager Diehl made the final 
decision.  
The interview panel consisted of Multimedia Production and Operations Specialist Danneisha McDole, 
Human Resources Director Abby Tithof, Director of Project Management and Operations Melissa 
Massey, and Janet Lillie, who serves as the Assistant Vice President at Michigan State University. 
 
Certified Tourist Ambassador (CTA) Class 

Manager Diehl, Specialist McDole, and Specialist Stohlin will be completing a CTA certification class on 
June 22 through the Greater Lansing Convention and Visitor’s Bureau (GLCVB). The certification is a 
four-hour class, followed by a test.  



Communications Department 
2nd Quarter Report 

April – June 2023 

 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

Marketing & Communications 
 Meridian Cares About You: Health & Safety Expo 

On Wednesday, May 10, Meridian Township held the inaugural Meridian Cares About You: Health 
& Safety Expo at the Marketplace on the Green Pavilion. Community members were encouraged 
to attend to learn more about the health and safety resources offered in the Lansing area.  
Participants had the ability to visit 23 booths relating to mental health, physical health, wellness, 
law enforcement, and more. 

The Communications Department assisted Trustee Marna Wilson and other Township Staff with 
promotion of the event. This included paid Facebook ads, a flyer, social media graphics, 
coordinating with the participating vendors, and updating the Meridian Township website. 

HOMTV was at the event to capture photos and video, and a recap video of the event was shared 
on social media. The flyer from the event can be found at the end of this document. 

 Celebrate Meridian 

The first communication regarding Celebrate Meridian was published in February 2023. This 
included the creation of Facebook event links, Township calendar and webpage updates, a call 
for sponsors/volunteers, and social media posts announcing the return of Celebrate Meridian.  

Leading up to the event, promotional efforts will focus on highlighting the different activities 
offered at Celebrate Meridian.  

In addition to the regular festival, a campaign titled Celebrate Meridian Business Week will be in 
effect from June 17-June 24. Participating businesses who donated to the Celebrate Meridian 
Festival will be receiving picture-selfie boards to hang in their establishments. Customers will be 
encouraged to take a photo with the board and post to their social media to help promote the 
event.  

Specialist McDole and current HOMTV intern Stella Govitz designed the 16 photo boards that will 
be sent to sponsors. Celebrate Meridian will be a two-day event taking place on Friday, June 23 
and Saturday, June 24 (www.meridian.mi.us/CelebrateMeridian). 

Examples of promotional materials will be provided below. 

Meridian Freedom Fest 

The Meridian Freedom Fest honoring Juneteenth will return for its third year and takes place the 
weekend before Celebrate. Multiple flyers and social media graphics were made for the event. A 
paid ad will also be placed in the City Pulse for their Juneteenth edition.  

The event will feature two movie screenings (June 9 & June 16), a Blues & Jazz Festival at Lake 
Lansing Park South (June 17), and a Historical Spiritual Review at the Meridian Historical Village 
(June 18). HOMTV will be in attendance to cover every event.  

The website can be viewed at www.meridian.mi.us/Juneteenth. 

Examples of promotional materials will be provided below. 

http://www.meridian.mi.us/CelebrateMeridian
http://www.meridian.mi.us/Juneteenth


Communications Department 
2nd Quarter Report 

April – June 2023 

 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

Meridian Pride 

The inaugural Meridian Pride event will take place on Saturday, August 26 at the Marketplace on 
the Green Pavilion. The event will feature food trucks, entertainment, a beer garden, proud puppy 
pageant, art vendors, and more. 

The webpage has been created and is available at www.meridian.mi.us/MeridianPride. 

A paid digital ad was printed in the Pride edition of the City Pulse. Once Celebrate Meridian and 
the Freedom Fest have concluded, Staff will focus on promoting Meridian Pride.  

Examples of promotional materials will be provided below. 

Summer Concert Series & Farmers’ Market 

The first Summer Concert Series was held on June 7, and will run every Wednesday from June 
through the end of September. June 7 also marked the first day of the Wednesday Farmers’ 
Market at Marketplace on the Green. The Meridian Farmers’ Market outdoor season began as 
Saturdays only in April and May but will now run every Wednesday and Saturday until the end 
of October.  

HOMTV will be in attendance to capture photos and videos of the various Summer Concert Series 
and Farmers’ Market days. Examples of promotional materials will be provided below. 

 
HOMTV Operations 

Town Hall Room A/V Upgrades Project 

The final piece of equipment needed for the Town Hall Room project was delivered and installed. This 
will allow for different inputs to be displayed on the various screens.  

HOMTV National Award Winner 

The Alliance for Community Media named HOMTV as the 2022 winner in the Overall Excellence in 
Government Access category for the Hometown Media Awards. The ceremony will take place in New 
York City on June 28, and the plaque will be mailed to HOMTV in early July. 

HOMTV Programming & Internship 

The Spring 2023 HOMTV Internship Program included 4 reporting interns and 1 promotions intern. 2 
of the 5 interns were returning interns, with 3 of them being new interns that semester.  

Training Workshops Provided by Specialist McDole: 

• How to use the HOMTV website.  

• How to conduct a standard news story package. 

• How to interview on-camera. 

• Photography and videography skills, including how to edit. 

http://www.meridian.mi.us/MeridianPride


Communications Department 
2nd Quarter Report 

April – June 2023 

 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

• How to conduct a podcast. 

• Creating a resume and demo reel. 

Intern Segments Filmed: 
• Dining with Dom 

o HOMTV intern Dominic Carroll visited family-owned restaurants in Meridian 
Township to learn more about what they offer. 

• Behind the Scenes at HOMTV – Taeya Takeover 
o HOMTV intern Taeya Wright recorded behind the scenes footage of the shows, 

segments, and story assignments filmed by the other interns. These were done in Reels 
format and shared on HOMTV’s Facebook and Instagram. 

• Catching Up with Kenize 
o HOMTV intern Mackenize Dekker visited Art Unlimited, Great Harvest Bread Co., and 

then filmed a final recap episode with the other HOMTV interns.  
• Women’s History Month 

o Taeya Wright and Mackenize Dekker interviewed 5 Meridian Township department 
heads for Women’s History Month. 

 
The Summer 2023 HOMTV Internship Program will include 1 reporting intern, 1 production intern, 
and 1 promotions intern. Two of those interns are new, with one being a returning intern. 
 
The HOMTV Summer Internship began on May 22 and will conclude on August 3.  
 

(Photo features Staff and Spring 2023 interns) 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 



Communications Department 
3rd Quarter Report 

July-September 2023 

 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 
 

Municipal Building Renovation 
The Meridian Township Municipal Building was officially reopened to the public on Thursday, August 
31. The Township Board and Staff held a ribbon cutting ceremony to commemorate the event, and the 
public was invited to attend. The Communications Department has moved out of the HOMTV Studio and 
back into their offices.  

HOMTV Channel Audio Issues 
A Meridian Township resident reported to Clerk Guthrie and Deputy Manager Opsommer that the 
HOMTV channel had no audio for two weeks. Manager Diehl contacted Ben Miller, the Comcast 
representative for the region, and asked if Comcast could look at any possible issues on their end. A 
Comcast technician visited the Municipal Building on Thursday, August 29 to assess. They found that 
there were no issues on Comcast’s end. 
After further testing, Manager Diehl concluded that the encoder is dropping the audio when the signal 
is sent to Comcast. Staff were looking to upgrade the HOMTV channel playback systems in 2024 but 
would like to move that to 2023 due to the new audio issues. 
HOMTV has utilized Leightronix products for channel streaming and on-demand viewing, but Staff is 
looking to switch companies. Manager Diehl has a meeting with Cablecast on September 6 to demo their 
product and discuss what a system upgrade may look like. Staff will also reach out to other companies 
to compare quotes. Any equipment purchases for the channel will be made using PEG funds. Once a 
more concrete plan is in place, Staff will bring a motion to the Communications Commission for the 
approval to use PEG funding. 
ArchiveSocial Integration 

A new software the Communications Department began utilizing in August 2023 is ArchiveSocial. 
ArchiveSocial serves as a social media archiving tool that constantly captures real-time snapshots of 
20 different Meridian Township social media accounts.  

Government social media accounts are considered public records, so it is important to maintain an 
active, accurate record to comply with the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA). Social networking sites 
do not archive/retain records for us, so they have no obligation to maintain our records if a FOIA 
request is submitted. ArchiveSocial tracks all posts, comments, messages, and more relative to 
Township pages, including edits and deletions to this content to ensure the Township has a complete 
record of social media interactions.  

In addition, ArchiveSocial provides “Risk Management and Analytics”, which allows Communications 
Staff to efficiently measure public sentiment towards the Township (positive/negative), and preserve 
public safety by immediately identifying threats or concerning statements made towards the 
Township through keyword detection. 

For example, if a Facebook user sends the Township a message including the word “shooting” and 
deletes this message, ArchiveSocial can provide a record of the original message, as well as when it 
was deleted.  



Communications Department 
3rd Quarter Report 

July-September 2023 

 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

Staff obtained quotes from both Pagefreeze and Smarsh, the top two competitors of ArchiveSocial, but 
ultimately decided to go with ArchiveSocial due to their high customer rating from other government 
agencies. 

2024 Budget 
Manager Diehl submitted the Communications Department’s 2024 budget in August. The Township 
Board will be presented with the 2024 budget at their meeting on Tuesday, September 5. The budget 
will be on for final adoption at their Tuesday, September 19 meeting. Once the budget has been 
approved, Manager Diehl will present the Communications Department budget at the next 
Communications Commission meeting. 

Marketing & Communications 
 Meridian Pride 

On Saturday, August 26, Meridian Township held the inaugural Pride Event at the Marketplace 
on the Green Pavilion. The event started with a 5k Fun Run/Walk at 3:00 pm, and the main event 
took place from 4:00 pm to 10:00 pm. 

The event featured a Proud Puppy Pageant, approximately 30 vendors and advocacy resources, 
child’s creativity area with books and activities from Capital Area District Libraries (CADL), beer 
garden, music from a DJ, food trucks, and a performance by Mikki Prost, a Patsy Cline tribute 
performer. 

The Communications Department utilized paid Facebook ads to reach more people, as well as 
regular social media posts in the weeks leading up to the event. Multimedia Production 
Freelancer Courtland Jenkins was at the event to capture photos and video. 

 Parks and Recreation Events 

Boombox Bingo and Karaoke at the Marketplace 

The Parks and Recreation Department offered two new events over the summer months: 
Boombox Bingo and Karaoke. The events were held at the Marketplace on the Green 
Pavilion and were geared towards adults and teens in the Township. The Communications 
Department created special graphics for each event and promoted them on social media 
as well as the newsletters.  

Snell Towar Recreation Center Reopening 

In July, the Parks and Recreation Department reopened the Snell Towar Recreation Center 
located at 6146 Porter Avenue in East Lansing. The Parks Department opens the center 
multiple times a week to provide programming and activities for children to take part in. 
Communications Staff assisted with promotion of the center by posting on the Township’s 
social media accounts as well as the website.  

*Examples of promotional materials will be provided at the end of this report. 

 

 



Communications Department 
3rd Quarter Report 

July-September 2023 

 

 

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 

Heritage Festival 

The Friends of Historic Meridian will be hosting their annual Heritage Festival at the Meridian 
Historical Village on Saturday, October 7 from 10:00 am to 4:00 pm. Communications Staff has 
met twice with the Friends of Historic Meridian to assist with the promotional efforts of this 
event.  

The initial press release will be sent out on Tuesday, September 5, followed by promotion across 
Township social media channels. HOMTV will be present at the event to capture photos and 
video.  

Listening Sessions 

The Meridian Township Board will hold six community listening sessions throughout the months 
of September, October, and November. Residents have been encouraged to attend and speak 
about their ideas for the future of Meridian Township. 

On July 1, all Township residents were mailed a letter announcing the Listening Sessions. They 
have been posted on the Township website, and social media promotion is currently underway. 

 

HOMTV Operations 

HOMTV Programming & Internship 

The Summer 2023 HOMTV Internship Program included 1 reporting intern, 1 production intern, 
and 1 social media and promotions intern. Of the three interns for summer, one of them was a 
returning intern. 

The Fall 2023 HOMTV Internship Program will include two returning interns. One is a reporting 
intern who will focus on documentary-style videos, and the second is a social media and 
promotions intern who will focus on the Meridian Township social media platforms. 

Beginning in September 2023, all interns who come through the HOMTV Internship Program 
will be paid. Prior to that, the internship was unpaid. Interns will be compensated at $14 dollars 
per hour.



Meridian Cares About You:
Health & Safety Expo

This event is co-hosted by the Meridian Township Board,
Okemos Public Schools & Haslett Public Schools. 

May 10, 2023
5:00 pm - 8:00 pm

Marketplace on the Green
1995 Central Park Drive

Family friendly event 
featuring FREE food,

music, giveaways & more! 

Meridian Township Police Department
Meridian Township Fire Department
Meridian Cares
Meridian Township Parks & Recreation
Ingham County Health Department
Ingham County Emergency Management
Community Mental Health Authority of
Clinton, Eaton and Ingham Counties
Meridian Senior Center
NAMI Lansing

MSU Police and Public Safety
MSU Sexual Assault Healthcare Program
Delta Dental
Red Cross
Greater Lansing Area Food Bank
Small Talk Children's Advocacy Center
Okemos Woof Pack
EVE (End Violent Encounters)
Ele's Place - Capital Region
Tri-County Office on Aging

FREE & open to the
public! Learn more

about health & safety
resources available in

Meridian Township.

Sponsored By:

Participating Booths:

For more information, contact Trustee Marna Wilson at
wilson@meridian.mi.us or 773.860.8388.



S A T U R D A Y ,  J U N E  2 4  |  8 : 0 0  A M  T O  1 1 : 0 0  P M
F R I D A Y ,  J U N E  2 3  |  6 : 0 0  P M  T O  9 : 0 0  P M



SCHEDULE OF EVENTS
FREE MOVIE SCREENING OF "THE WIZ"

  Friday, June 9 at 9:00 pm
  Meridian Historical Village




FREE MOVIE SCREENING OF "QUEEN OF KATWE"
  Friday, June 16 at 9:00 pm
  Meridian Historical Village




BLUES & JAZZ FESTIVAL
  Saturday, June 17 at 1:00 pm
  Lake Lansing Park South




A SPIRITUAL HISTORICAL REVIEW
  Sunday, June 18 at 2:00 pm
  Meridian Historical Village Chapel

MERIDIAN FREEDOM FEST

CELEBRATE JUNETEENTH

JUNETEENTH
FUNDRAISING

COMMITTEE
THANK YOU
TO OUR
SPONSORS: 



Marketplace on the Green Pavilion
 1995 Central Park Drive, Okemos, MI 48864

Saturday, August 26 | 4:00 pm to 10:00 pm

For more information, visit meridian.mi.us/MeridianPride or contact
Brian (Raven) Shorkey at 517.853.4576 or shorkey@meridian.mi.us.

Join Meridian Township, LGBTQ+ members, allies, and
local organizations to celebrate diversity and inclusion in
the Township community!

Food Trucks
Beer Garden
Live MC and DJ
5K Fun Run

Proud Puppy Pageant
Art Vendors
Advocacy Resources

Join the festivities and enjoy: 



Concert SeriesConcert SeriesSummerSummer
Wednesdays at 6:00 pm, June - September

 Marketplace on the Green
(1995 Central Park Drive)



FREE

Concert SeriesConcert Series
Wednesdays at 6:00 pm

 Marketplace on the Green - 1995 Central Park Drive

SummerSummer

Sea
Cruisers

June

7









Thank You To
Our Sponsors:



Meridian Pride MCs 
Bob Hoffman and Deb Hart 
of WSYM FOX 47's The Morning Blend



Township Supervisor 
Patricia Herring Jackson

4756 Marsh Road Plantae Treasures



Featuring MCs Bob Hoffman and Deb Hart
of WSYM FOX 47's The Morning Blend





Weddings in
the Village

August 26, 2023 | 4:00 pm to 7:00 pm
Ingham County Marriage License Required





august 17, 2023 | 7:00 pm - 9:00 pm
marketplace on the green
(1995 central park drive, okemos)



July 20, 2023 | 6:00 pm to 9:00 pm
Marketplace on the Green

(1995 Central Park Drive, Okemos)

This event is coordinated by the Meridian Township
Parks and Recreation Department. For more
information, visit meridian.mi.us/Calendar or call
517.853.4600.



S N E L L  T O W A R

*ALL EVENTS ARE WEATHER DEPENDENT & MAY BE CANCELLED THE DAY OF

S M T W T F S

1 7

2 8

1 2 3 4

6 7 8 9 1 0 1 2

1 3 1 4 1 5 1 6 1 9

2 0 2 1 2 2 2 3 2 4

5

1 1

1 8

2 5 2 6

2 7 3 0 3 1 1 22 9

VINYL
CLUB

6:00 pm -
9:00 pm

OPEN
CENTER

12:00 pm -
3:00 pm

READ 
ALONG

5:00 pm -
8:00 pm

OPEN
CENTER

12:00 pm -
3:00 pm

READ 
ALONG

5:00 pm -
8:00 pm

OPEN
CENTER

6:00 pm -
9:00 pm

VINYL 
CLUB

6:00 pm -
9:00 pm

OPEN
CENTER

12:00 pm -
3:00 pm

OPEN
CENTER

12:00 pm -
3:00 pm

OPEN
CENTER

12:00 pm -
3:00 pm



Comm 
 
 

Communications 
Commission 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Commission 

Members Reports & 
Announcements



Comm 
 
 

Communications 
Commission 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Action Items 



Comm 
 
 

Communications 
Commission 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Discussion Items 



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 
 

 
9.A 

 
 
 
 

To: 

From: 

Date: 

Re: 

 
Communications Commission 

Samantha Diehl, Communications Manager 

August 31, 2023 

History of the Communications Commission 

 
At the March 22, 2023 Regular Communications Commission, Chair Seipel expressed his interest in 
compiling a history of the Communications Commission. Commissioner Charles also expressed 
interest in learning more about the history of the Commission.  

The Communications Department retains the minutes for the Communications Commission, as well 
as the Cable Commission, which was the original Commission name before it was changed to the 
Communications Commission. To gain a better understanding of the origin of the Commission, 
Manager Diehl recommends that the Commissioners read through past meeting minutes. The 
minutes are not currently available digitally, but Clerk Guthrie informed Manager Diehl that the 
Clerk’s Office could digitize the minutes. 

 

 

 

  

 

 
 
 
 



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 
 

 
9.B 

 
 
 
 

To: 

From: 

Date: 

Re: 

 
Communications Commission 

Samantha Diehl, Communications Manager 

August 31, 2023 

Communications Commission Member Recruitment 

 
The Communications Commission consists of five members and two alternates who are appointed by 
the Township Supervisor. All members/alternates serve a three-year term. Presently, there are three 
members, one alternate, and the Board Liaison.  

Chair Seipel, Commissioner Charles, and Commissioner Whiting-Dobson have expressed interest in 
reaching out to individuals who may want to serve on the Communications Commission. Manager 
Diehl is recommending that the Commissioners discuss the qualifications they hope applicants to 
have when applying for the Communications Commission, as well as how they may want to go about 
recruiting members.  

 

 

 

  

 

 
 
 
 



Comm 
 
 

Communications 
Commission 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Compliments/ 

Complaints 



Individual Video Provider Customer Intakes

8/31/2023

5273 Meridian Road

Williamston 48895-    

5172824418

beyeawayne@gmail.com

Mr. Beyea first called Communications Manager Samantha Diehl on August 18, 2023. He 
explained that due to where his house is located, he cannot receive service from 
Comcast without paying out of pocket to have their fiber installed where he lives. He was 
told it would cost approximately $7,000 dollars to have fiber installed at his house. He 
submitted this same complaint with the Communications Commission in 2015 and was 
hoping to revisit the topic. Manager Diehl then reached out to Ben Miller, the local 
Comcast representative, on August 18 to see if Mr. Beyea would still need to pay to have 
fiber installed. Ben Miller informed Manager Diehl that he had reached out to Mr. Beyea 
and that Comcast would do another evaluation of his situation. On August 30, Mr. Beyea 
reached out to Manager Diehl to inform her that Comcast did another survey and would 
require hm to pay $6,168 to have fiber installed. He is hoping that the Township can 
intervene to help.

Yes

Samantha Diehl

Date

Street Address

City / Zip

Work Phone

Cell Phone

Email

Best Time to Call

Best Time to Service

Unburied Cable

Bad Reception

Bad Treatment

Cannot Phone

Waiting for Service

Bad Information

Missed Service Call

No Response to Request

Other

Problem Description

Problem Before? Ongoing

Assigned Staff 

Staff Response

2023-001Complaint Number

MPSC Information 
Given

Resolution

ComcastService Provider

Name Wayne Beyea

Reason for Calling Complaint

Cable Out

Cable Box

Ext

Home Phone

Thursday, August 31, 2023 Page 1 of 1



Comm 
 
 

Communications 
Commission 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Video Service 

Provider 



Comm 
 
 

Communications 
Commission 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Programming 



 

11Bi. 

To:  Communications Commission 

From:  Danneisha McDole, Multimedia Production and Operations Specialist 

Date:  August 29, 2023 

Re:  Program Totals and Video On-Demand Totals  

 

Program Totals (Year to Date):  
• Meridian Live: 47 

o Township Board: 17 
o Planning Commission: 17 
o Environmental Commission: 7 
o Zoning Board of Appeals: 6 

• Catching Up with Kenize: 3 
• HOM Entertainment: 10 
• Event Coverage: 9 

 
 
Video On-Demand Analytics on next page. 
 
  



 
 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

Memo to Communications Commission 
August 29, 2023 
Re: Programming 
Page 2 

 
HOMTV Website Video On-Demand (Swagit) 
 
The graph shows that HOMTV on-demand services via Swagit had 1,928 year-to-date pageviews.   
 

 
 
 
YouTube Live vs. Uploaded Content Stats 

This graph shows the amount of HOMTV YouTube views based on uploaded content and live 
streams. Of the 17,447 total views for the year, 86.1% of those were for uploaded content and 
13.9% were for the video streamed live (Township meetings). 
 

 



Comm 
 
 

Communications 
Commission 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Website Analytics 



 
 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

To:  Communications Commission 

From:  Rachael Stohlin, Marketing and Public Relations Specialist 

Date:  August 30, 2023 

Re:  Meridian Township & HOMTV Website Analytics Update 

 

In July of 2023, Google Analytics, which provides our website analytics service for meridian.mi.us 
and homtv.net, transitioned from its former measurement solution, Universal Analytics, to its 
current solution, Google Analytics 4. Leading up to this transition, Google informed users that their 
data would be migrated into the new property format, with some work required on the users’ ends 
to ensure a complete transition of data. At that time, the Communications Department used the 
Google Analytics 4 migration guide. However, it was recently discovered that the migration did not 
occur properly, leading data to be inaccurately tracked for the June 1 to August 30 timeframe. In 
the upcoming quarter, we plan to correct the Google Analytics 4 data so that we can track our 
website activity effectively in future quarters. 
 
 

 
 

 



 
 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

To:  Communications Commission 

From:  Rachael Stohlin, Marketing and Public Relations Specialist 

Date:  August 30, 2023 

Re:  Marketing Updates & Social Media Performance Summary YTD 
 

Updates  
 
I delightedly joined the Meridian Township Communications Department as the Marketing and 
Public Relations Specialist on May 1, 2023. In these first four months of employment, I’ve 
undergone training and learned to successfully apply the Township’s marketing strategy and am 
now looking ahead to plan ways for our department to build the Township’s brand and better 
engage with the population we serve.  
  
To reflect these efforts, I recently developed the social media promotions and marketing materials 
(including posters, print ads, and flyers) for some of Meridian Township’s largest events, including 
the Celebrate Meridian Festival, Meridian Freedom Festival, and Meridian Pride event. In 
September and October, I will coordinate promotions for the Meridian Historical Village’s annual 
Heritage Festival, once again bringing community members together and honoring the Township’s 
history and progress.  
  
In addition to these projects, I’ve also dug into the Communications Department’s marketing 
policies and procedures, and Communications Manager Samantha Diehl and I are actively 
collaborating to update some of these documents. Most recently, we’ve updated the department’s 
external social media policy, which will soon be posted online and comprehensively reflect how 
online users can permissibly interact with our content. In the coming months, we plan to review 
other aged strategies (event marketing, 2018 marketing strategy) to address the new, productive 
ways that Meridian Township can connect with its residents, ensuring our news and information 
remains relevant and reaches those who need it. The completion date for these policy and 
procedure reviews is TBD based on staff availability.  
 
Amid these changes, our department continues to monitor recent developments regarding two 
popular social media platforms (X (formerly Twitter) and Threads) to assess whether new social 
media accounts should be created and if any should be deleted.  
  
Paid Ads on Social Media  
  
Over the last three months, the Communications Department has sponsored and/or coordinated 
social media ads pertaining to the Township’s Compost Bin & Rain Barrel Sale, Meridian Pride, and 
the upcoming Township Board Community Listening Sessions.  
 
 
 



 
 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

Social Media Performance Overview (New Section): 
  
To break down some of the numbers in the sections below, Meridian Township continues to show 
a strong performance across its social media platforms, with the Township, Parks & Recreation, 
and Farmers’ Market being its highest-achieving platforms this quarter. Specifically, the 
Township’s primary accounts excel beyond other Greater Lansing municipalities, communicating 
more often and showing strong engagement with its followers.  
 
Particularly in this quarter, the Township’s various accounts showed success in the following 
areas: 

• Post frequency while consistently achieving high reach and engagement. 
• Email open and click rate, indicating that the Township is creating emails that are enticing 

to open and engaging to read. 
 
In this quarter, several areas for improvement were also discovered: 

• Boosting email newsletter subscribers. 
• Using more fun, casual, and eye-catching content to connect with community members 

(example from this quarter: using a high quality, aesthetic image of two Fire Department 
rigs to promote that account). 

• Improving X (Twitter) reach and engagement. 
• Building connections with the significantly large Nextdoor audience, beyond typical posts 

related to Public Works concerns. 
 
Facebook  
  

Meridian Township: Total Facebook followers as of August 30, 2023 is 9015, which is an 
increase of 654 followers since the start of the year. Between June 1 and August 30, the 
Township published 166 pieces of content (posts, stories, ads), an increase of 28.7% from 
the previous quarter. Facebook page reach is 91,729, which is a decrease of 7.9%. The top 
performing posts in the quarter were regarding a lane closure on Okemos Road on June 7 
(based on reach), and the Haslett Beautification Association’s recent receipt of the 
Community Landscape Beautification Award on August 2 (based on engagement).  
  
HOMTV: Total Facebook followers as of August 30, 2023 is 2,459, which is an increase of 
53. Between June 1 and August 30, HOMTV published 29 pieces of content, a decrease of 
34.1% from the previous quarter. Page reach is 49,430, which is an increase of 826.5%.. 
The top performing posts in the quarter were regarding Celebrate Meridian Festival’s 
Celebrate Business week (based on reach), and a message welcoming HOMTV intern Stella 
Govitz into the internship (based on engagement).  
 
Meridian Township Parks & Recreation: Total Facebook followers YTD is 3,251, which 
is an increase of 292. Between June 1 and August 30, Parks & Recreation published 117 
pieces of content, which is an increase of 172.1%.  Total Facebook page reach for the 
quarter is 44,863, which is an increase of 258.7%. The top performing posts of the quarter 



 
 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

were a save-the-date for the Summer Concert Series (based on reach) and a photo of Land 
Stewardship Coordinator Emma Campbell holding a snapping turtle (based on 
engagement).  
 
Harris Nature Center: Total Facebook followers YTD is 4,236, which is an increase of 31. 
Between June 1 and August 30, HNC published 27 posts, a decrease of 25%. Total Facebook 
page reach for the quarter is 13,057, which is a decrease of 71.4%. The top performing 
posts for the quarter were a promotion for a beekeeping course (reach) and an image of 
monarch caterpillars eating a leaf (engagement).  
  
Meridian Township Farmers’ Market: Total Facebook followers YTD is 12,979, which is 
an increase of 1,328 new likes. Between June 1 and August 30, the Farmer’s Market 
published 64 posts, which is an increase of 52.4%. Reach during this period was 108,657, 
which is an increase of 0.5%. The top performing posts for this period regarding reach and 
engagement were both promotions for an upcoming farmers’ market.  
 
Meridian Township Fire Department: Total Facebook followers YTD is 3,047, which is 
an increase of 22 new page likes. Between June 1 and August 30, the Fire Department 
published 16 new posts. Total page reach was 20,625, which was an increase of 49%. The 
top performing post of the quarter was an image of a fire truck and ambulance after they 
were washed. 

 
  
X (formerly Twitter) 

  
Meridian Township: Total followers YTD is 3,368, which is an increase since 2022 YTD. 
Impressions between June 1 and August 30 totaled 13,900. The top tweet, which earned 
614 impressions, described lane closures on Grand River Avenue.  
 
HOMTV: Total followers YTD is 1708, which is a decrease since 2022 YTD. Twitter 
impressions from June 1 to August 30 totaled 2616. The top tweet, which earned 249 
impressions during the period, described an episode of HOM Entertainment interviewing a 
performer in the Jesus Christ Superstar musical.  

  
Instagram  

  
Meridian Township: Total Instagram followers is 2,269, which is an increase of 57 (90 
days). Between June 1 and August 29, the Township published 115 posts. Posts reached 
6,870 accounts, an increase of 54%. Content interactions equaled 1,442, a decrease of 
20.1% when compared to the previous quarter. Accounts engaged equaled 423, a decrease 
of 1.7%.   

  
HOMTV: Total Instagram followers YTD is 503, which is an increase of 6. Posts reached 
524 accounts, a decrease of 65.6%. Content interactions equaled 81, a decrease of 57.6% 



 
 

 
  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

when compared to the previous quarter. Accounts engaged equaled 44, a decrease of 
32.4%.   
 
Harris Nature Center: Total Instagram followers YTD is 986, an increase of 56 this 
quarter. Posts reached 656 accounts, a decrease of 8.8%. Content interactions equaled 379, 
a 5.5% increase when compared to the previous quarter. Accounts engaged equaled 145, a 
16% increase.  

  
Meridian Township Farmers’ Market: Total Instagram followers YTD is 1,401, which is 
an increase of 8.6%. Posts reached 1,550 accounts, which is an increase of 23.2%. Content 
interactions equaled 951, which is an increase of 105% when compared to the previous 
quarter. Accounts engagefd equaled 234, which is a 17% increase.  

  
LinkedIn  

  
Meridian Township: Total LinkedIn followers is up to 784. Post impressions YTD were 
12,706. The account had 479 unique visitors during this period.   
  
HOMTV: Total LinkedIn followers YTD 1,225. Post impressions YTD were 2,698. The 
account had 200 unique visitors.   

  
Nextdoor: Nextdoor continues to have the highest volume of followers and greatest engagement 
for the Township. Meridian Township has 13,039 subscribers, which is an increase of 654 since 
year end 2022.  
  
Constant Contact: In the second quarter, the Communications Team made a change to send out 
the Meridian Happenings newsletter monthly around the 3rd week of each month, while continuing 
to assist with the monthly Green Gazette digital newsletter, as well as the Playbook digital 
newsletter, both of which are released around the first week of each month.   
  
Currently, we have 9,688 contacts across the Township’s three newsletters, with an average open 
rate of 57%, increasing 10% compared to the previous quarter and remaining well above the 
industry average.   
  
  
  
 



 
 

Communications 
Commission 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Publications/ 
Promotions 



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

 
 

 

11.Di 
 
 
 

 
To: 

From: 

Date: 

Re: 

 
Communications Commission 

Samantha Diehl, Communications Manager 

June 9, 2023 

Family Fun Guide Publication

 

The 2023 Family Fun Guide by the Meridian Township Parks and Recreation Department was 
mailed out to residents at the beginning of May. This 24-page issue provides residents with every 
Parks and Recreation activity and event in 2023. 

The Communications Department was tasked with designing the final product, which will be 
attached to this memo. The publication has also been digitized and formatted to be ADA compliant. 
The Family Fun Guide can be found digitally at www.meridian.mi.us/Publications. 

 

 
 

 

http://www.meridian.mi.us/Publications


Comm 
 
 

Communications 
Commission 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Broadband Update 



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 
 

 
11.E 

 
 
 
 

To: 

From: 

Date: 

Re: 

 
Communications Commission 

Samantha Diehl, Communications Manager 

August 31, 2023 

Broadband Update 

 
Manager Diehl reached out to Supervisor Jackson to see if she had a broadband update to provide 
from the Ingham County Broadband Taskforce. 

Supervisor Jackson forwarded two drafts plans that came out of the Michigan Department of Labor 
and Economic Opportunity’s (LEO) High-Speed Internet Office (MIHI). One plan is the Broadband 
Equity, Access, and Deployment (BEAD) Program’s draft Five-Year Action Plan. The second is a draft 
of the Digital Equity Plan for the state of Michigan. 

Both plans were released in early August 2023 to the Ingham County Broadband Task Force, the 
Quello Center at Michigan State University, and the Merit Network. These organizations have been 
instructed to provide comments on the draft plans. 

At this time, no action is required by Meridian Township. Both plans have been attached to this memo. 

 

 

 

  

 

 
 
 
 



 

1 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Broadband Equity, Access, and Deployment 
Program (BEAD) 
Five-Year Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Michigan High-Speed Internet Office  
Michigan Department of Labor and Economic Opportunity  

July 2023 
 

 

 

 



 

2 

 

 

Contents 
Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Overview of the Five-Year Action Plan .................................................................................................................................. 11 

Vision .................................................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Goals and Objectives ......................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Current State of Broadband and Digital Inclusion ................................................................................................................ 13 

Existing Programs ................................................................................................................................................................ 13 

Current Activities of the Michigan High-Speed Internet Office ................................................................................... 13 

Current and Planned Full-Time and Part-Time Employees of the Michigan High-Speed Internet Office ................ 14 

Current and Planned Contractor Support ..................................................................................................................... 17 

Broadband Funding ....................................................................................................................................................... 17 

Partnerships ......................................................................................................................................................................... 21 

Partnership Framework ................................................................................................................................................... 22 

Asset Inventory .................................................................................................................................................................... 25 

Needs and Gaps Assessment ............................................................................................................................................ 28 

State and Regional Profiles ............................................................................................................................................ 28 

Workforce ........................................................................................................................................................................... 43 

Obstacles and Barriers ........................................................................................................................................................... 45 

Deployment Barriers ........................................................................................................................................................... 45 

Legislative or Regulatory Barriers .................................................................................................................................. 45 

Permitting ......................................................................................................................................................................... 46 

Workforce ....................................................................................................................................................................... 49 

Supply Chain and Materials .......................................................................................................................................... 50 

Local Capacity ................................................................................................................................................................ 51 

Topography/Geography .............................................................................................................................................. 52 

Procurement, Contracting, and Industry Participation ................................................................................................. 52 

Knowledge and Communications ................................................................................................................................. 53 

Deployment Barriers Impact Matrix .............................................................................................................................. 54 

Device Access ................................................................................................................................................................. 56 

Digital Literacy and Skills ............................................................................................................................................... 56 

Affordability .................................................................................................................................................................... 57 

Inclusivity ......................................................................................................................................................................... 58 

Relevance/Awareness ................................................................................................................................................... 59 

Digital Equity Impact Matrix .......................................................................................................................................... 60 



 

3 

 

Implementation Plan ................................................................................................................................................................ 61 

Stakeholder Engagement Process ..................................................................................................................................... 61 

Community Listening Tour............................................................................................................................................... 61 

Partnership Roundtables ................................................................................................................................................. 63 

Tribal Consultations ........................................................................................................................................................ 63 

Priorities ................................................................................................................................................................................ 63 

Priorities for Broadband Deployment and Digital Equity ............................................................................................. 64 

Key Strategies ..................................................................................................................................................................... 65 

Planned Activities ................................................................................................................................................................ 70 

Estimated Timeline for Universal Service ........................................................................................................................... 75 

Estimated Cost for Universal Service ................................................................................................................................. 77 

Alignment ............................................................................................................................................................................. 78 

Economic Development.................................................................................................................................................. 78 

Education ......................................................................................................................................................................... 79 

Environment ..................................................................................................................................................................... 79 

Health .............................................................................................................................................................................. 80 

Infrastructure .................................................................................................................................................................... 81 

Transportation ................................................................................................................................................................. 81 

Workforce ....................................................................................................................................................................... 82 

Technical Assistance ........................................................................................................................................................... 83 

Conclusion ............................................................................................................................................................................... 84 

Appendices .............................................................................................................................................................................. 85 

Appendix A – External Partner Organizations ................................................................................................................. 85 

 

 
  



 

4 

 

List of Figures 
Figure 1:MIHI Partnership Framework – External, Enabling, and Core Partners ................................................................ 7 
Figure 2: State of Michigan Digital Equity Profile ................................................................................................................... 7 
Figure 3: Deployment Impact Matrix ....................................................................................................................................... 9 
Figure 4: Digital Equity Impact Matrix ..................................................................................................................................... 9 
Figure 5: Michigan High-Speed Internet Office Current and Planned Roles ..................................................................... 14 
Figure 6: MIHI Key Partnership Framework .......................................................................................................................... 23 
Figure 7: Map of the 10 Prosperity Regions of Michigan .................................................................................................... 28 
Figure 8: BEAD Demand and Cross-Industry Gaps by Occupation Group ....................................................................... 49 
Figure 9: Implementation Plan Development Approach ...................................................................................................... 61 
Figure 10: Summary of MIHI's State-Wide Tours and Participation ................................................................................... 62 
Figure 11: Estimated Universal Timeline Stakeholder Engagement through Challenge Process ...................................... 75 
Figure 12: Estimated Universal Timeline Subgrantee Applications through Deployment .................................................. 76 
 

 

List of Tables 
Table 1: Current Activities of MIHI Office ............................................................................................................................. 13 
Table 2: Current and Full Time Roles for MIHI Office .......................................................................................................... 16 
Table 3: Current and Planned Contractor Support ............................................................................................................... 17 
Table 4: Existing Broadband Funding ................................................................................................................................... 20 
Table 5: MIHI Key Partners .................................................................................................................................................... 22 
Table 6: Current Asset Inventory of Hard and Soft Assets ................................................................................................... 27 
Table 7: Michigan Broadband Workforce Obstacles, Gaps, and Plans for Mitigation ................................................... 43 
Table 8: Existing Plans, Strategies, and Programs for Addressing Workforce in Michigan .............................................. 44 
Table 9: Digital Equity Matrix ................................................................................................................................................. 55 
Table 10: Priorities and Description for Broadband Deployment and Digital Equity ........................................................ 64 
Table 11: Planned Activities, Key Implementor, Expected Outcomes, and Activitiy ......................................................... 74 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://stateofmichigan-my.sharepoint.com/personal/fredericke1_michigan_gov/Documents/Documents/Projects/MIHI%20Office/BEAD/MIHI%20BEAD%20Five-Year%20Plan_DRAFT.docx#_Toc140734357
https://stateofmichigan-my.sharepoint.com/personal/fredericke1_michigan_gov/Documents/Documents/Projects/MIHI%20Office/BEAD/MIHI%20BEAD%20Five-Year%20Plan_DRAFT.docx#_Toc140734362
https://stateofmichigan-my.sharepoint.com/personal/fredericke1_michigan_gov/Documents/Documents/Projects/MIHI%20Office/BEAD/MIHI%20BEAD%20Five-Year%20Plan_DRAFT.docx#_Toc140734365
https://stateofmichigan-my.sharepoint.com/personal/fredericke1_michigan_gov/Documents/Documents/Projects/MIHI%20Office/BEAD/MIHI%20BEAD%20Five-Year%20Plan_DRAFT.docx#_Toc140734366
https://stateofmichigan-my.sharepoint.com/personal/fredericke1_michigan_gov/Documents/Documents/Projects/MIHI%20Office/BEAD/MIHI%20BEAD%20Five-Year%20Plan_DRAFT.docx#_Toc140734367


 

5 

 

Executive Summary 
Michigan recognizes that nearly every aspect of life is impacted by access to fast, reliable, and affordable high-speed 
internet service. From virtual learning, telehealth, remote working, job opportunities, communication, to government 
services, access to the internet is critical for every resident, business, institution, and community in Michigan.  

Acknowledging digital connectivity deficiencies exist not just in the state of Michigan but throughout the United States, 
the Broadband Equity Access and Deployment (BEAD) program was established as part of the 2021 Infrastructure 
Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA). The program appropriates $42.45 billion for high-speed internet deployment, 
mapping, and adoption projects, that is set to make a significant impact on improving internet access across the nation. 
Each state will receive a minimum allocation of $100 million with additional formula funding allocated based on the 
number of unserved areas within each state. The National Telecommunications and Information Administration (NTIA) 
is the federal agency administering this program and is a key resource and collaborator for its successful 
implementation. The goals of the BEAD Program are closely aligned with Michigan’s broadband goals outlined in the 
state’s 2021 Broadband roadmap and in this Five-Year Action Plan. These objectives include funding the necessary 
infrastructure for widespread access to affordable and equitable broadband, creation good paying jobs, and closing 
long-standing equity gaps in broadband adoption. The BEAD Program, coupled with the State Digital Equity Planning 
Grant Program (SDEPG) program, offers Michigan a once-in-a-generation opportunity to comprehensively address 
connectivity challenges and create a more digitally equitable state.  

 

What is our challenge? 

As of 2023, close to 500,000 households are unserved or underserved by high-speed internet infrastructure and 
another 730,000 households face barriers related to affordability, adoption, device access, digital literacy, or a 
combination thereof. Taken together, this means that approximately 30% of Michigan households do not have an 
affordable, reliable high-speed internet connection that meets their needs. 

 

How have we organized? 

The Michigan High-Speed Internet (MIHI) Office was created in June 2021 within the Department of Labor and 
Economic Opportunity (LEO) to drive Michigan’s broadband mission to close the digital divide.  MIHI is the 
administering entity for the BEAD Program in Michigan. The MIHI Office currently has a staff of eight with an additional 
seven, limited-term positions anticipated to be added in late 2023. The office has two dedicated teams, one that 
focuses on infrastructure related programs and the other on digital equity. MIHI is currently administrating Realizing 
Opportunity with Broadband Infrastructure Networks (ROBIN) Program funded through the Capital Projects Fund.   

Given the integrated nature of broadband infrastructure and digital equity, the MIHI office developed a robust and 
innovative community and stakeholder engagement process that was used to gather the needs and priorities of 
Michiganders. This stakeholder engagement provided valuable input to this plan and the Michigan Digital Equity Plan 
and will be used to inform MIHI strategies and plans to close the digital divide. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

6 

 

Our Vision and Goals  

The BEAD funding that the state of Michigan will receive will be used to support the ten-year broadband vision of the 
state where every Michigander has: 

 

 
 

An affordable and reliable high-
speed internet connection available 

that meets their household needs 

 

A high-speed internet enabled 
device(s) that meet the needs of 
everyone in the home or in their 

community centers 

 

 

 

Access to digital skills training 
regardless of who they are or where 

they live 

Access to technical support to 
maximize device and application 

use 

The ability to reside anywhere in the 
state and not worry about access to 

high quality and reliable internet 
service 

Freedom from digital discrimination 
and barriers to connectivity within an 
evolving and unbiased digital equity 

ecosystem. 

 

MIHI’s ultimate goals for broadband in the state is to ensure that high-speed internet access is available to every 
home, business, institution, and community (100% availability) and that 95% of Michigan households adopt a 
permanent home internet connection. MIHI’s goals for the BEAD Program and to achieve the 10-year broadband 
vision are included below. 

 

 
MIHI’s Goals for the BEAD program 

 
Expand high-speed broadband infrastructure to reach unserved and underserved areas 

 
Increase digital skills 

 
Promote affordable broadband services. 

 
Support equitable access to devices 

 
Empower consumers with applications and online content 

 
 
 
 
 



 

7 

 

Current State of Broadband and Digital Inclusion in Michigan 

The BEAD Program is part of a connected ecosystem of plans, programs and existing assets all working towards the 
goal of closing the country’s digital divide. Early on, MIHI identified that a robust partnership and decision-making 
framework is necessary to resolve obstacles and barriers, achieve the identified goals and objectives, and design and 
implement the BEAD Program. The framework provides MIHI with guidance, inputs, and decision-making support for 
the BEAD Program as well as a network of support and resources. The following graphic provides a visual 
demonstration of the partnership framework. 

 

Figure 1:MIHI Partnership Framework – External, Enabling, and Core Partners 

 

 

Execution of this plan requires leveraging existing hard and soft assets 
available to Michigan. The asset inventory includes soft assets such as E-
Rate Support, Wi-Fi Hot Spot Map, and 2-1-1 Assistance and hard 
assets such as the Michigan Public Safety Communications System. As 
stewards of federal funding, MIHI will provide resources to BEAD 
applicants and leverage partnerships and existing assets wherever 
possible to extend the reach of BEAD funding.  

Similarly, the identification of current gaps and needs of broadband 
deployment and digital equity is critical to inform the priorities and 
execution strategies of the BEAD program. Further, Michigan chose to 
examine its needs and gaps regionally to highlight the nuanced 
differences in digital needs between these areas of the state. The purpose 
here is to establish a baseline for understanding the unique digital equity 
and connectivity needs of the state and each region separately. Each 
profile contains a digital equity analysis that identifies the covered 
populations as defined by the Digital Equity Act, as well as the current 
state and needs assessment for broadband availability, adoption, 
devices, and data gathered during MIHI’s community engagement 
process.  

 Figure 2: State of Michigan Digital Equity Profile 



 

8 

 

Obstacles and Barriers 

Identifying the obstacles and barriers for the future deployment and non-deployment of broadband is crucial to the 5-
Year Action Plan so that appropriate strategies could be developed to address and mitigate potential obstacles. The 
MIHI Office has identified several obstacles and barriers that could hinder the successful implementation of the BEAD 
Program, specifically regarding the deployment of new high-speed internet networks. These include: 

 

Infrastructure Deployment Barriers 

Legislative or Regulatory Barriers Permitting Workforce Storages 

Supply Chain and Material 

Availability  

Local Capacity  Topography/ Geography  

Procurement, Contracting, and 

Industry Participation Knowledge and Communication 

 

 

Digital Equity Barriers 

Device Access and Cost Digital Literary and Skills Affordability  Inclusivity  Relevance/ Awareness  

 

The obstacles and barriers identified have been summarized into impact matrixes that assess 1) the estimated impact 
the barrier may have on the success of the BEAD Program; and 2) the likelihood that through the collective action of 
public, private, and other partners the barriers can be overcome. The estimated impact and the state’s ability to 
address each barrier were determined through engagement with MIHI’s Partnership Roundtable. The impact matrixes 
for deployment barriers and digital equity are included below. 



 

9 

 

 

Figure 3: Deployment Impact Matrix 

 

Figure 4: Digital Equity Impact Matrix 

 

How will the plan be implemented? 

The implementation plan is a direct reflection of stakeholder engagement during MI Connected Future Tour and the 
Partnership Roundtables efforts and MIHI’s commitment to our vision and goals for closing the digital divide. In 
addition to the BEAD program priority requirements of connecting the unserved, underserved, and CAIs, MIHI defined 
five key priorities to achieve the vision and goals for broadband deployment and digital inclusion. These priorities will 
guide the development of the program and the strategies employed by MIHI to help ensure successful implementation 
of the BEAD program in Michigan.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

10 

 

MIHI’s Key Priorities for the BEAD Program 

✓ Reduce barriers to broadband deployment 

✓ Maximize the use and reach of federal funds 

✓ Promote digital equity and inclusion  

✓ Advocate for resiliency and sustainability for broadband infrastructure development 

✓ Empower communities through engagement and involvement 

 

The key priorities identified where used to identify the required execution strategies that MIHI and their stakeholders 
will implement to overcome barriers and successfully implement the BEAD Program. For each of the execution 
strategies developed, planned activities have been identified as the actionable and discreet actions that can be taken 
by MIHI and their partners to effectively implement the strategies and help ensure the priorities of the program are 
realized.  

This Five-Year Action Plan serves to meet the requirements of the BEAD Program and to provide the roadmap for 
achieving universal availability in Michigan over the next ten years. Built on a foundation of authentic engagement with 
communities throughout Michigan, data, and the support of MIHI’s partners and stakeholders, the plan provides a 
comprehensive landscape of the current state and path forward to a digitally equitable future. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

11 

 

Overview of the Five-Year Action Plan 

Vision 
Michigan has long recognized the importance of broadband access for the economic development, educational 
opportunities, and health of its citizens. Our vision for broadband deployment and digital equity in Michigan is to 
create a connected and inclusive state where every resident has access to affordable high-speed internet, and to the 
necessary tools that enables that access, regardless of their location, income, or demographic. To achieve this vision, 
we will work towards closing the digital divide by expanding broadband infrastructure, promoting digital literacy, and 
providing access to affordable devices and services. 

Michigan will strive towards this vision by implementing this plan with collaboration, efficiency, creativity, and 
transparency. We will work with internet service providers, local governments, and community organizations to 
develop subprograms geared towards investing in new infrastructure and upgrading existing networks to ensure that 
high-speed internet is available to all. Concurrently, we will focus on promoting digital literacy and providing 
affordable devices and services to help close the digital divide and ensure that every Michigander can take 
advantage of the opportunities that come with connectivity. Together, we can build a more equitable and connected 
Michigan where everyone has the digital tools they need to succeed and improve their quality of life. 

As envisioned, by 2030, every Michigander will have: 

• An affordable and reliable high-speed internet connection available that meets their household needs;  
• A high-speed internet enabled device(s) that meet the needs of everyone in the home;  
• Access to digital skills training regardless of who they are or where they live; 
• Access to technical support to maximize device and application use;  
• The ability to reside anywhere in the state and not worry about access to high quality and reliable internet 

service; and 
• Freedom from digital discrimination and barriers to connectivity within an evolving and unbiased digital equity 

ecosystem. 

Goals and Objectives 
Michigan’s statewide goals for broadband are to ensure that high-speed internet access is available to every home, 
business, institution, and community and that at least 95% of Michigan households adopt a permanent home internet 
connection. MIHI has further establishes the following objectives to realize its vision and these goals: 

 

 

Expand high-speed broadband infrastructure to reach unserved and underserved area 
Identify and address areas of the state where high-speed internet access is limited or non-existent and 
invest in new infrastructure to close the gaps. 
 

 

Increase digital skills 
Develop and implement programs to promote digital literacy and digital skills and provide training 
and education for individuals and organizations, particularly those that are underrepresented and 
marginalized, to effectively use and benefit from technology. Digital skills training should be designed 
to evolve as required skills for new technologies and devices advance over time. 
 

 

Promote affordable broadband services 
Help ensure internet service providers offer affordable plans for low-income households and create 
programs to make broadband services and affordability programs more accessible to all. 



 

12 

 

 

Support equitable access to devices 
Provide support for residents to obtain and use affordable devices such as computers and tablets and 
promote the use of libraries and other community centers as digital access and device lending points. 
Device programs should also evolve as device technology advances over time, and consumers should 
have ready access to quality technical support to sustain and prolong their use.  
 

 

Empower consumers with applications and online content 
Support the development of robust applications and online content designed to enable and 
encourage self-sufficiency, participation, and collaboration that are accessible by all Michiganders. 
Moving towards digital equity allows the development of new, robust accessible online content that 
allows users to improve their quality of life. 

 

  



 

13 

 

Current State of Broadband and Digital Inclusion 

Existing Programs 
The following provides a summary of the activities, positions, contractor support, and funding for the Michigan High-
Speed Internet Office. 

Current Activities of the Michigan High-Speed Internet Office 
Activity Name Description Intended Outcome(s) 
Realizing Opportunity with 
Broadband Infrastructure 
Networks (ROBIN) 
Program1 

ROBIN is a last-mile and middle-mile broadband 
infrastructure grant program. The program is funded by 
$250M from the Capital Projects Fund with $238M in project 
funds for grants. The program is designed to connect locations 
currently without 100/20 Mbps service. MIHI anticipates 
making final grant awards in August 2023. 

Connect 80,000 – 90,000 
locations with high-speed 
internet service. 

MI Connected Future 
Partnership Roundtable2 

The Partnership Roundtable is designed as an inclusive 
opportunity for stakeholders to be involved in the decision-
making process for the current and forthcoming federally 
funded programs administered by MIHI. Partners meet 
virtually each month to respond to question posed by MIHI 
staff that drive office decision making and program design. 
More than 200 unique organizations have participated in the 
Partnership Roundtable. More on this activity can be found in 
the stakeholder engagement section of this plan. 

Provide decision-making 
guidance to MIHI. 
Provide input and feedback on 
program design. 
Maintain active engagement 
with a diverse stakeholder 
group. 

MI Connected Future 
Community Listening Tour3 

The Community Listening Tour is designed as an in-person 
opportunity for MIHI to hear the connectivity and digital equity 
needs, aspirations, goals, and ideas of Michigan’s many 
communities. MIHI held 31 community meetings to gather 
data in preparation for this plan, and ten additional meetings 
to present the results. More on this activity can be found in the 
stakeholder engagement section of this plan.  

Engagement with local and 
community stakeholders. 
Data gathering to inform plan 
and program development. 

Connecting Michigan 
Taskforce (CMIT) 

CMIT was conceived in the fall of 2020 in response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic. CMIT is an internal State of Michigan 
taskforce formed to help coordinate broadband, digital 
equity, and other related efforts across agencies.  

Ongoing coordination among 
state agencies. 
Improved communication 
regarding digital equity 
activities, programs, and 
initiatives. 

Connecting Michigan 
Communities (CMIC) 
Program4 

CMIC was created in late 2018 as Michigan’s first 
broadband infrastructure grant program and seeded with 
$20M in initial funds. An additional $14.3M was added to 
the program in mid-2020. The program has issued three 
rounds of grants with the last occurring in 2022. The program 
is currently housed at the MI Dept. of Technology, 
Management, and Budget, but recent discussion may shift 
administration of the program to MIHI. No additional grant 
awards are anticipated from the program. 

Connect more than 17,000 
locations to high-speed internet. 

Table 1: Current Activities of MIHI Office 

 
1 https://www.michigan.gov/leo/bureaus-agencies/mihi/funding-opportunities  
2 https://www.michigan.gov/leo/bureaus-agencies/mihi/miconnectedfuture/partnership-roundtable  
3 https://www.michigan.gov/leo/bureaus-agencies/mihi/miconnectedfuture/mi-connected-future-tour-schedule  
4 https://www.michigan.gov/dtmb/policies/governance/cmic-grant  

https://www.michigan.gov/leo/bureaus-agencies/mihi/funding-opportunities
https://www.michigan.gov/leo/bureaus-agencies/mihi/miconnectedfuture/partnership-roundtable
https://www.michigan.gov/leo/bureaus-agencies/mihi/miconnectedfuture/mi-connected-future-tour-schedule
https://www.michigan.gov/dtmb/policies/governance/cmic-grant


 

14 

 

Current and Planned Full-Time and Part-Time Employees of the Michigan High-Speed Internet Office 
The Michigan High-Speed Internet Office was created in June 2021 by Executive Directive 2021-25 within the 
Department of Labor and Economic Opportunity (LEO). While created in June 2021, LEO did not receive funding or 
the authorization to hire staff for the office until the passage of the Building Michigan Together6 plan in April 2022. 
MIHI’s Chief Connectivity Officer was onboarded at the end of July 2022 and the office was staffed with eight full-
time employees in January 2023. An additional Executive Directive 20217-12 has ensured that Michigan is poised to 
make effective use of the once-in-a-generation resources that are being made available through the federal 
Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA). The MIHI Office represents the first time Michigan has had a dedicated 
office within state government to address the Digital Divide. 

The Michigan High-Speed Internet Office currently has a staff of eight with an additional seven limited-term positions 
anticipated to be added in late 2023. Once fully staffed, the office will have a two-section organizational structure; 
one will be focused on infrastructure related programs and the other on digital equity. The organizational chart below 
provides a visual representation of the office structure. Positions in orange are existing and those in gray are planned. 

 

Figure 5: Michigan High-Speed Internet Office Current and Planned Roles  

 

 
5 https://www.michigan.gov/whitmer/news/state-orders-and-directives/2021/06/02/executive-directive-2021-2  
6 http://www.legislature.mi.gov/documents/2021-2022/publicact/pdf/2022-PA-0053.pdf  
7 https://www.michigan.gov/whitmer/news/state-orders-and-directives/2021/12/06/executive-directive-2021-12-2  

Current Role         

Planned Role 

https://www.michigan.gov/whitmer/news/state-orders-and-directives/2021/06/02/executive-directive-2021-2
https://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/MIEOG/2021/11/29/file_attachments/2007229/ED%202021-12,%20Infrastructure%203%20-%20High-speed%20internet%20%28final%20signed%29.pdf
https://www.michigan.gov/whitmer/news/state-orders-and-directives/2021/06/02/executive-directive-2021-2
http://www.legislature.mi.gov/documents/2021-2022/publicact/pdf/2022-PA-0053.pdf
https://www.michigan.gov/whitmer/news/state-orders-and-directives/2021/12/06/executive-directive-2021-12-2


 

15 

 

The following table describes the role of each position in the office.  

Current/ 
Planned 

Full-Time/ 
Part-time 

Position Description of Role 

Current Full-Time Chief Connectivity 
Officer (CCO) 

The CCO leads the MIHI Office and serves as the primary point of 
contact (POC) for all broadband and digital equity matters in the state.  

Current Full-Time Executive Assistant The Executive Assistant is responsible for providing a full range of 
administrative and executive support functions relating to the day-to-day 
activities of the Michigan Chief Connectivity Officer and the Michigan 
High-speed Internet Office. 

Current Full-Time Infrastructure and 
Data Director 

The Infrastructure and Data Director leads the Infrastructure and Data 
team within the MIHI Office. The responsibilities include research, policy 
development, program planning, implementation, and assessment 
related to office high-speed internet infrastructure related programs. The 
Infrastructure and Data Director also plans, coordinates, manages, and 
executes the office data, infrastructure, and geospatial strategies. 

Current Full-Time Infrastructure Program 
Manager 

The Infrastructure Program Manager serves as the recognized resource 
responsible for the administration of the office’s infrastructure grant 
program(s). Performs complex consultative services and technical 
assistance work related to the financial program management within the 
office. Work involves providing financial and administrative advice and 
support services to designated program(s), awardees, proponents, 
recipients, and contractors in areas such as project development, 
implementation and monitoring as applied to the wide-variety of projects 
and throughout the lifecycle of programs. 

Current Full-Time Infrastructure Federal 
Compliance/ 
Reporting Manager 

The Infrastructure Federal Compliance/ Reporting Manager serves as a 
recognized resource for the planning, development, and implementation 
requirements of federal law regarding broadband infrastructure related 
funding opportunities and assists with in-state applications to 
discretionary funding opportunities. 

Planned Full-Time Infrastructure 
Capacity and 
Compliance 
Manager 

The Infrastructure Capacity and Compliance Manager serves as a 
recognized resource for the planning, development, and implementation 
requirements of federal law regarding broadband infrastructure related 
funding opportunities. The position also provides assistance to grantees 
and other stakeholders to build capacity within external organizations to 
seek out, apply for, manage, and comply with federal and other grant 
opportunities related to high-speed internet deployment.   

Planned Full-Time Infrastructure 
Validation and 
Reporting Manager 

The Infrastructure Validation and Reporting Manager serves as a 
recognized resource for the planning, development, and implementation 
requirements of federal law regarding broadband infrastructure related 
funding opportunities and assists with in-state applications to 
discretionary funding opportunities. Serves as a liaison for program 
compliance reporting and issues and serves as a field validation 
specialist to ensure infrastructure deployment progress and completion. 

Planned Full-Time GIS and Data Analyst The GIS and Data Analyst is tasked with high-speed internet and digital 
equity-related mapping coordination, data collection, data analysis and 
geospatial data collection. The GIS and Data Analyst’s work in this 
regard relates to federal funds allocated to the state for broadband and 
digital equity work. This position will be responsible for collecting, 
analyzing, and interpreting large data sets related to broadband access, 
affordability, and adoption in the state. 



 

16 

 

Current/ 
Planned 

Full-Time/ 
Part-time 

Position Description of Role 

Planned Full-Time Infrastructure 
Engagement and 
Outreach Specialist 

The Infrastructure Engagement and Outreach Specialist serves as a 
recognized resource responsible for engaging with a variety of external 
stakeholders to provide education, capacity building, support, and 
coordinate technical assistance on the topics of high-speed internet 
infrastructure, broadband deployment, network development, and other 
issues related to the availability of high-speed internet. 

Current Full-Time Digital Equity Director The Digital Equity Director leads the Digital Equity team within the MIHI 
Office. Responsibilities include research, policy development, program 
planning, implementation, and assessment related to digital equity and 
inclusion programs. The Digital Equity Director is the primary office liaison 
with the public, businesses, ISPs, state agencies, legislature, and other 
critical stakeholders. 

Current Full-Time Digital Inclusion 
Program Manager 

The Digital Inclusion Program Manager serves as a recognized resource 
responsible for the operations of broadband related programs and 
services focused on digital literacy, affordability and digital equity and 
inclusion. Work involves developing, operationalizing, and managing 
digital equity and literacy services and programs; providing financial and 
administrative advice and support services to designated program(s), 
awardees, proponents, recipients, and contractors in areas such as 
project development; implementation and monitoring as applied to a 
wide-variety of projects and throughout the lifecycle of programs. 

Current Full-Time Digital Capacity and 
Compliance 
Manager 

The Digital Capacity and Compliance Manager serves as a recognized 
resource for the planning, development, and implementation for the  
NTIA requirements of federal law regarding broadband related funding 
opportunities and assist with in-state applications to discretionary funding 
opportunities. 

Planned Full-Time Affordability Program 
Manager 

The Affordability Program Manager serves as a recognized resource 
responsible for the operations of broadband related programs and 
services focused on broadband affordability and digital equity and 
inclusion. Work involves developing, operationalizing, and managing 
digital equity and affordability programs. 

Planned Full-Time Digital Equity 
Compliance/ 
Reporting Manager 

The Digital Equity Compliance/Reporting Manager serves as a 
recognized resource for the planning, development, and implementation 
requirements of federal law regarding digital equity related funding 
opportunities and assist with in-state applications to discretionary funding 
opportunities. 

Planned Full-Time Digital Equity 
Engagement and 
Outreach Specialist 

The Digital Equity Engagement and Outreach Specialist serves as a 
recognized resource responsible for engaging with a wide variety of 
external stakeholders to provide education, capacity building, support, 
and coordinate technical assistance on the topics of digital equity, digital 
inclusion, digital literacy, devices, and other issues related to the 
adoption and use of high-speed internet. 

Table 2: Current and Full Time Roles for MIHI Office 

 

 

 



 

17 

 

Current and Planned Contractor Support 
The following provides a summary of the current and planned contractor support for the office. 

Current/ Planned Full-Time/ 
Part-time 

Position Description of Role 

Current 1.5 FTE Geospatial Support AppGeo provides MIHI with geospatial support for the 
ROBIN program, FCC challenge process, BEAD, SDEPG, 
and other similar applications. 

Current 1.5 FTE Compliance, plan, 
and program 
development 

KPMG provides a variety of services to the MIHI Office 
including compliance, planning, and subgrant process 
development. 

Current  0.25 FTE Community 
Engagement Support  

Connected Nation provides support with the planning and 
facilitations of community and stakeholder engagement 
meetings. Additionally, Connected Nation supports the 
engineering application review and field validation of 
objections for the ROBIN grant program. 

Table 3: Current and Planned Contractor Support 

Broadband Funding 
This section identifies funding from various sources that are currently available for broadband deployment or that have 
already been committed for broadband deployment and other related activities in the state. As shown, most of the 
funding for deployment or related activities in Michigan is already obligated. 

Source Purpose Total Obligated Available 
Broadband 
Equity, Access, 
and Deployment 
Program (BEAD) 

Funded through IIJA this program is the largest source of 
broadband funding. Priority in this program is given to building 
networks that connect unserved and underserved locations and 
community anchor institutions. This program will be 
implemented as a subgrant program to a variety of entities 
include private ISPs, nonprofits, communities, cooperatives, 
and others. 

$1.559B $0 $1.559B 

US Dept. of 
Treasury, 
Coronavirus 
Capital Projects 
Fund 

Realizing Opportunity with Broadband Infrastructure Networks 
(ROBIN) Program is a last mile and middle mile broadband 
infrastructure grant program. Applications were accepted from 
01/13/2023 through 03/14/2023. Final grant 
announcements are expected near Labor Day 2023. MIHI 
anticipates being able to connect 80k-90k locations with the 
ROBIN program. 

$238M  $0 $238M 

State Digital 
Equity Planning 
and Capacity 
Grant Programs 
(SDEPG & 
SDECG) 

The State Digital Equity Planning Grant Program provides  
funding to develop the state digital equity plans. The State 
Capacity Program will fund digital equity projects and the 
implementation of digital equity plans. 

$32M $0 $32M 



 

18 

 

Source Purpose Total Obligated Available 
USDA 
ReConnect 

The USDA ReConnect program is a federal initiative that 
provides loans and grants to expand access to broadband 
services in rural communities. The program aims to improve 
economic and educational opportunities, as well as healthcare 
and public safety, by supporting the development of high-
speed internet infrastructure in underserved areas. Eligible 
entities can apply for funding to construct, improve, or acquire 
broadband facilities and provide broadband service to rural 
households, businesses, and farms. Ten entities have received 
ReConnect funds since 2020 in Michigan. 

$77M 
 
 

$77M $0 

FCC Emergency 
Connectivity 
Fund (ECP) 

The FCC’s ECP is a $7.17 billion program that aims to help 
schools and libraries provide internet connectivity and devices 
to students and staff who lack access to them. The program 
provides funding to educational institutions to purchase and 
distribute laptops, tablets, Wi-Fi hotspots, modems, routers, 
and other necessary equipment. The ECP was launched in 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Since its launch, 373 
schools and libraries in Michigan have received ECP funds. 
Data provides is aggregated across the state.  

$158M $158M $0 

FCC Rural 
Digital 
Opportunity 
Fund (RDOF) 

The FCC’s Rural Digital Opportunity Fund (RDOF) is a program 
designed to expand high-speed internet access in unserved 
rural areas of the United States. The program offered up to 
$20.4 billion in funding over 10 years to internet service 
providers (ISPs) to deploy broadband infrastructure in eligible 
areas. ISPs in Michigan won $363M in RDOF awards in 
2020 and are currently building to meet their obligations. 

$363M $363M $0 

FCC Alternative 
Connect 
America Cost 
Model 

The FCC’s Alternative Connect America Cost Model (A-CAM) 
is a program designed to provide funding to 
telecommunications providers that serve high-cost, rural areas 
of the United States. The program offers predictable, ongoing 
support for the deployment and maintenance of broadband 
infrastructure in these areas. Providers that accept the A-CAM 
offer commit to deploying broadband with specified speeds 
and latency, and to meet certain build-out requirements over a 
ten-year period. The funds indicated are annual estimates of 
the on-going subsidy in Michigan. 

$53M $53M $0 

FCC Supply 
Chain 
Reimbursement 
Program 

The FCC’s Supply Chain Reimbursement Program is an 
initiative aimed at helping small and rural communications 
providers remove and replace equipment that poses a national 
security risk. The program provides funding to cover the costs 
of removing and replacing equipment from certain designated 
companies that pose a risk to national security. One entity has 
received funds from this program. 

$21M $21M $0 



 

19 

 

Source Purpose Total Obligated Available 
FCC E-Rate 
Program 

The E-Rate program is an initiative that provides funding to 
help schools and libraries obtain affordable access to 
broadband internet and other telecommunications services. 
The program is administered by the Universal Service 
Administrative Company and is funded by fees charged to 
telecommunications providers. E-Rate funding can be used to 
pay for services such as broadband internet access, Wi-Fi 
networks, and internal connections like routers and switches. 
Data is from 2020-2023 and is aggregated among all E-Rate 
participating entities. 

$124M $124M $0 

FCC Rural 
Healthcare 
Program 

The FCC Rural Health Care Program is an initiative aimed at 
helping healthcare providers in rural areas obtain affordable 
access to telecommunications and broadband services. The 
program is administered by the Universal Service 
Administrative Company and is funded through the Universal 
Service Fund. The program provides funding for eligible 
healthcare providers to help cover the costs of broadband 
connectivity, network equipment, and other related expenses. 
Data is from 2020-2023. 

$85k $85k $0 

ARPA State and 
Local Fiscal 
Recovery Funds 

The State and Local Fiscal Recovery Fund is a program created 
by ARPA that provides funding to states, territories, and eligible 
local governments to help them recover from the economic 
impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. The program aims to 
support public health efforts, replace lost revenue, and address 
negative economic impacts such as job loss and decreased 
economic activity. Several Michigan communities have used 
these funds for broadband expansion.  

$26M $26M $0 

NTIA 
Connecting 
Minority 
Communities 
Pilot Program 

The NTIA's Connecting Minority Communities Pilot Program is 
an initiative aimed at addressing the digital divide in 
communities that are traditionally underserved or 
underrepresented in broadband adoption. The program 
provides $268 million in funding to support broadband 
infrastructure deployment, digital inclusion activities, and 
workforce development in minority communities, including 
those with high poverty rates. One entity in Michigan received 
an award in this program in 2023. 

$3M $3M $0 

NTIA 
Broadband 
Infrastructure 
Program 

The NTIA’s broadband infrastructure program provides grants 
to support broadband deployment and adoption in unserved 
and underserved areas. The grants can be used for a range of 
activities, such as building and upgrading broadband 
infrastructure, establishing public computer centers, and 
providing digital skills training. One entity received funding 
through this program in 2022.  

$22M $22M $0 



 

20 

 

Source Purpose Total Obligated Available 
NTIA Tribal 
Broadband 
Connectivity 
Program 

The NTIA’s Tribal Broadband Connectivity Program is an 
initiative that provides grants to support broadband 
deployment and adoption in tribal communities across the 
United States. The program offers $1 billion in funding to tribal 
governments and tribal organizations to expand access to 
high-speed internet and improve digital inclusion. The grants 
can be used for a range of activities, such as building and 
upgrading broadband infrastructure, establishing public 
computer centers, and providing digital skills training. One 
entity has received an award through this program.  

$1.2M $1.2M $0 

NTIA Enabling 
Middle Mile 
Broadband 
Infrastructure 
Program 

NTIA’s Middle Mile Broadband Infrastructure Program 
provides $1B from the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law to reduce 
the cost of bringing high-speed internet service to unserved 
and underserved communities by connecting local networks to 
major networks. Peninsula Fiber Network was awarded 
$61.2M in funding to construct middle mile networks 
connecting the Upper and Lower Peninsulas with fiber via 
Beaver Island to create new redundant routes from Benton 
Harbor to Chicago. New overland routes are also planned to 
provide greater capacity to unserved areas of the state. 

$61.2M $61.2M $0 

Connecting 
Michigan 
Communities 
(CMIC) 
Program 

CMIC was created in late 2018 as Michigan’s first broadband 
infrastructure grant program and seeded with $20M in initial 
funds. An additional $14.3M was added to the program in 
mid-2020. The program has issued three rounds of grants with 
the last occurring in 2022.  

$34.4M $34.4M $0 

Table 4: Existing Broadband Funding  



 

21 

 

Partnerships 
The following provides descriptions of the current and planned partnerships of the Michigan High-Speed Internet 
Office. Additionally, this section outlines the partnership structure to be used by MIHI to develop and implement the 
BEAD Program. 

Key Partners 

Partners Description of Current or Planned Role in Broadband Deployment and 
Adoption 

Michigan Infrastructure Office (MIO) Coordinator of all IIJA infrastructure resources in Michigan. Provides cross-sectoral 
support to MIHI, coordinate responses to global issues such as supply chain, 
workforce, permitting, etc.  

Lieutenant Governor’s Office/EOG 
(Executive Office of the Governor) 

Administration stakeholder and subject matter expert (SME) on digital inclusion. 
Propels BEAD needs and requirements within administration and with legislature. 

Michigan Public Service Commission 
(MPSC) 

Telecommunications division that intersects with ISPs on the telecom and cable side. 
Does not regulate broadband. Provides context on telecom/cable issues, intersection 
with ISPs, works closely with FCC. 

Michigan Department of Agriculture 
and Rural Development (MDARD) 

Office of rural development has a specific charge to address rural broadband. The 
majority of BEAD funds will be deployed in rural communities. Coordination and 
advocacy in rural communities to ensure networks are deployed AND adopted is key. 

State Legislature Appropriates BEAD and Digital Equity (DE) Capacity funds to MIHI. 

Michigan Economic Development 
Corporation (MEDC) 

Experience addressing broadband from a community and economic development 
perspective for years. Provides key insights into community needs, cybersecurity, and 
how to leverage new networks for economic growth. The Michigan State Historic 
Preservation Office for permitting is located within this department. 

Michigan Department of Health and 
Human Services (MDHHS) 

Engages directly with vulnerable and covered populations. Supports messaging and 
future DE program implementation. 

Michigan Department of Education 
(MDE) 

Plays a key role in digital skills in the P-20 environment. Direct contact with vulnerable 
populations via local schools. Responsible for the Library of Michigan and has 
previous experience with the federal program E-rate, which provides for reduced rates 
on Internet access and internal connections for schools and libraries. 

Michigan Department of Technology, 
Management and Budget (DTMB) 

Provide context on state assets, networks, and CAIs. 

MI State Housing Development 
Authority (MSHDA) 

Engages with public housing entities and thus covered populations. 

Michigan Department of 
Transportation (MDOT) 

Provides coordination on permitting and right-of-way (ROW) access.  

Michigan Dept. of Environment, 
Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) 

Provides coordination for environmental permitting 

Michigan Department of Corrections 
(MDOC) 

Provides coordination with covered populations for needs identification and workforce 
development 

Michigan Department of Civil Rights 
(MDCR) 

Provides context and outreach on issues of digital equity and inclusion 

Michigan Department of Military and 
Veterans Affairs (MMVA) 

Provides coordination with covered populations for needs identification and workforce 
development 

ISPs Enables deployment of new infrastructure networks and services 



 

22 

 

Partners Description of Current or Planned Role in Broadband Deployment and 
Adoption 

Covered population organizations Represents defined covered populations to provide MIHI with information and context 
for addressing the needs of those they represent. Includes AARP, ethnic commissions, 
etc. 

CAI supporting organizations Represents the needs of the state’s many and varied community anchor institutions. 

Grassroots/Community 
Organizations 

Engage with residents, businesses, institutions, and Non-Governmental Organization 
(NGOs) at the local community level throughout the state. This group will provide 
guidance on local engagement for digital equity planning and support efforts with 
community organizations for implementation. Includes community action agencies, 
LISC, MSU Extension, United Ways, Public Housing Commissions. 

Deployment supporting organizations Advise infrastructure planning, development, and implementation by providing insight 
to barriers and opportunities for coordination in relation to rights-of-way, permitting, 
pole attachments, and other topics related to the physical deployment of broadband 
networks. Streamlining and coordinating permit processes will be critical to deploying 
networks at a scale called for in BEAD. Includes road commissions, drain commissions, 
SHPO, MISSDIG, Rail Association, etc.  

Economic Opportunity Supporting 
Organizations 

Provide guidance on planned engagement with business and economic development 
communities to support leveraging new networks to create economic opportunity for 
Michigan residents and businesses. The BEAD Program requires states to identify each 
unserved and underserved business in the state and ensure their connectivity needs are 
met. The business community can also play a key role in digital equity and inclusion. 

Tribes Tribal communities have unique connectivity challenges that can be addressed by the 
BEAD and the State Digital Equity Planning Grant Program (SDEPG) 

Local Government Provide valuable insights into the connectivity needs of Michigan’s many and varied 
communities. MIHI’s federally administered programs require robust engagement with 
local and regional governments, and Michigan’s regions, counties, townships, and 
cities.  

Sustainability Organizations Organizations from philanthropy, academia, and other similar groups. Implementing 
the MI Connected Future Plan will likely necessitate long-term sustainability to achieve 
systemic change. MIHI’s federally funded programs will provide states with funding for 
infrastructure deployment and digital inclusion, but additional sources of funding and 
smart policy decisions will be needed to create a more digital equitable state. 

Workforce Development 
Organizations 

Organizations that impact the talent and workforce ecosystem in the state. A talented 
workforce will be critical to the timely deployment of broadband infrastructure in the 
short-term but ensuring that Michigan has a well-trained workforce that can use 
information and communications technology will be needed to grow Michigan’s 
economy into the future.  Unions, educational entities, trade associations, etc.  

Table 5: MIHI Key Partners 

 

Partnership Framework 
MIHI identified, early on, that a robust partnership and decision-making framework was necessary to resolve 
obstacles and barriers , to achieving the identified goals and objectives, and to designing and implementing the BEAD 
Program. MIHI has identified three layers of partners and have organized them into a framework that provides MIHI 
with guidance, input, and decision-making support for the BEAD Program. Each layer of the framework is nested and 
build on each other to ensure a continuity of knowledge and engagement as MIHI’s dependence on each nested layer 
increases. The following graphic provides a visual demonstration of the partnership framework. 



 

23 

 

 

Figure 6: MIHI Key Partnership Framework 

Core Partners 
Core partners include state agencies and offices that assist in the development of the BEAD plan and program. Core 
Partners have a key stake in the BEAD program and contribute resources such as funding, assets, or decision-making 
support in addition to feedback, information, or guidance. Core Partners include: 

Office of Lieutenant Governor Garlin Gilchrist II; 
Michigan Legislature;  
Michigan Department of Agriculture and Rural Development; 
Michigan Department of Civil Rights; and  
Michigan Department of Corrections;  
Michigan Department of Education, including the State Library of Michigan.  
Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy;  
Michigan Department of Health and Human Services; and 
Michigan Department of Labor and Economic Opportunity 
Michigan Department of Military and Veterans Affairs. 
Michigan Department of Natural Resources 
Michigan Department of Technology, Management, and Budget;  
Michigan Department of Transportation;  
Michigan Economic Development Corporation; 
Michigan Infrastructure Council; 
Michigan Infrastructure Office; 
Michigan Public Service Commission; 
Michigan State Housing Development Authority;  
State Historic Preservation Office 

 



 

24 

 

Core Partners participate in the partnership roundtable, community listening tour, provide feedback/input on program 
plans and design, identify barriers, and develop and implement solutions. Core Partners represent program ownership 
and responsibility for the program in partnership with MIHI. 

Enabling Partners 
Enabling partners include organizations outside of state government that significantly impact the development and 
implementation of the BEAD Program. Enabling partners are or will be key to the deployment of high-speed 
infrastructure and ensuring Michigan can achieve program goals within the time specified by the NTIA. 

Enabling partners include organizations and associations that represent the following; permitting, right-of-way 
owners/managers, and similar entities; labor unions and other workforce entities; local, county, and regional 
government; state agencies; utility providers; and other similar organizations. These partners are key to identifying 
barriers to infrastructure deployment and developing and implementing solutions to overcome these barriers. Enabling 
partners may be asked to develop or modify policy that contributes to successful program implementation.  

Enabling partners include, but are not limited to: 

American Electric Power 
AT&T 
Charter Communications 
Comcast 
Communications Workers of America 
Consumers Energy 
DTE Energy 
Frontier Communications 
Highline Broadband 
HomeWorks Tri-County 
International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers 
Indiana Michigan Power Company 
Lansing Board of Water and Light 
Merit Network 
Michigan Association of Counties 
Michigan Association of County Drain 
Commissioners 
Michigan Building and Construction Trades 
Council 
Michigan Cable Telecommunications Association 

Michigan County Road Association 
Michigan Electric Cooperative Association 
Michigan Infrastructure and Transportation 
Association 
Michigan Municipal Electric Association 
Michigan Municipal League 
Michigan Public Service Commission 
Michigan Railroads Association 
Michigan Townships Association 
Michigan Utility Notification Center 
Midwest Energy and Communications 
NATE: The Communications Infrastructure 
Contractors Association 
Nokia 
Peninsula Fiber Network 
PROTEC Michigan 
Telecommunications Association of Michigan 
Tribal Nations 
T-Mobile 
Verizon 

External Partners 
External partners represent a variety of organizations from both inside and outside state government including state 
agencies, non-profits, industry associations, and private sector entities. External Partners have a stake in the 
implementation of BEAD as well as its connectivity and digital equity goals and results of the program. External 
partners are those that participate in the Community Listening Tour and the Partnership Roundtable aspects of MIHI’s 
MI Connected Future planning process, (see the stakeholder engagement section of this plan for more information) 
and provide key input that supports in the development of the strategy and implementation of the program.  

External partners include organizations, and their related associations, that represent the following; community anchor 
institutions; Digital Equity Act-defined covered populations; state agencies; community organizations; internet service 
providers; local, county, and regional governments; business and economic development; philanthropy; utilities; Tribal 
nations; and permitting and similar entities. External partners exist and participate from all scales; national, state, 
regional, and local, but most are represented at the state level. These external partners provide input and feedback on 



 

25 

 

program plans, design, and implementation throughout the BEAD performance period. See Appendix A for a full list of 
external partners. 

Asset Inventory 
This asset inventory is intended to capture both existing hard assets (e.g., towers, buildings, utility poles) and soft 
assets—or efforts (e.g., programs, activities, strategies, skills, technical assistance) that can be leveraged to close the 
digital divide in Michigan.  

Additionally, MIHI developed a Digital Inclusion Resource Map  in September 2022. The map was developed based 
on responses received to the Michigan Statewide Digital Inclusion survey developed by MIHI and distributed to key 
stakeholders and the public throughout the state. MIHI used several channels to engage stakeholders and encourage 
participation in the survey, including socializing it at community meetings as part of the MI Connected Future tour, 
Partnership Roundtables, and in the MIHI newsletter. By targeting stakeholders, such as non-profit organizations, for-
profit organizations, government agencies, colleges, universities, trade schools, public libraries, and K-12 schools, the 
survey seeks to determine the current state of digital equity and inclusion programs and identify key organizations 
involved in these efforts. Based on these insights, the Digital Inclusion Resource Map is continuously updated, 
providing an ongoing and up-to-date inventory of digital inclusion assets in Michigan. 

The following table identifies key hard and soft assets that contribute to broadband deployment, adoption, 
affordability, access, and digital equity. This inventory is not exhaustive and MIHI continues to identify assets that can 
contribute to the successful and efficient implementation of the BEAD Program. 

Asset Type Category Description 

E-Rate Support8 Soft Access This $5M matching grant program, if passed, will provide 
improved connections to schools and libraries at much lower 
costs with better reliability and leverage additional federal E-
Rate funds. Program will be implemented by the MI Dept. of 
Education. 

Wi-Fi Hot Spot Map9 Soft Access During the COVID-19 Pandemic, the Michigan Public Service 
Commission created a map of known public Wi-Fi hot spots to 
support those without a home connection.  

2-1-1 Assistance10 Soft Adoption Michigan 2-1-1- Information Assistance provides users with 
information on a variety of services, including the Affordable 
Connectivity Program.  

ACP Eligible 
Households 

Soft Affordability An estimated 1,685,725 households in Michigan are eligible 
for the ACP program. As of April 1, 2023, 604,108 
households are enrolled in the program; approximately 35.8% 
of the estimated eligible households.  

Utility Assistance 
Programs11  

Soft Affordability The Michigan Public Service Commission maintains a database 
of utility assistance programs to support consumers. Information 
on ACP and Lifeline is also included.  

Fiber Optics 
Certifications12 

Soft Deployment Washtenaw Community College offers certification courses for 
fiber optic technicians, fiber specialists in testing and 
maintenance, and fiber specialist in splicing.  

 
8 https://www.michigan.gov/libraryofmichigan/libraries/admin/erate  
9 https://cngis.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=0d69accbb5ff422a82eccc2c9101b69d  
10 https://mi211.org/  
11 https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/consumer/get-help/utility-customers  
12 https://www.wccnet.edu/business/workforce-development/fiber-optics-1-campaign.php  

https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/cngis.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=7ef79be851894cc5bdd60c1510fbafcb__;!!N8Xdb1VRTUMlZeI!lt68Yxzy5c5beLQUT30eKcUeSIfO7PmGLDm0CwitJcrMEkzR_iBYM4jcKW8Jdwh55Q0quonxaasHwyOJWm9j5kRCM-rg0A$
https://www.michigan.gov/libraryofmichigan/libraries/admin/erate
https://cngis.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=0d69accbb5ff422a82eccc2c9101b69d
https://mi211.org/
https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/consumer/get-help/utility-customers
https://www.wccnet.edu/business/workforce-development/fiber-optics-1-campaign.php


 

26 

 

Asset Type Category Description 

Michigan Geographic 
Framework13 

Soft Deployment MI Dept. of Technology, Management, and Budget manages a 
variety of geospatial datasets, enterprise software licenses, 
aerial photography, and other remote sensing products that can 
be used for a variety of purposes. 

Michigan Infrastructure 
Asset Audit 

Soft Deployment During the summer of 2022, MIHI contractors traversed more 
than 65,000 miles of roads identifying and cataloging the 
location of infrastructure that can support at least 100/20 
Mbps connectivity. The study area was defined as places where 
infrastructure is likely to terminate given the rurality of the area. 

Michigan Public Safety 
Communications 
System14 

Hard Deployment The MI Public Safety Communications System  is a network of 
206 towers located throughout the state that support public 
safety communications. These towers can also be used as 
colocation points for wireless broadband facilities.  

Michigan State 
Education Network 

Hard Deployment The State Education Network (SEN) is a fiber-optic network that 
provides fast, affordable, reliable, and secure broadband 
internet capacity to schools and public entities throughout 
Michigan. It is an entity external to the State of Michigan. The 
vision of the SEN is to connect 100% of Michigan’s 
Intermediate School Districts (ISD), Local Education Agencies 
(LEA), and Public-School Academies (PSA). 

Community Information 
Exchange (CIE)15 

Soft Digital Equity CIE is a localized effort to create and sustain the technology 
and relationships required to support Social Determinants of 
Health (SDOH) needs of both individuals and communities. The 
program is coordinated by the MI Dept. of Health and Human 
Services. 

Digital Inclusion 
Location Map16 

Soft Digital Equity The MIHI Office maintains a database and map of digital 
inclusion programs throughout the state to aid residents in 
finding the services they need.  

Michigan Poverty 
Taskforce17 

Soft Digital Equity The Michigan Poverty Task Force, within the MI Dept. of Labor 
and Economic Opportunity, is committed to finding ways to 
strengthen, broaden, coordinate, and streamline existing state 
efforts to ensure that Michigan families have access to the 
support they need.  

Office of Global 
Michigan18 

Soft Digital Equity The mission of the Office of Global Michigan is to empower and 
engage the immigrant, refugee, and international community to 
make Michigan the home for opportunity. The office assists 
immigrant and refugee communities with connectivity needs.  

Student Information 
System (SIS) 
Questionnaire 

Soft Digital Equity The MI Dept. of Education has asked schools to collect digital 
equity data as part of their SIS questionnaire to start the year. 
While not mandatory, MDE hopes to grow this dataset to 
support digital inclusion efforts. 

 
13 https://www.michigan.gov/dtmb/services/maps  
14 https://www.michigan.gov/mpscs  
15 https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/inside-mdhhs/legislationpolicy/2022-2024-social-determinants-of-health-strategy/community-information-exchange-

task-force  
16 https://www.michigan.gov/leo/bureaus-agencies/mihi/michigan-digital-inclusion-resources  
17 https://www.michigan.gov/leo/initiatives/poverty-task-force  
18 https://www.michigan.gov/ogm  

https://www.michigan.gov/dtmb/services/maps
https://www.michigan.gov/mpscs
https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/inside-mdhhs/legislationpolicy/2022-2024-social-determinants-of-health-strategy/community-information-exchange-task-force
https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/inside-mdhhs/legislationpolicy/2022-2024-social-determinants-of-health-strategy/community-information-exchange-task-force
https://www.michigan.gov/leo/bureaus-agencies/mihi/michigan-digital-inclusion-resources
https://www.michigan.gov/leo/initiatives/poverty-task-force
https://www.michigan.gov/ogm


 

27 

 

Asset Type Category Description 

Michigan Reconnect19 Soft Workforce Michigan Reconnect provides free in-district tuition at a 
Michigan community college to earn an associate degree or 
Pell-eligible skill certificate. Participants can receive up to 
$1,500 towards tuition costs for eligible career training 
programs here in Michigan with the Short-Term Training 
Program. 

Michigan Achievement 
Skills Scholarship20 

Soft Workforce Students can choose to attend a career training program in 
Michigan through the Michigan Achievement Skills Scholarship. 
Students who graduate from high school in Michigan with a 
diploma or certificate of completion or achieved a high school 
equivalency certificate in 2023 or after will be eligible for up to 
$2,000 if they attend a career training program in Michigan, 
per year, up to two years. 

Futures for Frontliners21 Soft Workforce State scholarship program for Michiganders without college 
degrees who worked in essential industries during the state 
COVID-19 shutdown in spring 2020 (April 1 - June 30). This 
scholarship provides these frontline workers with tuition-free 
access to local community college to pursue an associate 
degree or a skills certificate, either full-time or part-time while 
you work. 

Table 6: Current Asset Inventory of Hard and Soft Assets 

  

 
19 https://www.michigan.gov/reconnect  
20 https://www.michigan.gov/mistudentaid/programs/michigan-achievement-scholarship/career-training  
21 https://www.michigan.gov/frontliners  

https://www.michigan.gov/reconnect
https://www.michigan.gov/mistudentaid/programs/michigan-achievement-scholarship/career-training
https://www.michigan.gov/frontliners


 

28 

 

Needs and Gaps Assessment 
The purpose of this section is to identify the gaps between the current state and needs of broadband deployment and 
digital equity in Michigan. This section begins with data profiles for the state as a whole, followed by a similar regional 
analysis. A summary of the key deployment, adoption, affordability, access, and digital equity needs, and gaps 
follows the state and regional data profiles.   

State and Regional Profiles 
The MIHI Office has chosen to examine its needs and gaps regionally. The Michigan Department of Labor and 
Economic Opportunity (LEO), that houses the MIHI Office, defines ten, multi-county economic prosperity regions as a 
basis for analysis and implementation across programs. The map below provides the regional boundaries.  

The profiles begin with that of 
Michigan as a whole, followed 
by a similar profile for each of the 
ten regions. The purpose of these 
profiles is to establish a baseline 
for understanding the unique 
digital equity and connectivity 
needs of the state and each 
region. Each profile contains a 
digital equity analysis that 
identifies the covered populations 
as defined by the Digital Equity 
Act, as well as the current state 
and needs for broadband 
availability, adoption, devices, 
and the priorities defined by each 
region during MIHI’s MI 
Connected Future listening tour. 
The following describes each of 
the data points found in the 
profiles. If a metric is highlighted 
in a regional profile, the rate of 
that metric in the region is 
higher/lower than the state 
average, which may indicate a 
need for additional focus on this 
covered population or element of 
digital equity. 

Digital Equity Profile 
The Digital Equity Profile identifies and enumerates the various Digital Equity Act ‘covered’ populations within each 
region. These metrics are critical for identifying the unique digital equity needs throughout the state that can drive future 
digital inclusion program implementation.  

Population: The total population of the area from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates. 

Rural: The total number and percentage of the population residing in rural areas of the region as defined by the 
USDA 2013 Rural-Urban Continuum Code.  

Figure 7: Map of the 10 Prosperity Regions of Michigan 



 

29 

 

Age 60+: The total number and percentage of the population aged 60 years or more in the region from the 
American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates.  

Below Poverty: The total number and percentage of the population living below the federal poverty guideline in 
the region from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates.  

ALICE Population: The total number and percentage of the population defined as Asset Limited, Income 
Constrained, Employed (ALICE) in the region as defined by the United Way. Data is from 2021.  

Non-White: The total number and percentage of the population identifying as a race other than white, not 
including those of Hispanic descent, in the region from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates. 

Hispanic: The total number and percentage of the population identifying as being of Hispanic descent in the 
region from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates.  

Foreign-Born: The total number and percentage of the population in each region born outside of the United States 
from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates.  

Limited English-Speaking: The total number and percentage of the population in each region that identify as being 
limited English speakers. This data was derived by identifying the number of households in each region identifying 
as such and multiplying it by the average household size for each region to determine the estimated population 
that are limited English speakers. Data is from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates.  

Veterans: The total number and percentage of the population in the region that indicate past military service from 
the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates.. 

Disabled: The total number and percentage of the population in the region that indicate that they have mental or 
physical disability from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates.  

Living in Correctional Facility: The total number and percentage of the population in the region that is living in a 
correctional facility. This data comes from the 2020 Decennial Census. The data does not differentiate between 
those in federal or state correctional facilities.  

Broadband Availability 
This section identifies the total number of Broadband Serviceable Locations (BSL) identified on the BSL Fabric 
developed and maintained by the Federal Communications Commission. The number and percentage of unserved 
(locations without 25/3 Mbps service available) and underserved (locations without 100/20 Mbps service 
available) BSLs are included for each region. This data comes from the June 15th, 2023 data published by the FCC 
that represents availability reported by internet service providers as of December 31, 2022. These metrics are critical 
for understanding the service availability needs and gaps within each region.  

Broadband Adoption 
This section identifies the various scales of home broadband adoption/subscription in the region. This data does not 
represent the availability of these connection types, but the reported subscription type for households.  These metrics 
are critical for understanding adoption or subscription needs and gaps within each region which can indicate barriers 
to broadband affordability and other related issues.  

Households: The total number of households in the region from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year 
Estimates.  

Broadband Connection: The total number and percentage of households in the region reporting that they have a 
broadband connection. Types of subscriptions may include fiber, cable, DSL, or otherwise. The speed of the 
connection is unknown. These households may also have a cellular internet subscription in addition to their 
broadband connection. Data is from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates.  



 

30 

 

Dial-Up or Satellite: The total number and percentage of households in the region reporting that they have a dial-
up or satellite internet connection, but not a broadband connection. The speed of the connection is unknown. 
These households may also have a cellular internet subscription but do not have a broadband subscription. Data is 
from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates.  

Cellular Data Plan Only: The total number and percentage of households in the region reporting that they have 
only a cellular data plan only; no other type of internet subscription is present. The speed of the connection is 
unknown. Data is from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates.  

No Internet Subscription: The total number and percentage of households in the region reporting that they have no 
internet subscription whatsoever in their home. The reason for not having an internet subscription is unknown. Data 
is from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates.  

ACP Claimed Households: The total number and percentage of total households in the region claimed by an 
internet service provider that is participating in the FCC’s Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP). Households 
must meet eligibility requirements to participate in ACP. The percentage is of the total households, however, not the 
total eligible households in the region. Data is from the Universal Service Administrative Company (USAC) and is 
current as of February 2023.  

Devices 
This section focuses on the reported types of devices in the home. These metrics are critical for understanding device 
access needs and gaps within each region. Device access, or lack thereof, is a known barrier to digital equity.  

Households: The total number of households in the region from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year 
Estimates.  

Multiple Devices: The total number and percentage of households in the region that indicate they have one or 
more computing devices in the home. Those with only a smart phone are not included in this total. Data is from the 
American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates.  

Smart Phone Only: The total number and percentage of households in the region that indicate they have only a 
smart phone to connect to the internet with no other devices present, from the American Community Survey 2021 
5-Year Estimates.  

No Device: The total number and percentage of households in the region that indicate they have no computing 
device of any kind, from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates.  

ACP Households Claiming Device: The total number of households in the region that have claimed a device 
discount from the Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP). The percentage shown is the percent of ACP 
households claiming a device compared to the total number of ACP households claimed in the region, not the total 
number of households in the region. Data is from the Universal Service Administrative Company (USAC) and is 
current as of February 2023. 

Digital Equity Priorities 
This data is derived from the MI Connected Future statewide community listening tour MIHI conducted in early 2023. 
Community meetings were held in each region and participants were asked to prioritize the importance of the four 
primary barriers to digital equity; 1) Availability; 2) Affordability; 3) Digital Literacy/Skills; and 4) Devices. 
Participants were asked to rank these topics in order of importance through a dot-sticker exercise. Votes were 
weighted according to their importance and the results averaged to determine the overall importance of each topic on 
a scale of one to four with four being the most important and one being the least important. This data helps identify the 
most critical issues for those living in each region of the state.  

 

 



 

31 

  



 

32 

  



 

33 

 
 



 

34 

  



 

35 

  



 

36 

  



 

37 

  



 

38 

 
 



 

39 

  



 

40 

 

 



 

41 

  



 

42 

 

Regional Profile Summary 
Michigan has an ever-changing tapestry of residents that evokes an evolving approach to addressing the digital equity 
needs of the state. Notably, among the covered populations outlined in the Digital Equity Act, nearly one-quarter of 
the state’s residents are aged 60 or more, and nearly one-quarter are non-white. Additionally, while 13% of the 
population lives at or below the federal poverty line, approximately one-quarter of the state’s residents are ALICE. 
These characteristics, as well as those of other covered populations, suggest a set of diverse digital inclusion needs that 
span across the state.  

According to the latest FCC data, Michigan has nearly 500,000 homes and businesses that are either unserved or 
underserved by high-speed internet infrastructure. This is a higher proportion of un/underserved than other large states 
as evidence by Michigan’s BEAD allocation. While having the tenth highest population in the country, Michigan’s 
BEAD allocation of funds was fourth largest.  

As of the June 15, 2023 FCC National Broadband Map, nearly one-half million locations in Michigan are identified 
as unserved or underserved. The geographic distribution of un/underserved locations in the state follows expected 
patterns and can be found in the rural areas of the northern Lower Peninsula and Upper Peninsula. However, the 
widespread agricultural and small-town communities of southern Michigan are also prone to higher levels of 
un/underserved locations as well.  

While broadband availability is one matter, adoption of a connection in the home is another. Across the state, 
approximately 70% of households subscribe to a broadband connection. The remainder either do not have an internet 
subscription at all (13.3%) or seek out alternative methods of connectivity such as dial-up or satellite (6.9%) or cellular 
hot-spot (12.4%). 

When it comes to internet-connected devices in the home, 83.2% report having multiple devices to support their 
connectivity. Nearly 10% of households, however, report only having a single smart phone to support their home’s 
connectivity, and another 7.6% report having no device at all.  

In terms of priorities, participants in MIHI’s MI Connected Future listening tour prioritized service availability far above 
other issues. This is anticipated given the pervasiveness of the un/underserved locations across the state. Affordability 
of service was the second priority among Michiganders, followed then by digital literacy/skills and devices. It is clear 
that ensuring the universal availability of high-speed internet is a priority for Michiganders, and that once those 
connections are available, that they are affordable to all. These state level priorities vary by region thus the need for 
prioritizing different digital inclusion interventions and foci across the state.  

The availability of high-speed internet service is a clear priority for the state and its regions. Ensuring access to service 
for all is a goal shared by Michiganders, the MIHI Office, and the BEAD Program. Available connections, however, 
need to be affordable for those they serve; a clear secondary priority among listening tour participants. While digital 
literacy/skills and devices received a lower relative priority ranking compared to availability and affordability, these 
aspects of digital equity can only come once affordable, reliable, high-speed networks are available to all. MIHI 
anticipates seeing priorities shift to digital literacy/skills and devices once the BEAD program begins to deliver 
affordable connectivity to all.  

Michigan’s regions vary greatly in their digital equity and inclusion needs and the populations among which digital 
equity efforts need to be focused. Participant feedback on priorities gathered during the MI Connected Future listening 
tour further validates the needs and gaps that exist across the state. The data on covered populations and identified 
priorities will guide the implementation of this plan as well as the statewide Digital Equity Plan.   



 

43 

 

Workforce 
The MIHI Office acknowledges the importance of engaging the existing broadband workforce in Michigan as well as 
empowering the growth of the workforce to meet the needs of the BEAD Program. We have identified key areas of 
need and developed plans to fulfil them. 

The below chart highlights identification and plans to address known or potential obstacles and gaps related to 
workforce: 

Identification Plan(s) 

Michigan is facing a projected worker shortage in 12 NTIA 
identified occupation groups. The most significant occupation 
groups impacted by projected shortfall are “laborers and 
material movers,” “trenchers,” and “inspectors” which are 
facing a 11.9%, 10.4%, and 9.8% shortfall respectively 

MIHI is actively partnering with the workforce development 
division of LEO to creatively solve these shortfall projections. 
Upcoming workforce strategies highlight the importance of 
diversity, equity, and inclusion to expand the labor pool to 
those not historically represented in the construction industry.  

Criminal history as barrier to employment 

Michigan launched the “Clean Slate” Pilot Program to support 
justice involved individuals to expunge their records and 
obtain meaningful employment. Clean Slate is run through 
Michigan Works! Associations and expunges certain 
infractions from an individual’s record including minor traffic 
infractions, misdemeanor marijuana possession/use, or if a 
person has not received additional convictions during certain 
time frames (dependent on infraction class and number of 
infractions).  

Table 7: Michigan Broadband Workforce Obstacles, Gaps, and Plans for Mitigation 

Workforce gaps are top of mind for Michigan policy makers and agencies, especially as Michigan is entering the time 
for unprecedented broadband infrastructure deployment. MIHI is leveraging existing workforce development 
structures within the state given the vast network stewarded by our Workforce Development division. Partners in this 
space are eager to engage with MIHI to support workforce growth in their respective capacities. 

MIHI partners with LEO Employment and Training to support relationship building among the Michigan Community 
College Association (MCCA), the Michigan Association of Intermediate School Administrators (MAISA), and 
Michigan Occupational Dean’s Advisory Council (MODAC). Additionally, LEO houses the Michigan office of 
Registered Apprenticeships which provides supportive services and funding for employers of apprentices.  The 
GoingPRO Talent fund supports employers in reskilling new workers and ensures a pathway to credentialling as part of 
the involvement in the program. GoingPRO is housed in the WD division.  

Some other programs include the Michigan Youth Apprenticeship Readiness Network (MiYARN) which aims to 
expand youth registered apprenticeships by partnering with regional entities, the Michigan Learning and Education 
Advancement Program (MiLEAP) which supports in the transition from education and training programs to high-wage 
jobs. MiLEAP focuses on underrepresented populations, particularly that of economically distressed rural and urban 
areas. 

Outlined below are relevant plans, strategies, and programs LEO and other State of Michigan Departments have in 
place. This list is not exhaustive in nature. 

Agency Strategy/Plan/Program 

Michigan Economic 
Development Corporation 
(MEDC) 

$34 million talent attraction and retention strategy targeting student, job seekers and 
industry professionals in key growth areas (i.e. EV mobility, telecommunications, and 
semiconductor industries). 

MEDC STEM-Forward Internship program connects students, who attend Michigan colleges 
and universities, with paid internship opportunities in STEM-focused careers. 



 

44 

 

Agency Strategy/Plan/Program 

LEO - Michigan Science, 
Technology, Engineering, and 
Math (MiSTEM) Network 

Removing barriers to employment by increasing the implementation of project-, 
problem-, and place-based education-based instruction in K-12 schools in 
Michigan and expose 200,000 students to STEM careers. 

LEO – Workforce 
Development, Education and 
Training (E&T) 

Addressing talent shortages by engaging and creating customized targeted solutions 
to meet employer needs by: 

• Establishing and strengthening existing employer-led collaboratives (ELCs) 
• Aligning career pathways and educational credentials that lead to 

transferrable skills and increased wages for job seekers 

LEO – E&T; MEDC Expand talent in Michigan by upskilling and reskilling Michiganders and leverage 
resources resulting in 7,500 postsecondary credentials by: 

• Promoting tuition free pathways to obtain postsecondary credentials; 
• Expanding relationships with secondary and postsecondary education 

providers to improve job outcomes for students with disabilities; and, 
• Boosting apprenticeship opportunities to obtain industry-recognized 

credentials. 

LEO – E&T; Michigan Works! 
Agencies 

Expand Michigan’s labor force by providing job readiness services to 800 people 
by conducting outreach activities and supporting eligible persons experiencing 
barriers to employment to re-enter the labor force. 

LEO – Office of Prosperity; 
Women’s Commission 

Help 50,000 Michigan women re-enter or remain in the workforce with support of 
the Tr-Share Child Care program and the MI Fostering Access, Rights and Equity 
(MI FARE) program. MI FARE is designed to educate women workers about their 
employment rights and benefits. 

Michigan Department of 
Corrections (MDOC) 

MDOC operates a skilled trades training program that aims to provide a positive 
learning community for prisoners who are serious about completing career and 
technical education. Prisoners complete training at the vocational village located in 
the state prion facilities. Career paths include (but are not limited to): 

• Commercial Driving License and Forklift Operation 
• Carpentry 
• Electrical 
• Computer Coding 
• Computer Numerical Control Machine Tooling and Robotics 
• Line Clearance and Tree Trimming 

Table 8: Existing Plans, Strategies, and Programs for Addressing Workforce in Michigan 

 

 

  



 

45 

 

Obstacles and Barriers 
The purpose of this section is to proactively identify the obstacles or barriers that Michigan may encounter as it 
implements the BEAD Program—and more generally, as it addresses issues related to broadband deployment and 
digital inclusion. Each barrier contains a description of the barrier and a reference to the relevant Priorities or Key 
Strategies found in the Implementation Plan that will address the barrier.  

Deployment Barriers 
The MIHI Office has identified several obstacles and barriers that could hinder the successful implementation of the 
BEAD Program, specifically regarding the deployment of new high-speed internet networks. The following organizes 
and summarizes these obstacles and barriers and provides context for how they could impact broadband deployment. 

Legislative or Regulatory Barriers 
The broadband deployment ecosystem has a light regulatory framework, however some aspects of this framework 
could impact the success of the BEAD Program. These obstacles include the pole attachment process, state and local 
taxes, municipal participation as an ISP, the capacity of the Michigan Utility Notification Center, and mandates for 
facilities relocation. Other regulatory barriers include permitting, however, permitting is given its own section given the 
layers of permitting required for deployment.  

Pole Attachment 
Pole attachments refer to the cables, wires, and other equipment that are attached to utility poles to provide 
broadband services. While these attachments are essential for delivering broadband services to customers, they can 
also be a barrier to broadband deployment for several reasons including high fees, delays in make-ready, limited 
physical space on the pole, denial of access, and the need to replace aging or damaged poles. 

In Michigan, pole attachment authority is regulated by the Michigan Public Service Commission (MPSC). The MPSC 
has authority over investor-owned utilities in the state, including electric and gas utilities, and it regulates the rates, 
terms, and conditions of pole attachments. The MPSC has adopted rules and regulations to govern the process of 
obtaining pole attachments, including the application and approval process, the rates and fees charged by pole 
owners, and the terms and conditions of attachment agreements. Additionally, some municipalities in Michigan have 
their own municipal utilities with their own ordinances and regulations regarding pole attachments, which may 
supplement or differ from the state-level regulations. In those cases, providers seeking pole attachments will need to 
comply with both state and local requirements. 

Overall, pole attachments can be a significant barrier to broadband deployment, particularly for small or new 
providers. Reducing the cost and complexity of obtaining pole attachments, increasing access to poles, and creating 
consistent regulations and policies can help to promote broadband deployment and increase access to high-speed 
internet. 

Municipal Participation 
Michigan state law allows public entities to provide broadband services, but only if the public entity has first sought 
bids in the form of a request for proposal (RFP) on the project from private companies and has only received less than 
three “qualified” bids. The public entity must also adhere to the same terms and conditions that private companies 
would need to meet as specified in the request for proposals. Doing so effectively eliminates some of the benefits that 
building a public network can offer residents. 

While not every municipality may want or be able to act as an internet service provider, municipalities want to have a 
say and participate to ensure their residents, businesses, and institutions are connected. However, local governments 
may not have the capacity or knowledge to effectively participate in the BEAD program. This can lead to delays and 
miscommunication between communities and subgrantees.  



 

46 

 

Utility Notification and Flagging Capacity:  
Utility notification programs are used by utilities to notify other parties, such as ISPs, of planned work that may impact 
existing infrastructure, such as roads or utility poles. Flagging programs, on the other hand, involve physically marking 
the location of underground utilities to prevent damage during excavation or construction work. The Michigan Utility 
Notification Center (MISS DIG) is the state’s only utility safety notification system. 

If both programs do not have the capacity to handle demand, it can lead to delayed notification of planned utility 
work, which can disrupt services and result in costly and time-consuming delays. Similarly, if flagging programs are not 
able to keep up with demand, it can increase the risk of damage to underground utilities during excavation or 
construction work. The lack of capacity in both programs can create significant safety risks for workers and the public. 
If utility work is not adequately marked or notification of planned work is delayed, it can create hazardous conditions 
for workers and increase the risk of accidents or injuries. 

Permitting 
Broadband network deployment in Michigan requires permits from multiple authorities, including local governments, 
county governments, state agencies, and federal entities. The requirements and processes for obtaining permits vary 
among these authorities, leading to inconsistencies and delays in the permitting process. Additionally, a lack of 
standardized requirements for similar work can lead to confusion and inconsistency in the permit application process, 
as well as potential delays and additional costs for applicants. This lack of standardization also applies to permitting 
fees and timelines among the various and sometimes overlapping permitting authorities.  

Federal Permitting 
Michigan has several federally managed lands, including national parks, national lakeshores, national forests, 
national wildlife refuges, among others. These federal lands represent significant opportunities for outdoor recreation 
and conservation but can pose barriers to high-speed internet expansion. The permitting process for building networks 
across federal lands can be complex and lengthy and involve multiple agencies and regulations. Federal timelines for 
approval are often lengthy and are often longer. It is worth noting that the permitting process can vary depending on 
the agency, the type of land involved, and other factors.  

State Permitting 

Environmental 
The Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) is the primary entity responsible for 
approving environmental permits for broadband deployment. EGLE is the state agency charged with protecting 
Michigan’s environment and public health through a variety of regulatory programs and initiatives. 

EGLE is responsible for administering several state and federal environmental laws and regulations that may apply 
to broadband deployment projects, including the Michigan Environmental Protection Act, the Natural Resources 
and Environmental Protection Act, and the federal Clean Water Act and Clean Air Act. 

Entities seeking to deploy broadband infrastructure in Michigan may need to obtain one or more environmental 
permits or approvals from EGLE, depending on the nature and location of the project. These activities may include 
permits for activities such as wetland mitigation, stormwater management, air emissions, and water quality. 

The timeline and process for obtaining an environmental permit from the Michigan Department of Environment, 
Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) for broadband deployment can vary depending on the nature and location of the 
project and the completeness of the permit application and lead to extended project timelines. EGLE aims to 
complete the permit review process as quickly as possible while ensuring that the proposed project meets all 
applicable environmental regulations and requirements. 



 

47 

 

Cultural and historical 
Permits for cultural and historic significance related to broadband deployment are typically approved by the 
Michigan State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO). The SHPO is part of the Michigan State Housing 
Development Authority (MSHDA) and is responsible for reviewing and approving permits for projects that may 
impact cultural or historic resources in Michigan. 

When an entity seeks to deploy broadband infrastructure that may impact cultural or historic resources, they 
should consult with SHPO to determine if a permit is required. If a permit is required, the entity will need to submit 
an application to SHPO that describes the proposed project, the potential impacts on cultural or historic resources, 
and any mitigation measures that will be taken to minimize those impacts. 

SHPO will then review the application and any accompanying documentation and may request additional 
information or studies if needed. Once SHPO determines that the proposed project is compliant with applicable 
cultural and historic preservation laws and regulations, a permit will be issued. 

State rights-of-way 
In Michigan, the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) is the entity that approves permit requests for 
installing broadband infrastructure within a state-owned right of way. MDOT has established policies and 
procedures for issuing permits to entities seeking to install broadband infrastructure within the state’s right of way. 
These policies and procedures are designed to ensure that broadband infrastructure is installed safely and 
efficiently, without disrupting other transportation activities or damaging the environment. 

Entities seeking to install broadband infrastructure within a state-owned right of way in Michigan must submit a 
permit application to MDOT, providing detailed information about the proposed infrastructure, including the route, 
design, and potential environmental impacts. The permit application will be reviewed by MDOT to ensure 
compliance with applicable laws, regulations, and policies. If the application is approved, the permit may include 
conditions or requirements to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations, as well as technical 
specifications for the broadband infrastructure and requirements for restoration of the right of way after installation. 

MDOT aims to review and approve permit applications as quickly as possible while ensuring compliance with 
applicable laws, regulations, and policies. 

According to MDOT’s policies and procedures, the review process for a permit application can take up to 30 
days for a standard application or up to 60 days for a complex application. However, if additional information is 
needed or if there are other issues that arise during the review process, the timeline may be extended. It is also 
worth noting that MDOT may require additional permits or approvals from other agencies before issuing a right of 
way permit, which can further affect the timeline. 

Local Permitting 

City, village, and township rights-of-way 
On March 14, 2002, Act 48 of the Public Acts of 2002, created the Metropolitan Extension Telecommunication 
Rights-of-Way Oversight (METRO) Authority, whose purpose was to assist telecommunications providers cut 
through red tape and obtain permits without having to pay excessive fees or endure unnecessary delays. On 
October 1, 2014, the powers, duties, functions, and responsibilities previously vested in the METRO Authority 
under the METRO Act, 2002 PA 48, as amended, were transferred to and vested in the Local Community 
Stabilization Authority (LCSA).  

The METRO Act streamlines the process for telecommunications providers seeking to obtain rights-of-way permits 
in designated metropolitan areas. The Act set common fees and a maximum permit approval period. The METRO 
Act does not cover the permitting process for county rights-of-way. The METRO Act does not necessarily present a 
barrier or obstacle to the success of the BEAD program, but it is important context for infrastructure deployment 
and a potential model to streamline permitting and access to other rights-of-way.  



 

48 

 

County rights-of-way and drains 
In Michigan, county right of way permitting can be a major barrier to broadband deployment. To install 
broadband infrastructure in Michigan’s county right of way, providers need to obtain permits from the county, 
which can be a lengthy and expensive process. Each of Michigan’s 83 counties has its own set of rules, 
regulations, and permit requirements that broadband providers must adhere to, which can vary widely from one 
county to another. The lack of standardization in the permitting process makes it difficult for broadband providers 
to cost-effectively deploy broadband infrastructure, particularly when deployment projects cross county 
boundaries. 

Moreover, some counties in Michigan have restricted access to their right of way for broadband deployment, 
either due to concerns over aesthetic issues, liability, or safety concerns. This creates further barriers for broadband 
providers. 

County drain permits can be a barrier to broadband deployment in Michigan, particularly in rural and more 
agricultural areas. To install broadband infrastructure near or across county drains, broadband providers need to 
obtain permits from the county drain commissioner. This process can be time-consuming, complex, and expensive. 
In addition to the permitting process, there are also concerns related to the physical infrastructure of county drains, 
such as the possibility of damaging drainage systems during construction or installation of broadband 
infrastructure.  

County drain and road commission offices that are not used to a high-volume of permit requests could find 
themselves without the capacity to approve a multitude of permits submitted for network deployment projects that 
will likely occur once funding from the BEAD Program is issues to subgrantees.  

Railroad crossings 
Railroad crossings have traditionally been an impediment to broadband deployment due to the complex and 
lengthy permit processes that can create delays and additional costs for broadband providers. In some cases, 
railroad companies may require expensive insurance or indemnification agreements, or they may impose 
restrictions on the use of their land that are incompatible with broadband deployment. 

In February of 2023, however, the Michigan Court of Appeals issued a ruling impacting the installation of 
telecommunications facilities under a railroad crossing. The ruling makes the following points: 

1. Permits from governmental entities with jurisdiction over the road right-of-way, (such as county road 
commissions and the MDOT), are still required. 

2. A METRO Act permit from a city, township, or village in which the public road crosses the railroad tracks 
satisfies the permitting requirement of the local municipality where the local entity has jurisdiction over the 
right-of-way. 

3. The depth at which to install the underground facilities should be no less than 5 feet below the surface of the 
roadbed. The depth required to install such lines may be even greater if the roadbed under the tracks is 
deeper than the customary 5 feet. 

4. Permission of the railroad to install underground facilities under tracks located outside where the tracks cross a 
public right-of-way is still required. The railroad may impose permitting and fee requirements for the 
installation of facilities in such locations. 

This ruling provides clarity on and streamlines the permitting process for telecommunications facilities installed 
under railroad crossings within the public right-of-way. This eases the permitting burden for deploying broadband 
networks, however the decision could be overturned by the Michigan Supreme Court. While not expressly a 
barrier currently, this ruling is important context as the BEAD Program is implemented.  

https://www.courts.michigan.gov/c/courts/coa/case/359420


 

49 

 

Workforce 
Labor and workforce shortages create significant barriers to broadband deployment by limiting the availability of 
skilled workers for construction, installation, maintenance, and customer support. These shortages can cause delays 
and increase costs for broadband providers, as well as reduce the reliability of broadband services for customers. The 
shortage of skilled workers can also limit the ability of smaller broadband providers to compete with larger providers, 
as they may struggle to attract and retain skilled workers.  

The deployment of broadband infrastructure requires not only a skilled workforce, including engineers, construction 
workers, and technicians, but also general laborers, material movers, and trucking crews. If there are shortages of 
skilled workers in these fields, it may be more difficult to deploy broadband infrastructure quickly and efficiently. The 
NTIA provided MIHI with an analysis of BEAD’s occupational demand on Michigan’s workforce and which 
occupations have broader cross-industry deficits. The following chart shows the anticipated BEAD Demand and Cross-
Industry Deficits by occupation group. 

 

Figure 8: BEAD Demand and Cross-Industry Gaps by Occupation Group 

 

As shown, BEAD alone is estimated to have a deficit of 3,500 positions by 2026, the majority of which are 
represented in the laborers and material movers and trucking crew occupation groups. These two groups also 
represent the largest cross-industry deficits in the state. Small gaps exist in the more BEAD-specific occupation groups 
such as network architects and coordinators, RF and field engineers, and fiber and wireless technicians. There will 
likely be competition for workers between the BEAD projects and other large infrastructure projects happening in the 
state, such as road construction and in particular energy or other utility related project. This competition for workers 
may make it more difficult to find enough skilled workers to complete broadband projects on schedule. 

Additionally, in Michigan, weather patterns may impact the ability to deploy broadband infrastructure throughout the 
year. Contracted firms and labor, seeking continuity of employment and revenue, often seek opportunities in warmer 
climates during the winter months. While the deployment of broadband is not as sensitive to winter weather 
construction compared to other infrastructure types, the general migration of contractors to warmer climates can impact 
the availability of such work in Michigan.  



 

50 

 

Supply Chain and Materials  
Supply chain and materials shortages can create significant barriers to broadband deployment by limiting the 
availability of key components and materials needed for the construction and maintenance of broadband 
infrastructure. These shortages can cause delays, increase costs, and impact the quality and reliability of broadband 
services. The COVID-19 pandemic has further exacerbated these supply chain and materials shortages due to 
disruptions in global shipping and manufacturing. The following summarizes key obstacles and barriers in the supply 
chain space. 

Limited Availability of Materials 
The deployment of broadband infrastructure requires a wide range of materials, including fiber optic cable, wireless 
equipment, and utility poles. If there is limited availability of these materials due to high demand or supply chain 
disruptions, it may be more difficult to deploy broadband infrastructure quickly and efficiently. 

Semiconductors 
Semiconductors are used in a wide range of electronic devices, including broadband networking equipment. The 
global semiconductor shortage, which began in 2020, has led to supply chain disruptions and delays in the 
production of networking equipment. 

Fiber Optic Cables 
Fiber optic cables are the backbone of broadband networks, and the demand for these cables has surged due to 
the pandemic. The production of fiber optic cables is complex and time-consuming, which has contributed to 
supply chain disruptions. 

Modems and Routers 
The pandemic has led to a surge in demand for home internet services, which has resulted in a shortage of 
modems and routers. The production of these devices has been impacted by the semiconductor shortage, as well 
as supply chain disruptions. 

Network Switches 
Network switches are used to connect devices in a network, and the demand for these devices has surged due to 
the pandemic. The production of network switches has been impacted by the semiconductor shortage, as well as 
supply chain disruptions. 

Batteries 
Batteries are used in a wide range of electronic devices, including networking equipment. The global demand for 
batteries has surged due to the shift towards electric vehicles and renewable energy, which has contributed to 
supply chain disruptions and higher prices. 

Supply Chain Disruptions 
The COVID-19 pandemic has exposed vulnerabilities in global supply chains, and disruptions could occur due to 
transportation restrictions, factory closures, or other factors. Michigan may face delays or higher costs if key 
components or equipment are not available due to supply chain disruptions. 

Additionally, the ‘Build America, Buy America Act,’ passed as part of the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act, has 
caused concern among many internet service providers and manufacturers in the industry. The ‘Build America, Buy 
America Act’ requires that all of the iron, steel, manufactured products (including but not limited to fiber-optic 
communications facilities), and construction materials used in the project or other eligible activities are produced in the 
United States unless a waiver is granted. The strict enforcement of, or failure to grant waivers of general applicability 
for broadband network equipment and consumer devices, could significantly delay the implementation of the BEAD 
Program and prevent states and subgrantees from meeting the timelines outlined in the BEAD Notice of Funding 
Opportunity.  



 

51 

 

Competition for Resources 
Every state and territory in the United States is investing in broadband network deployment on roughly the same 
timeline, and there will likely be competition among them for the same resources, such as fiber optic cables and 
network equipment. This could lead to increased costs and delays if Michigan subgrantees are unable to obtain the 
necessary resources in a timely manner. 

Local Capacity 
Broadband infrastructure deployment requires significant planning, coordination, and execution, which can only be 
achieved through effective local leadership. When there is a lack of capacity or expertise in local leadership, it can 
hinder the progress of deployment. 

Local leaders play a critical role in facilitating deployment by identifying funding sources, coordinating with internet 
service providers, and advocating for broadband infrastructure projects. Without local leaders who have the 
necessary skills and expertise to carry out these tasks, the deployment of broadband infrastructure may not move 
forward as planned. 

Furthermore, local leaders are responsible for engaging and educating their communities about the benefits of 
broadband connectivity. This education is crucial, particularly in rural areas where residents may not have access to 
high-speed internet and may not understand how broadband can improve their lives. A lack of local leadership can 
hinder such education and outreach efforts, slowing down the process of broadband adoption once networks have 
been deployed and are available.  

In short, a lack of local community leadership capacity can hinder the progress of broadband infrastructure 
deployment by impeding planning, coordination, execution, and community engagement efforts. It is, therefore, 
important to build and support local leadership capacity to overcome this barrier and ensure successful broadband 
deployment. The following summarizes additional barriers related to local capacity. 

Limited Local Resources 
Local governments, community organizations, and other entities often invest in broadband infrastructure projects to 
meet the needs of their residents and businesses, often through public-private partnerships or by providing matching 
funds for a specific project. If these sources of funding are insufficient, it can be challenging to secure any additional 
necessary funds for deployment. 

Limited Demand for Service 
Network deployment requires a sufficient level of demand for service to justify the investment and ongoing 
maintenance costs. One of the primary factors that influence demand for broadband service is the number of residents 
and businesses in the area. In areas with a small population, demand for service may be limited, making it difficult to 
justify the investment needed for infrastructure deployment. While grant programs can offset these costs, areas that are 
extremely remote with low population density will still struggle to get connected to the relative lack of demand. In 
addition to location density, there may be a lack of awareness or understanding of the benefits of being connected to 
high-speed internet in the area. If residents and businesses are not aware of the benefits of broadband service, they 
may not see a need to subscribe to the service, leading to limited demand. 

Lack of Community Engagement 
Community engagement is essential to ensure that newly deployed broadband infrastructure meets the needs of local 
residents and businesses. Without input from the community, infrastructure projects may not reflect the specific needs 
and challenges of the area, leading to suboptimal outcomes and lower rates of adoption. Additionally, without 
engagement and feedback from local residents and businesses, there may be a lack of awareness and understanding 
about the benefits of broadband infrastructure, leading to a lack of demand. A lack of engagement can also hinder the 
funding and financing of broadband infrastructure projects. Network deployment is expensive, and funding sources 



 

52 

 

may require evidence of local community support to justify investment. Without community engagement, it can be 
challenging to secure the necessary funding for broadband deployment. 

Topography/Geography 
Michigan’s topography and geography present several challenges to the deployment of broadband internet 
infrastructure. The state’s large size and rural areas make it expensive to install and maintain broadband infrastructure. 
The terrain, including forests, hills, and waterways, can impede the signal, making it difficult to provide reliable service 
to remote areas. Additionally, the harsh weather conditions in Michigan can cause damage to the infrastructure, 
requiring frequent repairs and maintenance. The following summarizes key obstacles and barriers related to 
topography and geography. 

Rural Terrain 
Michigan has many rural areas with challenging terrain, such as hills, valleys, forests, inland lakes, and wetlands. 
These areas can be difficult to access and may require specialized equipment and techniques to install and maintain 
fiber optic cables and other network infrastructure. 

Great Lakes 
Michigan is surrounded by four of the five Great Lakes, which can create challenges for underwater fiber optic cable 
deployment. The Great Lakes have fluctuating water levels, strong currents, and extreme weather conditions that can 
impact the stability and maintenance of underwater cables or networks deployed along the shoreline of the lakes. 

Remote Areas 
Michigan has remote areas that are difficult to access, such as the Upper Peninsula and certain parts of northern 
Michigan. These areas may have limited transportation infrastructure, which can make it challenging to deliver 
equipment and materials to remote locations or attract a skilled workforce to the area for long periods of time. Many of 
Michigan’s remote areas are federally managed lands such as the Hiawatha and Huron-Manistee National Forests 
and the Seney Wildlife Refuge.  

Winter Weather 
Michigan experiences cold and snowy winters, which can create challenges for equipment installation and 
maintenance and shorten the annual construction season. Additionally, heavy snowfall, ice storms, and freezing 
temperatures can impact the performance and reliability of broadband network infrastructure and increase long-term 
maintenance costs. 

Environmental Concerns 
Michigan has many environmentally sensitive areas, such as wildlife habitats, wetlands, and water bodies. The 
deployment of broadband network infrastructure will need to comply with regulations related to environmental impact 
assessments, protected species, and water quality. 

Remote Islands 
Michigan has several remote islands in the Great Lakes, which require unique solutions for broadband network 
deployment. These islands have limited transportation options, making it challenging to deliver equipment and 
materials. 

Procurement, Contracting, and Industry Participation 
Procurement processes and contracting can present significant challenges to the deployment of broadband 
infrastructure in the state. Procurement processes can be complicated and time-consuming, making it difficult to move 
quickly and efficiently to deploy broadband infrastructure. Overly complex competitive bidding processes can be a 
barrier to entry for smaller providers who may not have the resources to participate. Additionally, state and federal 



 

53 

 

regulations can vary, making it challenging to navigate and comply with all requirements and reporting obligations. 
Finally, contract negotiations can be complex and time-consuming, leading to further delays in the deployment of 
broadband infrastructure. Some of the key barriers in this category include; hefty financial incentives/match 
requirements; regulatory and reporting burdens; legal liability of grantees; slow and complex processes; a lack of 
competition among applicants; and limited collaboration. Government processes are thorough and comprehensive to 
protect public investments, however, overly bureaucratic and complex reporting procedures can create undue burdens 
on grantees and the grantor.   

Knowledge and Communications  
Without effective communication, various stakeholders involved in broadband deployment, such as government 
agencies, service providers, and local communities, may not be able to coordinate their efforts effectively. This can 
lead to duplication of efforts, delays, and inefficiencies in broadband deployment, as well as misinformation and local 
resistance to deployment efforts. The following summarizes barriers related to gaps in knowledge and communications. 

Accurate and timely data is critical to effective broadband planning and deployment. Without access to 
comprehensive and up-to-date information about existing infrastructure, demand for broadband, and other relevant 
factors, it may be difficult to plan and deploy broadband services effectively. Finally, a lack of information and 
communication can also limit access to resources that are critical for broadband deployment, such as funding, 
technical expertise, and community support. Without access to these resources, broadband deployment efforts may be 
stymied, or progress may be slow. 

Local Resistance 
A lack of community engagement can create local resistance to broadband deployment. In some cases, community 
members may be resistant to infrastructure projects due to concerns about privacy, security, or property rights. Without 
effective community engagement, educational programs, and capacity building efforts, these concerns may not be 
addressed, leading to opposition that can stall or even halt the deployment process. 

Misinformation 
Misinformation can create significant challenges for broadband deployment efforts. It is crucial to address 
misinformation by providing accurate and clear information about the benefits, costs, and safety of broadband 
deployment. Misinformation can be a significant barrier to successful deployment in several ways: 

False Claims about Health and Safety 
False claims about the health and safety risks of broadband deployment, such as radiation exposure, can 
generate fear and resistance among communities. This can lead to delays or cancellation of broadband projects. 

Misconceptions about Costs 
Misconceptions about the costs of broadband deployment can lead people to believe that broadband is too 
expensive or not worth the investment. This can reduce support for broadband deployment initiatives and slow 
down the deployment process. 

Myths about the Benefits of Broadband 
Misinformation may also generate myths about the benefits of broadband, such as the notion that it is only needed 
for entertainment purposes. This can lead people to undervalue the importance of broadband, making it harder to 
gain support for deployment initiatives. 

False Information about Availability 
Misinformation could lead to false claims about the availability of broadband services in a particular area, 
leading people to believe that it is not necessary to invest in broadband deployment. This can hinder the 
deployment process by reducing the perceived need for broadband services. 



 

54 

 

Lack of Topical Knowledge/Awareness  
Many people are not aware of the benefits of broadband and may not understand how it can improve their lives. This 
lack of understanding can lead to resistance or apathy towards broadband deployment efforts. There is also a lack of 
knowledge among the public regarding the basic technical aspects of high-speed internet availability. The difference 
in speeds, service quality, delivery technologies, bits vs. bytes, and other aspects of consumer internet service can 
cause confusion which could manifest as a barrier to deployment, apathy, or ineffective community engagement.  

Deployment Barriers Impact Matrix 
The following table provides a summary of the aforementioned deployment obstacles and barriers and identifies; 1) 
the estimated impact the barrier may have on the success of the BEAD Program; and 2) the likelihood that through the 
collective action of public, private, and other partners the barrier can be overcome. The estimated impact and the 
state’s ability to address each barrier were determined through engagement with MIHI’s Partnership Roundtable and 
Enabling Partners. 

Impact on BEAD 
The Impact on BEAD metric in the table below was derived from members of the Partnership Roundtable responding to 
questions asking how significant they felt each barrier would to the success of the BEAD Program. The table is coded as 
follows: 

How significant will <barrier> be to achieving the goals of 
universal high-speed internet availability and digital equity 
in Michigan? 

Not a 
Barrier 

Minor 
Barrier 

Moderate 
Barrier 

Serious 
Barrier 

Likely to Overcome 
The Likely to Overcome metric in the table below was derived from members of the Partnership Roundtable responding 
to questions regarding the likelihood/ability of the state to address the various barriers. The table is coded as follows: 

Please rate the likelihood that the barrier of <barrier> can 
be overcome through the collective action of public, 
private, and other interested partners?  

Not Likely Somewhat 
Likely 

Probably 
Likely 

Definitely 
Likely 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

55 

 

Deployment Impact Matrix   
Category Barrier Impact on  

BEAD 
 Likely to 

Overcome 

Legislative or Regulatory 
Barriers 

Pole Attachment         
 

        
Municipal Participation                 
Utility Notification and Flagging Capacity                 

Federal Permitting                   
State Permitting Environmental         

 

        
Cultural and Historic                 
State Rights-of-Way                 

Local Permitting City, Village, and Township Rights-of-Way                
County Rights-of-Way and Drains                 
Railroad crossings                 

Workforce          
Supply Chain and Materials          
Local Capacity          
Topography/Geography          
Procurement, Contracting, and Industry Participation          
Knowledge and Communications          

Table 9: Digital Equity Matrix 

The Impact Matrix is designed to help identify the barriers that are most significant to the BEAD Program success and 
are likely to be overcome through the collective action of MIHI and its key partners. More can be found on the 
solutions to these barriers in the Implementation Plan section. 

 



 

56 

 

Digital Equity Barriers 
Similar to the previous section, the MIHI Office has identified several barriers that could prevent the realization of the 
state’s digital equity and non-deployment goals. The following organizes and summarizes these obstacles and barriers 
and provides context for how they could impact digital equity and inclusion. 

Device Access 
Device access is a barrier to digital equity given that not all individuals have access to a device such as a computer or 
smartphone to access the internet. This lack of access can prevent individuals from participating in digital activities such 
as remote learning, job applications, and accessing government services. According to the Census, 16.8% of 
households only have one device or no device at all, and 9.2% of those households rely solely on a single smart 
phone for their internet access. Greater device access data is provided in each of the regional profiles included earlier 
in this plan. The following describes the issues associated with device access in greater detail. 

Cost 
Computers and other devices can be expensive, and not everyone has the financial means to purchase them. This is 
particularly true for low-income households where the cost of a computer or device can represent a significant portion 
of their income. Even if individuals or households are able to afford a computer or device, they may prioritize other 
expenses over purchasing one, such as paying for basic needs like food, housing, and healthcare, and multiple 
devices may be needed in a home, particular homes with school-aged children.  

Obsolescence 
Technology is advancing at an incredibly fast pace, which means that newer devices with better features and 
capabilities are constantly being released. This can make older devices quickly outdated, meaning that they may not 
be able to handle newer software, applications, or internet speeds. Additionally, as devices become outdated, they 
may become more prone to breakdowns and require more frequent repairs, which can be costly and time-consuming. 
This can be frustrating for users who rely on their device for work or other important tasks and may deter them from 
investing in home broadband if they feel that their device will not be able to keep up with the demands of a high-speed 
internet connection. Additionally, the cost of upgrading to a newer device can be a significant barrier for many users, 
particularly those with limited financial means. Upgrading to a newer device can be expensive, and may not be 
feasible for some users, particularly if they have recently invested in an older device. 

Technical Support 
Many users may not have the technical skills or knowledge required to set up and maintain their device or troubleshoot 
issues that arise. This can be particularly true for older users or those with limited experience using technology. As a 
result, they may be hesitant to invest in home broadband if they feel that they will not be able to get the support they 
need to use it effectively. Furthermore, even users with some technical knowledge may require assistance with more 
complex issues that arise, such as hardware or software problems. Without access to technical support, users may 
struggle to address these issues on their own, which can be frustrating and time-consuming. Additionally, technical 
support can be particularly important in the event of a cyber-attack or other security breach. Without access to timely 
and effective technical support, users may be unable to respond quickly enough to prevent or mitigate the damage 
caused by such attacks, which can put their personal information and privacy at risk.  

Solution: Establish non-deployment initiatives and align subprograms with the goals and objectives of the state’s Digital 
Equity Plan. 

Digital Literacy and Skills 
The skills necessary to fully leverage a high-speed internet connection go beyond the basics of how to use a computer, 
mouse, and keyboard. A lack of digital literacy and other associated skills can be significant barrier to home 
broadband adoption and digital equity. 



 

57 

 

Confidence/Limited Technology Experience 
A lack of confidence or limited technology experience can be a significant barrier to digital literacy and, in turn, home 
broadband adoption. When users lack the confidence or experience to use technology effectively, they may feel 
intimidated or overwhelmed by the prospect of using a computer or other similar device to access the internet. 

In turn, these feelings of uncertainty and lack of experience can make it difficult for users to take full advantage of the 
many benefits of home broadband. For example, they may be less likely to use online resources such as educational 
tools, job search websites, or online banking services. They may also be less likely to connect with friends and family 
through social media or other online platforms. 

Online Safety and Security 
Online safety and security is a significant aspect of digital literacy that can act as a barrier to home broadband 
adoption. Users who lack digital literacy skills may not be aware of the potential risks and threats that come with using 
the internet and may not know how to protect themselves from these risks. 

One of the biggest risks associated with internet use is cybercrime, including malware, phishing, and hacking. Users 
who lack digital literacy skills may not be aware of these risks or may not know how to identify and avoid them. This 
can put their personal information and privacy at risk and make them hesitant to invest in home broadband. 

Overall, online safety and security is an important aspect of digital literacy that can act as a barrier to home 
broadband adoption. Users who lack the knowledge and skills necessary to protect themselves online may be hesitant 
to invest in home broadband, which can limit their ability to take advantage of the many benefits that it offers. 

Advanced Online Services 
Not being able to access advanced online services is a significant digital literacy barrier to home broadband 
adoption. Many online services require a certain level of digital literacy to use them effectively. Users who lack the 
necessary skills and knowledge may find it difficult or impossible to access these services, which can limit their ability to 
take advantage of the full range of benefits offered by home broadband. 

Examples of advanced online services that may require digital literacy skills include online banking, distance learning, 
telemedicine, and e-commerce. Users who lack the necessary digital literacy skills to access these advanced online 
services may be hesitant to invest in home broadband, as they may feel that they are unable to take advantage of the 
full range of benefits that it offers. 

Solution: Develop awareness strategies that improve adoption through marketing and communication, and establish 
non-deployment initiatives and align subprograms with the goals and objectives of the state’s Digital Equity Plan. 

Affordability 
Affordability is a substantial issue that impacts home broadband adoption. For many individuals and families, the cost 
of broadband service can be a significant barrier to adoption, preventing them from accessing the many benefits of an 
internet connection. This can be especially true for low-income households, which may find it difficult or impossible to 
afford the cost of broadband service along with other necessary expenses. 

The high cost of broadband service can be attributed to several factors, including the availability of service providers 
in a given area, the quality and speed of the service offered, and the terms of the contract or subscription. In addition, 
users may also need to purchase or rent equipment such as a modem or router to use the service, which can add to the 
overall cost. 

For many low-income households, the cost of broadband service may simply be too high, making it difficult to justify 
the expense. As a result, these households may rely on other forms of internet access, such as public Wi-Fi hotspots or 
public computer centers, which may not provide the same level of speed and reliability as home broadband. This can 
limit their ability to access online resources, communicate with friends and family, and participate in online commerce 
and education. 



 

58 

 

The impact of affordability on home broadband adoption is not limited to low-income households. Many middle-class 
households may also find the cost of broadband service to be prohibitive, especially in areas where there is limited 
competition among service providers. This can result in a “digital divide” between households that can afford 
broadband service and those that cannot, which can have long-term social and economic implications. 

Additionally, the issues of affordability and awareness or relevance are interconnected. Awareness refers to the level 
of understanding people have about the benefits of using the internet. People who are not aware of these benefits may 
not be motivated to invest in broadband or may not understand how to use it effectively. This lack of awareness can 
lead to a lack of demand for broadband, which can affect affordability. 

Relevance, then, refers to the extent to which the content available via the internet meet the needs and interests of 
different groups of people. If the available content do not meet the needs or interests of a particular group, then they 
may not find broadband affordable or valuable. For example, if the available content is not available in their 
language or does not reflect their culture, they may not find broadband relevant. 

Overall, affordability is a significant factor that impacts home broadband adoption. By addressing this issue, we can 
help to ensure that all individuals and families have access to the many benefits of home broadband, regardless of 
their income level or geographic location. 

Solution: Develop awareness strategies that improve adoption through marketing and communication, develop and 
implement subgrantee accountability and compliance strategies, and prioritize geographically challenging, 
economically distressed, and historically underrepresented areas. 

Inclusivity 
Technological inclusivity is impacted by discrimination and bias. Research has shown that the digital divide 
discriminates based on age, income, race, ethnicity, educational attainment, and geography. Discrimination and bias 
in relation to digital equity, home broadband adoption, and technology can manifest in several ways: 

Socioeconomic Status: Discrimination can also manifest in the form of unequal access to technology based on an 
individual’s socioeconomic status. For example, low-income families may not be able to afford home computers, 
tablets, or smartphones, and may have to rely on public libraries or schools for access to technology. 

Online Harassment: Discrimination can take the form of online harassment and cyberbullying, including racist, 
sexist, or homophobic hate speech, that can prevent certain individuals or groups from fully participating in online 
spaces. 

Algorithmic Bias: Discrimination can also manifest in the form of algorithmic bias, which occurs when automated 
decision-making systems perpetuate existing social biases and inequalities. This can result in discriminatory 
outcomes, such as biased hiring practices or discriminatory loan decisions. 

Accessibility 
Many people with disabilities face physical barriers that can make it difficult to access technology, such as physical 
limitations that make it difficult to use a mouse or keyboard, or visual or auditory impairments that make it difficult to see 
or hear digital content. Assistive technology, such as screen readers or speech recognition software, can help people 
with disabilities access and use technology. However, many assistive technology solutions can be expensive, and 
people with disabilities may not have access to the necessary technology or training to use it effectively. People with 
disabilities may also face barriers to accessing digital content, such as websites or online applications that are not 
designed to be accessible to people with visual or auditory impairments. This can limit their ability to access online 
resources, including educational and employment opportunities. 

Geographic Location 
Inequality occurs when certain communities are excluded from advanced connectivity due to a lack of investment in 
networks in low-income communities or those with concentrations of racial or ethnic minorities. Internet service 



 

59 

 

providers may discriminate against minority communities by offering them lower quality or more expensive broadband 
services compared to other communities. This practice, known as digital redlining, can exacerbate existing inequalities 
and limit access to critical online resources. 

Additionally, rural areas struggle for digital equity as high-speed connectivity is often less likely to be available where 
they live. Rural areas are less attractive to internet service providers as there are fewer potential customers per mile of 
infrastructure deployed. Additionally, even when high-speed internet is available in a rural or small-town community, 
digital inclusion programs are resources aren’t as readily available given the low population density and lack of 
capacity among local institutions to provide such services.  

Language and Cultural Barriers 
Ethnic minority communities may face language barriers when it comes to understanding and accessing broadband 
services or digital inclusion programs. This can limit their ability to navigate complex technical terms and understand 
their rights as consumers and use applications and hardware that are designed for much of the population.  

Solution: Prioritize geographically challenging, economically distressed, and historically underrepresented areas, 
establish non-deployment initiatives and align subprograms with the goals and objectives of the state’s Digital Equity 
Plan, develop an approach for communities to define infrastructure and equity program roll out, and develop and 
implement subgrantee accountability and compliance strategies. 

Relevance/Awareness 
A lack of relevance/awareness can contribute to perceived issues of broadband affordability in several ways. When 
people do not see the relevance of having broadband internet access or are unaware of its benefits, they may be less 
willing to pay for it. This can make broadband seem less affordable to them, even if the actual cost is reasonable. 
Additionally, if people do not see the relevance of broadband, they may not prioritize it when it comes to their 
household budget, which can make it difficult for them to justify the expense. 

Furthermore, if people do not see the relevance of broadband or are unaware of its benefits, they may not use it as 
often or as effectively as they could. For example, if they do not understand how to use online resources to save money 
or access services, they may not see the value in having broadband. This can create a cycle where people do not use 
broadband to its full potential, which can make it seem even less relevant and more expensive over time. 

Moreover, a lack of relevance can also impact the demand for broadband, which can affect the cost of service. If 
there is low demand for broadband in a particular area, providers may charge higher prices to make up for the lack of 
customers. This can make broadband seem less affordable for people who do not see the relevance of having it. 

Overall, a lack of relevance/awareness can contribute to perceived issues of broadband affordability by making it 
less appealing to consumers, reducing their willingness to pay for it, and limiting their ability to use it effectively. 

Solution: Develop awareness strategies that improve adoption through marketing and communication, coordinate 
deployment planning, and prioritize geographically challenging, economically distressed, and historically 
underrepresented areas.  

  



 

60 

 

Digital Equity Impact Matrix 
The following table provides a summary of the aforementioned deployment obstacles and barriers and identifies; 1) 
the estimated impact the barrier may have on the success of the BEAD and SDPEG programs; and 2) the likelihood 
that through the collective action of public, private, and other partners the barrier can be overcome. The estimated 
impact and the state’s ability to address each barrier were determined through engagement with MIHI’s Partnership 
Roundtable. 

Impact on BEAD and SDEPG 
The Impact on BEAD and SDEPG metric in the table below was derived from members of the Partnership Roundtable 
responding to questions asking how significant they felt each barrier would to the success of the BEAD and SDEPG 
programs. The table is coded as follows: 

How significant will <barrier> be to achieving the goals of 
universal high-speed internet availability and digital equity 
in Michigan? 

Not a 
Barrier 

Minor 
Barrier 

Moderate 
Barrier 

Serious 
Barrier 

Likely to Overcome 
The Likely to Overcome metric in the table below was derived from members of the Partnership Roundtable responding 
to questions regarding the likelihood that, through collective action, the various barriers can be overcome. The table is 
coded as follows: 

Please rate the likelihood that the barrier of <barrier> can 
be overcome through the collective action of public, 
private, and other interested partners?  

Not Likely Somewhat 
Likely 

Probably 
Likely 

Definitely 
Likely 

Digital Equity Impact Matrix 
Barrier Impact on  

BEAD 
 Likely to 

Overcome 

Device Access                   
Digital Literacy and Skills                   
Affordability                  
Inclusivity                    
Relevance/ Awareness                   

Table 11: Digital Equity Impact Matrix 

The Impact Matrix is designed to help identify the barriers that are most significant to program success and are likely to 
be overcome through the collective action of MIHI and its partners.  

  



 

61 

 

Implementation Plan 
The implementation plan was developed by first conducting a comprehensive stakeholder engagement process to 
gather information on barriers, needs, recommendations, and priorities. Stakeholder engagement included community 
meetings, partner and stakeholder meetings, and consultations with tribal leaders. Following MIHI’s extensive 
stakeholder engagement, the plan was developed by synthesizing all the data and feedback collected to identify key 
priorities for the BEAD program.  The priorities identified then informed the execution strategies required to ensure the 
priorities for the program were addressed. For each of the execution strategies developed, planned activities have 
been identified as the actionable and discreet steps to implement the strategies and successfully implement the BEAD 
Program. 

 

  

Figure 9: Implementation Plan Development Approach  

Stakeholder Engagement Process 
The stakeholder engagement process for the BEAD Program was developed to also align to the requirements of the 

Digital Equity Plan Act and give a voice to communities with the greatest digital needs. Additionally, following the 

development of this plan, ongoing community feedback is planned over the life of the BEAD Program to track the 

impact of MIHI’s execution strategies and planned activities, ensuring that the priorities identified in this document are 

achieved.  

The MIHI office developed a robust and innovative community and stakeholder engagement process called MI 

Connected Future (MiCF). The MiCF aimed to holistically and authentically engage with communities and stakeholders 

to provide the state with the input and direction needed to achieve universal broadband access and a more digitally 

equitable state. Comprised of in-person regional meetings and partnership roundtables comprised of industry leaders 

and organizations representing covered populations, MiCF actively supports robust community outreach and input 

while providing an opportunity for industry to provide additional barriers in the broadband space in a comprehensive 

and equitable manner. MIHI adopted the ethos of “listen first, plan second” to ensure the needs and current challenges 

of communities and stakeholders were collected and incorporated into the planning process equitably.  Results of 

MIHI’s  efforts will be available to the public and continuously updated on our website. The approach included three 

primary components:  

1. Community Listening Tour 

2. Partnership Roundtables 

3. Tribal Consultations 

Community Listening Tour 
The MIHI office conducted a collaborative state-wide tour to engage with communities to build trust and long-term 
relationships, support quality data collection and analysis, highlight stories of needs and success, and emphasize 
cyclical input. Each region and community in the state is unique and approaching the needs of each in the way that 



 

62 

 

serves them best promotes equity. MiCF supports equitable engagement by respecting the unique needs of each 
community. This manifests as relationship building with community leaders prior to hosting community meetings in their 
towns. Buy-in is crucial for the success of MiCF, and ultimately for the success of BEAD and DEA programs. In the 
conversations leading up to a formal community meeting, MIHI acted within its capacity to understand the issues that 
are important to the community, including critical context regarding past and current broadband and digital equity and 
inclusion activities. MIHI tailored the approach to the community meeting based on the information gathered prior to 
the event, however, the feedback prompts during the meetings remained the same for all stakeholders to gather 
consistent data that could be analyzed.  

During the meetings, community members were given the opportunity to share their thoughts on prioritizing BEAD 
Program funding to deliver affordable, equitable, and reliable high speed internet service throughout Michigan. MIHI 
divided the community meeting portion of MiCF into two phases: initial data collection and public comment/feedback. 
Phase one consisted of 31 MiCF stops throughout all ten economic Prosperity Regions in Michigan. Phase two 
consisted of an additional ten stops to collect public comment and feedback on the draft BEAD Five-Year Action Plan 
and the Digital Equity Plan. 

MIHI created additional opportunities for engagement with special MiCF sessions with youth in Flint and Wayne State 
University and through the Community Meeting in a Box (CMIB) program. CMIBs provided advocacy groups and 
communities with an opportunity to engage in the MiCF process if they were not able to attend one of the in-person 
sessions. CMIBs contained all of the presentation and data collection materials, along with a meeting facilitation guide 
for hosting local MiCF events without MIHI staff present. Forty-five CMIBs were sent to organizations and communities 
during the MiCF listening tour.   

Various approaches were used to promote participation in the Community Listening Tour meetings, including social 
media posts, email campaigns, and distribution of flyers. Special attention was placed on creating opportunities for 
engagement among historically marginalized populations who have been underrepresented in community decision-
making. These groups included low-income individuals, aging adults, rural residents, refugees, members of racial or 
ethnic minority groups, veterans, people with disabilities, those with language barriers, and incarcerated individuals.  

The initial data collection phase of MICF aimed to gather feedback from Michiganders regarding their biggest 
broadband barriers and their priorities for addressing digital equity. Collection of quality data is crucial for 
determining the correct baseline for broadband service in Michigan. Quality data also supports an equitable 
deployment strategy in both the infrastructure and digital equity programs. Questions asked and feedback requested 
from community members were consistent throughout the state-
wide tour, however, the context in which the questions were 
delivered was unique to the type of participants MIHI was 
engaging. The MIHI team has analyzed feedback from and 
engaged with other professional organizations to ensure analysis 
accurately reflects the data collected. MIHI plans to engage with 
experts in the digital equity field and assess existing digital equity 
indices to highlight areas of need in a geospatial format to support 
the implementation of both BEAD and the DE programs. The results 
of the priority identification and rankings data gathered during the 
listening tour can be found in the regional profiles in the Needs 
and Gaps Assessment section.  

  Figure 10: Summary of MIHI's State-Wide Tours and 
Participation 



 

63 

 

Partnership Roundtables 
Partnership Roundtables represent MIHI’s work to regularly convene a wide variety of stakeholders to provide 
feedback and input on various office activities related to BEAD and DEA. A series of virtual Partnership Roundtables 
were convened monthly from January 2023 to July 2023 to gather input from the wider external stakeholders 
throughout Michigan irrespective of location. Participants of the Roundtables consisted of representatives from 
community anchor institutions, tribal nations, organizations representing covered populations, internet service 
providers, local government, and many others. The cross-sectoral format aimed to share information and resources, 
raise awareness of potential issues concerning infrastructure deployment and digital inclusion, and provide MIHI with 
policy and operational guidance for the development and implementation of the BEAD Program. 

The Partnership Roundtables met regularly throughout the development of the BEAD Five Year Action Plan and will 
continue through the development of the Initial Proposal and BEAD implementation. Each meeting focused on a topic 
or theme. Participants were asked targeted questions to which MIHI would collect responses. The first meeting was 
used to level-set the BEAD Program goals and requirements, introduce the format of the discussions, and seek 
participants’ input on ultimate goals. The subsequent meetings focused on different themes such as deployment 
equity/infrastructure availability, affordability, workforce development, and digital skills. The discussions allowed 
stakeholders to provide direct input on equitable solutions and strategies regarding broadband deployment in 
underserved Michigan areas, affordability program ideas, and structures for execution, workforce development 
investment, digital skills training, and curriculum. Future meetings will focus on the impact of the program and whether 
participants are witnessing improvements in digital connectivity and equity.  

Tribal Consultations 
Tribal Consultation sessions were held with Tribal leaders and representatives. These discussions focused on critical 
issues related to BEAD and digital equity and invited Tribal representatives to provide advice and insights on how best 
to get tribal communities connected. MIHI requested Tribal input on key considerations regarding digital equity for 
Tribal nations, identification of unserved and underserved areas, listing of community anchor institutions eligible for 
funding, and broadband deployment and digital equity projects within Tribal nations. MIHI seeks to collaborate with 
Tribal nations on the Five-Year Action Plan and Digital Equity Plan to provide digital access and connectivity to all of 
Michigan’s tribes. The following Tribal nations were invite to participate in the consultation, an asterisk indicates their 
participation. 

Bay Milles Indian Community* 
Grand Traverse Band of Ottawa and Chippewa Indians* 
Hannahville Indian Community 
Keweenaw Bay Indian Community* 
Lac Vieux Desert Band of Lake Superior Chippewa Indians of Michigan 
Little River Band of Ottawa Indians 
Little Traverse Bay Bands of Odawa Indians 
Match-e-be-nash-she-wish Band of Potawatomi Indians* 
Nottawaseppi Huron Band of Potawatomi 
Pokeagon Band of Potawatomi Indians 
Saginaw Chippewa Indian Tribe of Michigan* 
Sault Ste. Marie Tribe of Chippewa Indians* 

Priorities 
Following the stakeholder engagement, the MIHI Office used the detailed feedback, input, and data to develop high-
level priorities for the BEAD program. Five primary priorities are identified. Each priority is then further divided into 
multiple key strategies, and each strategies and priority has several planned activities for implementation. 

 



 

64 

 

Priorities for Broadband Deployment and Digital Equity 
Priority Description 

Reduce 
barriers to 

broadband 
deployment 

 

Reducing barriers to infrastructure deployment is critical to the timely execution of the BEAD Program and to 
realizing the program’s goals of providing affordable high-speed internet access to Michigan’s 
un/underserved locations. These barriers include lengthy and complex processes for permitting, pole 
attachments, and right of way access, among others, and a potential shortage in broadband workforce. Some 
of these existing processes in the state are complex and pose a hurdle to successful and timely broadband 
infrastructure deployment. Expediting these processes requires a collaborative effort between the state, local 
governments, private sector, and communities. By reducing the complexity and time associated with these 
processes and ensuring the right set of skills are available, MHI can accelerate broadband deployment and 
ensure a timely delivery of the BEAD Program projects.  

Maximize 
the use and 

reach of 
federal funds 

To achieve equitable access to affordable internet throughout Michigan, including high-cost areas with 
difficult topography and remote locations, Michigan will aim to maximize private sector participation and 
matching funds. This priority is of paramount importance to MIHI particularly given Michigan’s geography 
and the presence of remote areas. Certain rural areas in Michigan have extremely low population densities, 
with just 2-20 individuals residing per square mile making physical infrastructure deployment difficult and 
costly. It is by extending the reach of federal and local funds that MIHI will be able to serve these locations 
and ensure the goal of universal high-speed internet availability is achieved. 

Promote 
digital equity 
and inclusion  

Promoting digital equity is crucial in today’s increasingly connected world. However, there are multiple factors 
such as device access, skills, affordability, and inclusivity, that perpetuate the digital divide, making it difficult 
for some individuals to fully participate in the digital world. In Michigan alone, 1.2 million households still 
struggle with internet connectivity22 and approximately 730,000 households face barriers related to high-
speed internet access23. This means that approximately 30% of Michigan households do not have an 
affordable, reliable high-speed internet connections Additionally, Two-fifths (40%) of these households report 
not being able to afford to pay for home internet subscriptions at all, which further exacerbates the digital 
divide.24 Access to the internet has become a critical aspect of modern life, and those who are unable to 
connect are at a distinct disadvantage when it comes to finding a job, participating in online learning, or even 
accessing essential healthcare services. Addressing adoption, affordability, digital skills, and devices supports 
the deployment of network infrastructure and helps to ensure their long-term sustainability. 

Deploy 
resilient and 
sustainable 
broadband 

infrastructure  

Deploying resilient and sustainable infrastructure is essential for ensuring the long-term viability and capacity 
of new infrastructure to meet the needs of Michigan’s residents now and far into the future. With the increasing 
number of harsh weather events caused by climate change, it has become imperative to adopt a proactive 
approach that prioritizes sustainable infrastructure deployment. By investing in sustainable infrastructure that 
lasts for decades, the state of Michigan can mitigate the effects of climate change and save significant costs in 
the long run and ensure that BEAD investments can be sustained over time. Sustainable networks also mean 
ensuring that BEAD funded connections can meet the connectivity needs of Michigan’s residents now and for 
the future. BEAD-funded networks should provide more than the minimum required connection speeds to 
ensure Michiganders have the connections they need far into the future. Prioritizing resiliency and 
sustainability aim to address and deliver benefits now and for generations to come.  

Empower 
communities 

through 
engagement 

and 
involvement 

Incorporating community input plays a crucial role in driving program planning, spending, and broadband 
deployment where it is needed the most. It can also create an equitable approach to infrastructure deployment 
that prioritizes the unique needs of communities throughout the state of Michigan. By giving underrepresented 
communities an opportunity to share their thoughts and concerns, the implementation of federal programs like 
BEAD can ensure that their voices are heard, and their views are considered. Engaging communities to drive 
program planning can also lead to innovation and creative solutions to the unique challenges faced by 
different communities.  

Table 10: Priorities and Description for Broadband Deployment and Digital Equity 

 
22 American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates 
23 Federal Communications Commission Broadband Data Collection and fabric Version 3 
24 Horrigan, J. (2021). Affordability and the Digital Divide: The first in a 3-part series on digital connectivity during the pandemic (1). EveryoneOn. 

https://www.everyoneon.org/2021-national-study 



 

65 

 

Key Strategies 
To support its goals, objectives, and priorities MIHI plans to adopt the following execution strategies. The strategies 
described in this section are also supported by the planned activities described in the following section. 

Re
d

uc
e 

b
a

rr
ie

rs
 to

 b
ro

a
d

b
a

nd
 d

ep
lo

ym
en

t 

To reduce barriers to broadband infrastructure deployment, MIHI will adopt several strategies to streamline 
processes and support the development of a skilled workforce. These strategies include: 

▪ Streamline permitting processes: Identify ways to streamline permitting processes required for 
infrastructure deployment. 

▪ Coordinate deployment planning: Establish regular communication and coordination structures with 
relevant entities to prevent permitting and other delays to deployment. 

▪ Standardize processes and supporting documentation, where possible: Standardize the terms of 
fiber make-ready agreements such as pole attachments and easements.  

▪ Encourage the development of a unified approach for right of way access and fiber deployment 
and maintenance: Work with stakeholders to develop a consistent process and unified approach, 
where possible, to right of way access for fiber deployment and maintenance.  

▪ Prioritize workforce development plans and support job training programs: Support the supply of a 
highly skilled workforce for broadband infrastructure projects. 

 

 

 



 

66 

 

M
a

xi
m

iz
e 

th
e 

us
e 

a
nd

 r
ea

ch
 o

f f
ed

er
a

l f
un

d
s 

To maximize the reach of federal funds, MIHI will adopt several strategies to leverage existing assets and 
encourage private sector participation and contributions. These strategies include: 

▪ Encourage the use of existing infrastructure and assets: Encourage program participants to 
leverage the use of existing infrastructure and assets by introducing scoring criteria in the proposed 
subprograms.   

▪ Maximize private sector participation and promote the development of public-private partnerships.  
To promote the use of public-private partnerships, MIHI will provide guidance and resources to 
local and regional governments to support them in developing partnerships with ISPs. Additionally, 
subgrant programs will incentivize private-sector matching funds in areas with lower estimated 
deployment costs to maximize the reach of federal funds. 

▪ Improve participation in the State’s subprograms by running a fair and transparent subgrantee 
selection process. Ensure that the application process is widely communicated and that all 
resources and materials are available to all applicants through MIHI’s website. Also, the selection 
criteria will be developed to ensure smaller ISPs, local governments, and utilities are afforded the 
same opportunities as larger ISPs.  

▪ Establish a Middle Mile focused program to ensure infrastructure is available for last mile projects. 
To help ensure future last mile projects are supported by middle mile networks, MIHI will develop a 
subprogram specifically for middle mile networks.  

▪ Develop and implement subgrantee accountability and compliance strategies. Subgrantee 
accountability and compliance is of the utmost importance to Michigan. MIHI will prioritize 
subgrantee compliance by developing a risk assessment and monitoring framework for applicants 
and subgrantees. Additionally, support will be provided to subgrantees including resources such as 
compliant reporting templates and guidance. 

 



 

67 

 

Pr
o

m
o

te
 d

ig
ita

l e
q

ui
ty

 a
nd

 in
cl

us
io

n 
 

To promote digital equity and inclusion, MIHI will adopt several strategies that will help ensure unserved 
areas, underserved areas, and CAIs have access to reliable high-speed internet access and that non-
deployment programs are not only established but have a means to continue beyond the period of 
performance of the BEAD Program. These strategies include: 

▪ Prioritize geographically challenging, economically distressed, and historically underrepresented 
areas:  To prioritize these areas MIHI will develop targeted subprograms and leverage enhanced 
scoring criteria. These locations will be identified through data and mapping carried out internally 
by MIHI and use data from the FCC, Census, and other sources. Fiber deployment in these 
locations will be prioritized, where possible.   

▪ Establish non-deployment initiatives and align subprograms with the goals and objectives of the 
State’s Digital Equity Plan. To align the BEAD and the Digital Equity programs, MIHI developed a 
coordinated stakeholder engagement and listening process that collected data and needs to inform 
the development of both programs. To further align BEAD non-deployment uses and the SDEPG 
programs MIHI is developing this Five-Year Action Plan and the Digital Equity Plan in parallel, 
using consistent resources across both plan developments to help ensure alignment.  

▪ Develop awareness strategies that improve adoption through marketing and communication. 
Support awareness campaigns for digital equity subprograms developed by the State as well as 
federal program targeting low- and medium-income households such as the Affordable 
Connectivity Program. MIHI will continue to raise awareness and provide communications to the 
public on existing and future subprograms through social media, email campaigns, and other 
media.  

 



 

68 

 

A
d

vo
ca

te
 fo

r 
re

si
lie

nc
y 

a
nd

 s
us

ta
in

a
b

ili
ty

 fo
r 

b
ro

a
d

b
a

nd
 in

fr
a

st
ru

ct
ur

e 
d

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 

Advocating for resiliency and sustainability in the development of broadband infrastructure requires a 
multifaceted approach that not only prioritizes resilient and sustainable infrastructure, but also seeks to 
prioritize long-term sustainability and capacity of service and equity programs, beyond the period of 
performance of the BEAD Program. To support the implementation of resilient and sustainable projects, 
MIHI plans to execute the following strategies: 

▪ Include resiliency and sustainability criteria as part of subprogram requirements: Work with 
identified key partners to determine the right resiliency and sustainability standards and 
requirements for the subprograms that MIHI intends to administer.  

▪ Promote the deployment of fiber and define the “Extremely High-Cost per Location”: Set a high  
Extremely High-Cost per Location threshold, given the funding allocation, to maximize fiber 
adoption throughout the state.  

▪ Encourage service providers to upgrade outdated infrastructure: Incentivize applicants to upgrade 
their existing assets by including evaluation criteria related to the use of existing assets in the 
subprogram application requirements. Overall, the strategy is to incentivize applicants to upgrade 
their existing assets by providing them with financial support and related evaluation criteria. This 
can help increase the quality of assets and thus, improve the applicant’s chances of being selected 
for subprograms.  

▪ Assess project applications for long-term service and reliability. Ensuring that affordable, 
accessible, high-capacity internet service is sustained beyond the period of performance of the 
BEAD Program and creating lasting change for universal availability in the State of Michigan is a 
top priority for the MIHI Office. To achieve this goal, MIHI will evaluate all applications based on 
long-term reliability and affordability. This means that proposed solutions and projects must be able 
to provide consistent, high-speed internet access over an extended period of time, ideally beyond 
the duration of the BEAD Program. Additionally, MIHI may require applicants to provide a detailed 
plan for how they will maintain and improve service quality over time or demonstrate a successful 
track record of maintaining reliable internet service.  

▪ Enable variable match requirements based on cost of deployment. Adopt a strategy of variable 
match requirement depending on the cost and feasibility of broadband infrastructure deployment. 
This strategy is intended to ensure that all locations and communities in the state, regardless of 
location or existing infrastructure will have access to affordable high-speed internet.  

 



 

69 

 

Em
p

o
w

er
 c

o
m

m
un

iti
es

 th
ro

ug
h 

en
g

a
g

em
en

t a
nd

 in
vo

lv
em

en
t 

Maintain the stakeholder and community engagement activities described in the Stakeholder Engagement 
Process section above throughout the implementation of the BEAD Program.  MIHI will continue to seek 
input and involvement from the communities in Michigan to help shape the structure of the BEAD Program 
and course correct, if needed. To empower communities in the BEAD Program development and 
implementation, MIHI will adopt the following strategies: 

▪ Leverage community inputs to drive subprogram planning and implementation: Actively seek and 
leverage community input during the planning and implementation of subprograms. This will involve 
identifying pathways and channels through which communities can provide input on subprogram 
development. Such channels may include public meetings, surveys, focus groups, townhalls, 
formation of local or regional technology councils and other similar means of gathering input. The 
insights gained from these community engagement efforts will be used to help shape the direction of 
MIHI subprograms, build awareness from program progress and success, and ensure that 
processes and programs are designed to meet the unique needs of Michigan communities and 
provide maximum benefit to all residents of the state. 

▪ Develop an approach for communities to define infrastructure and equity program roll out: 
Determine the best approach for collecting and incorporating community needs for infrastructure 
and non-deployment digital equity programs. This strategy is intended to give communities a voice 
in how they will be served through the BEAD Program.  

▪ Include evidence of community support and partnerships as part of subprogram requirements. 
Encourage subprogram applicants to engage and communicate with the communities they plan to 
serve. As part of the evaluation criteria, MIHI intends to require evidence of consultations, 
partnership and/or support from targeted communities.    

 

  



 

70 

 

Planned Activities 
In this section, the MIHI Office provides a comprehensive outline of the specific activities that it will undertake to 
implement each of the execution strategies provided above. This also includes identifying the funding sources for each 
activity to ensure that the MIHI Office has the necessary resources to execute those strategies successfully. 

By detailing the below activities and their sources of funding, the MIHI Office can provide a clear roadmap for 
achieving the state’s broadband goals and objectives and bring the benefits of high-speed internet connectivity to the 
state’s residents and businesses. This information will be beneficial not only to the MIHI Office but also to its 
stakeholders and key partners who will need to be aware of those activities.  

 

Activity Key 
Implementor 

Funding 
Source 

Expected Outcome(s) 

Continue to work on and improve the 
GIS mapping for the state to identify 
unserved and underserved locations, 
Community Anchor Institutions, and 
existing assets.   

MIHI BEAD Planning 
Funds / 
SDEPG Funds 

Comprehensive and accurate maps to help 
identify areas that lack connectivity so that they 
are prioritized in terms of funding.    
Funding for this activity will be through BEAD 
and SDEPG planning funds and output data will 
be published on MIHI’s website.   

Work with Michigan core and 
enabling stakeholders to streamline 
the permitting process for broadband 
infrastructure projects. For example, 
leveraging the Michigan Information 
Office (MIO) permitting dashboard 
and support tools or the Michigan 
Infrastructure Council (MIC) Dig-
Once Portal. 

MIHI and 
Core/Enabling 
Stakeholders  

BEAD Planning 
Funds 

Reduced processing or waiting times for 
securing permits and approvals for construction 
and/or right of way access. Increased 
transparency and information for subgrantees. 
No funds are expected to be incurred for this 
activity but in the event funds are required MIHI 
will use a portion of its BEAD planning funds.  

Set up regular meetings with core 
and enabling stakeholders and other 
relevant stakeholders regarding 
standardizing permitting processes 

MIHI and 
Core/Enabling 
Stakeholders 

BEAD Planning 
Funds 

Coordinate with local governments 
and utilities regarding pole 
attachments and make-ready and 
create faster systems for resolving 
disputes. 

MIHI, Local 
Governments, 
and 
Utilities 

BEAD Planning 
Funds 

Reduced dispute times for pole attachments 
related issues and aligned responsibilities for 
the benefit of broadband expansion. No funds 
are expected to be incurred for this activity but 
in the event funds are required MIHI will use a 
portion of its BEAD planning funds. 



 

71 

 

Activity Key 
Implementor 

Funding 
Source 

Expected Outcome(s) 

Hold meetings with industry 
associations, labor unions, and other 
relevant stakeholders to discuss 
workforce development plan 

MIHI, Industry 
Associations, 
Labor Unions, 
Enabling 
Partners 
 

BEAD Planning 
Funds 

A comprehensive workforce development plan 
that incorporates stakeholder input. MIHI will 
use BEAD and SDEPG planning funds to 
support the logistics of holding such meetings. 

Leverage existing partnerships to 
develop the workforce development 
plan with input from wider Michigan 
workforce assessment/plan and LEO 

MIHI and LEO BEAD Planning 
Funds 

Participate in the development of 
training programs for skills and 
licenses required by the 
telecommunications industry  

MIHI and LEO BEAD Planning 
Funds 

Increased availability of a skilled broadband 
workforce. Funding for this activity will be 
provided through both BEAD and SDEPG 
planning funds.  

Research MIHI’s ability to support 
county drain and road commission 
permitting offices with increased 
review capacity. 

MIHI BEAD 
Administrative 
Funds 

Increased capacity of permitting offices to 
review requests for the anticipated influx of 
permit applications. Decreased wait time for 
permitting approvals and support for project 
deployment timelines.  

Determine information, data, and 
input from stakeholders required to 
establish a scoring methodology to 
maximize private sector contributions 
while not excluding participation from 
smaller ISPs and other eligible 
subgrant applicants 

MIHI 
 

BEAD Planning 
Funds 

Increased amount of funding available and 
support a greater number of broadband 
projects 

Set up a dedicated subprogram for 
middle mile infrastructure with 
associated evaluation criteria and 
selection process 

MIHI BEAD Planning 
Funds 

A subprogram that is tailored specifically to 
addressing the unique challenges and 
opportunities associated with middle mile 
infrastructure. This program will likely have its 
own evaluation criteria that take into account 
factors such as existing infrastructure, 
community needs, and the technical feasibility 
of the proposed project. The selection process 
for this program would also be tailored to meet 
the unique needs of middle mile infrastructure 
projects, such as considering the impact on 
existing networks and the potential to catalyze 
the development of last mile infrastructure. 



 

72 

 

Activity Key 
Implementor 

Funding 
Source 

Expected Outcome(s) 

Identify other sources of BEAD 
matching funds to help ensure that the 
reach of federal funds is maximized   

MIHI BEAD Planning 
Funds 

Identify potential state funding that can be used 
to support matching funds and maximize the 
reach of BEAD funds. Funding for this activity 
will be based on state support. No funds are 
expected to be incurred for this activity but in 
the event funds are required MIHI will use a 
portion of its BEAD planning funds. 

Provide technical resources and 
assistance to eligible entities to 
support their participation in the 
subgrant process 

MIHI BEAD Planning 
Funds 

Comprehensive technical support for potential 
applicants to develop projects and submit 
compliant applications. The goal of this support 
is to help ensure that eligible entities have 
access to the resources they need to 
successfully participate in the subgrant process 
and compete for funding. MIHI may leverage 
some of its BEAD and SDEPG planning funds to 
support this activity. 

Set up a risk evaluation, validation, 
and monitoring framework for 
applicants and subgrantees 

MIHI BEAD Planning 
Funds  

Reduced risk for noncompliance with the 
federal award and early identification or any 
reporting or compliance issues. 

Develop targeted subprograms for 
digital equity and inclusion based on 
needs identified through the 
community listening tours  

MIHI BEAD Planning 
Funds 

Subprograms that incorporate the needs 
identified during community listening tours, 
which solicit feedback from key stakeholders. 
The targeted subprograms will likely have their 
own unique goals, evaluation criteria, and 
selection processes, based on the specific 
needs and priorities identified by the 
communities.  

Support smaller ISPs, advocacy 
organizations, and other similar 
stakeholders with technical assistance 
to provide low-cost service (including 
ACP) through information and 
application support 

MIHI BEAD Planning 
Funds 

Increased participation in the Affordable 
Connectivity Program (ACP) and increase the 
availability of affordable broadband services. 



 

73 

 

Activity Key 
Implementor 

Funding 
Source 

Expected Outcome(s) 

Leverage existing workforce training 
programs with colleges, universities, 
and workforce development entities 
to develop mentoring and training 
programs for digital literacy and 
skills. Establishing an education 
pipeline through K-12.  

MIHI and LEO BEAD Planning 
Funds 

Increased availability of education and training 
programs for digital literacy and skills. Long 
term skill gap reduction through increased 
education on digital skills in schools. 

Develop a plan for digital equity and 
inclusion that targets covered 
populations and underrepresented 
areas 

MIHI BEAD Planning 
Funds  

A comprehensive plan that prioritizes the 
unique needs of community in the way that 
serves them best and promotes equity. 

Promote ACP adoption using ongoing 
information and awareness 
campaigns through social media 
posts, email campaigns, and flyer 
distribution 

MIHI BEAD Planning 
Funds 

Improvement in broadband adoption rates 
among low-income households. MIHI will work 
with ISPs to promote the availability of the ACP 
program among lower income households. 

Align Digital Equity Capacity grant 
activities and non-deployment 
programs developed through BEAD 

MIHI BEAD Planning 
Funds 

Aligning the BEAD goals and objectives 
included in this document with those of the 
Digital Equity plan and ensuring that the 
activities are complementary rather than 
duplicative.  

Work with Stakeholders to determine 
infrastructure resiliency core elements  

Core/Enabling 
Stakeholders 

BEAD Planning 
Funds 

Broadband infrastructure resiliency 
requirements and guidance for applicants that 
supports long-term infrastructure 

Use a data driven approach to set the 
Extremely High Cost Per Location 
Threshold for addressing high-cost 
areas 

MIHI BEAD Planning 
Funds 

An Extremely High Cost Per Location Threshold 
that promotes the deployment of fiber as much 
as possible within the given funding amount   



 

74 

 

Activity Key 
Implementor 

Funding 
Source 

Expected Outcome(s) 

Establish minimum requirements for a 
cybersecurity risk management plan 
with the support of core and enabling 
stakeholders 

MIHI and Core/ 
Enabling 
Stakeholders  

BEAD planning 
Funds  

Cybersecurity mitigation plan and guidance 
that is made available to subgrantees to ensure 
their compliance with federal requirements.    

Develop scoring methodology that 
assesses physical and financial long-
term viability and sustainability of 
service 

MIHI BEAD planning 
Funds  

Deployment projects that provide long-term 
affordable service to unserved and underserved 
locations     

Continue community and partnership 
communications and engagement 

MIHI BEAD planning 
Funds/ SDEPG 
Funds 

Input from communities and stakeholders on 
needs, gaps and priorities which can continue 
to shape the outcomes, support decision-
making, and be used to measure the success of 
the BEAD program 

Create and leverage local or 
regional technology committees to 
provide input on scoring or project 
selection 

Enabling 
Stakeholders 

BEAD planning 
Funds  

Projects awarded are based on community 
needs and input.  

Provide transparency, accessibility 
(including multiple languages), and 
empower communities with 
knowledge through public facing 
documents and websites 

MIHI BEAD Planning 
Funds / 
SDEPG Funds 

Reduced misinformation, clearer 
communication, and increased broadband 
adoption 

Develop scoring methodology to 
incentivize applicants that 
demonstrate addressing community 
needs 

MIHI  BEAD Planning 
Funds 

Prioritizing unserved and underserved locations   

Establish application requirement for 
applicants to demonstrate community 
support or feedback related to issues 
with reliability and speed of service 

MIHI BEAD Planning 
Funds 

Addressing reliability and service issues based 
on community input and actual service 
performance.  

Table 11: Planned Activities, Key Implementor, Expected Outcomes, and Activity 

 

 



 

75 

 

 

 

Estimated Timeline for Universal Service 
Michigan estimates that universal availability of reliable, affordable, high-speed internet throughout Michigan will occur by 2030. In the below Gannt 
chart, Michigan estimates the start and end dates for BEAD Program activities based on released guidance from the NTIA and due dates set in the 
NOFO.  

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 11: Estimated Universal Timeline Stakeholder Engagement through Challenge Process 



 

76 

 

 

 

 

Execution of this timeline depends on the approval and responsiveness of the NTIA and the overcoming of obstacles and barriers as described in the 
section Obstacles and Barriers of this plan. 

Figure 12: Estimated Universal Timeline Subgrantee Applications through Deployment 



 

77 

 

 

Estimated Cost for Universal Service 
The MIHI does not yet have an estimate for the cost of achieving universal availability. The cost for universal service 
depends on multiple programs in addition to BEAD including RDOF, CAF, ROBIN, and others.  The office is still waiting 
to receive cost modeling data from CostQuest via an agreement with the NTIA. 

 

  



 

78 

 

Alignment 
The purpose of this section is to explain how the Five-Year Action Plan is aligned to Michigan’s priorities and other 
existing and planned efforts. The following identifies and summarizes other existing state plans and efforts and how 
each enables or supports the BEAD five-year action plan, the state digital equity plan, and vice versa. This is a not an 
exhaustive list but represents a best effort of the MIHI Office to identify key plans across the state government. Plans 
are organized by topic. 

Economic Development  

Michigan Economic Development Corporation (MEDC) Five-Year Strategic Plan 
The MEDC is Michigan’s economic development lead with a mission to achieve long-term economic prosperity for 
Michiganders by investing in communities, enabling the growth of good jobs, and promoting Michigan’s strong image 
worldwide. The six strategic focus areas rely heavily on MIHI achieving universal broadband availability and 
improved digital equity: 

1. Attract, keep, and grow businesses in industries that support maximum growth in jobs, wages and investments. 
2. Cultivate the skills and talent needed for in-demand and high-growth occupations statewide. 
3. Collaborate with local communities and partners to create places in which people and talent want to live, 

work, visit and play. 
4. Support entrepreneurial growth to enable commercialization and new high-tech business creation. 
5. Promote Michigan’s image as a world-class business location and travel destination. 
6. Help existing small and microbusinesses grow and thrive and improve economic prosperity for all through 

small business ownership. 

Robust, reliable, and affordable high-speed internet that is universally available supports business and job growth, 
creates attractive communities, supports entrepreneurs, promotes the state’s competitiveness, and enables economic 
prosperity for all. 

Michigan Poverty Task Force Report 
The Michigan Poverty Task Force, established in 2019, issued its second report25 with recommendations aimed at 
lifting Michiganders out of poverty, connecting families in every corner of Michigan with economic opportunity, 
improving quality of life, improving outcomes, and creating real change. The following selection of recommendations 
from the report are relevant to the work of MIHI and the BEAD and DEA programs: 

1. Increase investments in a universal benefit application so Michigan residents can apply for resources in one 
place. 

2. Establish a highly visible education and awareness effort to boost participation in and access to a formal 
network of Community-Based Education and Training Information Portals. 

3. Develop a coordinated strategy to help communities address the digital divide. 

The report includes many other recommendations that are tangentially related to the success of the BEAD Program, but 
that could be facilitated more rapidly by ensuring every home, business, and institution in the state has access to 
affordable and reliable high-speed internet. Ensuring digital equity allows programs that rely on digital platforms or 
apps to reach their intended participants/audiences. 

 
25 https://www.michigan.gov/leo/-/media/Project/Websites/leo/Folder16/22-LEO-0478-PTF-

PrePress.pdf?rev=db428253b1154b5e8621b799370c123d&hash=5F422576BB6C143F65BB5A50ED5A1E70  

https://www.michigan.gov/leo/-/media/Project/Websites/leo/Folder16/22-LEO-0478-PTF-PrePress.pdf?rev=db428253b1154b5e8621b799370c123d&hash=5F422576BB6C143F65BB5A50ED5A1E70
https://www.michigan.gov/leo/-/media/Project/Websites/leo/Folder16/22-LEO-0478-PTF-PrePress.pdf?rev=db428253b1154b5e8621b799370c123d&hash=5F422576BB6C143F65BB5A50ED5A1E70


 

79 

 

Education 

Education Equity in Michigan Plan 
Created by the Michigan Civil Rights Commission in September 2022, the Education Equity in Michigan plan 
recommends that the Michigan Department of Civil Rights expand the existing Council for Government and Education 
on Equity and Inclusion to include representatives of the Michigan Department of Education and establish the Council 
as the entity responsible for implementing and overseeing the following recommendations for action. 

1. Develop a Statewide Educational Equity Plan to enhance policies, accountability, and opportunities for all, 
using a holistic approach to inform the Michigan Department of Civil Rights, the State Department of 
Education, and schools statewide. 

2. Ensure that all data collected by state and county government entities be disaggregated by race and ethnicity. 
3. Encourage schools across the state to create local school equity plans and contribute information and 

resources to encourage and support equitable practices and opportunities for schools. 
4. Host periodic professional development training workshops and a yearly “Best Practices in Education Equity” 

conference. 
5. Provide year-round cultural competency/race and equity education, advice, and coaching. 
6. Increase internet access for students and families and develop an easily accessible electronic outreach and 

inclusion model that is available to everyone involved in the education process. 
7. Support a well-resourced and quality teacher training program (through universities and colleges), 

encouraging diversity in its teaching roles and student enrollment. 

Given the necessity of high-speed internet connectivity and digital inclusion in the P-20 environment, this plan supports 
the vision and mission of MIHI, this plan, and the State Digital Equity Plan to create a more digitally equitable state by 
ensuring equity of access across several aspects of the education ecosystem. 

Michigan’s Top 10 Strategic Education Plan 
The Top 10 Strategic Education Plan26 has a vision that states; “every learner in Michigan’s public schools will have an 
inspiring, engaging, and caring learning environment that fosters creative and critical thinkers who believe in their 
ability to positively influence Michigan and the world beyond.”  

One of the key guiding principles of the plan states that students should be provided every opportunity to achieve the 
broadest range of life dreams, and a selection of key goals seek to; 1) expand early childhood learning opportunities; 
2) improve the health, safety, and wellness of all learners; 3) expand secondary learning opportunities for all students; 
and 4) increase the percentage of adults with a post-secondary credential. While high-speed internet access isn’t 
explicitly called out in the plan, equitable and affordable access and use are inherent in supporting Michigan’s 
achievement of the goals outlined in the plan. 

Environment 

MI Healthy Climate Plan 
The Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) published the MI Health Climate Plan27 in 
April 2022. This plan lays out a broad vision for fulfilling the governor’s fall 2020 commitment for Michigan to achieve 
100% economy-wide carbon neutrality by midcentury – the global science-based benchmark for reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions to avoid the most devastating and costly impacts of climate change. The plan establishes 

 
26 https://www.michigan.gov/mde/-

/media/Project/Websites/mde/top10/top_10_mi_strategic_ed_plan_promising_practices_1_pager.pdf?rev=8a9af7389097471a971dc5e97d48a6a8&ha

sh=E1CDB70B6C52F11C51E4F2D4AD040333  
27 https://www.michigan.gov/egle/-/media/Project/Websites/egle/Documents/Offices/OCE/MI-Healthy-Climate-

Plan.pdf?rev=d13f4adc2b1d45909bd708cafccbfffa&hash=99437BF2709B9B3471D16FC1EC692588  

https://www.michigan.gov/mde/-/media/Project/Websites/mde/top10/top_10_mi_strategic_ed_plan_promising_practices_1_pager.pdf?rev=8a9af7389097471a971dc5e97d48a6a8&hash=E1CDB70B6C52F11C51E4F2D4AD040333
https://www.michigan.gov/mde/-/media/Project/Websites/mde/top10/top_10_mi_strategic_ed_plan_promising_practices_1_pager.pdf?rev=8a9af7389097471a971dc5e97d48a6a8&hash=E1CDB70B6C52F11C51E4F2D4AD040333
https://www.michigan.gov/mde/-/media/Project/Websites/mde/top10/top_10_mi_strategic_ed_plan_promising_practices_1_pager.pdf?rev=8a9af7389097471a971dc5e97d48a6a8&hash=E1CDB70B6C52F11C51E4F2D4AD040333
https://www.michigan.gov/egle/-/media/Project/Websites/egle/Documents/Offices/OCE/MI-Healthy-Climate-Plan.pdf?rev=d13f4adc2b1d45909bd708cafccbfffa&hash=99437BF2709B9B3471D16FC1EC692588
https://www.michigan.gov/egle/-/media/Project/Websites/egle/Documents/Offices/OCE/MI-Healthy-Climate-Plan.pdf?rev=d13f4adc2b1d45909bd708cafccbfffa&hash=99437BF2709B9B3471D16FC1EC692588


 

80 

 

ambitious goals and strategies for achieving the plan’s vision. The follow selected goals and strategies are supported 
by the efforts of the MIHI Office and vice versa.  

1. Clean the electric grid. 
2. Electrify vehicles and increase public transit. 
3. Repair and decarbonize homes and businesses. 
4. Drive clean innovation in industry. 
5. Protect Michigan’s land and water. 

Many of the innovative solutions to mitigate climate change rely on advancements in technology, which is heavily 
dependent on high-speed connectivity.  

Health 

Health Information Technology Roadmap 
This roadmap is maintained and implemented by the Policy and Planning, Strategic Engagement, and Alignment 
section of the Michigan Department of Health and Human Services. The Health IT Roadmap28 identifies several 
relevant goals, objectives, and strategies that impact and are impacted by the BEAD and State Digital Equity 
Programs: 

1. Identify Champions and Empower Leaders 
2. Enhance Health Date Utility 
3. Address Michigan’s Digital Divide 
4. Improve Onboarding and Technical Assistance 
5. Protect Public Health 
6. Adopt Standards for Social Care Data Fields 

While the deployment of universal high-speed internet service and addressing digital equity contribute to each of these 
objectives, and the objective from the Roadmap to, “Address Michigan’s Digital Divide,” directly aligns with the vision 
and goals of this and Michigan’s Digital Equity Plan. The successful implementation of BEAD will directly support the 
goals of the Health IT Roadmap.  

Michigan Roadmap to Healthy Communities 
The Michigan Roadmap to Health Communities29 aims to address the social determinants of health (SDOH) through a 
collaborative, upstream approach to remove barriers to social and economic opportunity, improve health outcomes, 
and advance equity. Phase I of the SDOH Strategy promoted the alignment of efforts at the state, local, and 
community level and the improvement of programs and policies through an in-depth internal review. It prioritized 
efforts in three focus areas – health equity, housing stability, and food security. Phase II of the SDOH Strategy builds 
on improvement and alignment efforts from Phase I, with a focused effort on health equity through multisector 
collaboration and supporting holistic solutions. 

A key component of the Roadmap is the development of a Community Information Exchange (CIE). A CIE is an 
evolving set of best practices and technology guided by the goal of identifying and addressing social needs. As 
identified in the plan, a successful CIE requires widespread access to broadband and technology and a workforce 
trained in its use, agreed protocols around data collection and coding, staff with dedicated time to facilitate the 

 
28 https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/-/media/Project/Websites/mdhhs/Doing-Business-with-MDHHS/Boards-and-Commissions/Health-Information-

Technology-Commission/CY2022-Bridge-to-Better-Health-Report_Adopted_Final-Aug22.pdf?rev=4dd6bf50a4d24d71a049c15f7032b524  
29 https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/-/media/Project/Websites/mdhhs/Inside-MDHHS/Policy-and-Planning/Social-Determinants-of-Health-

Strategy/Strategy-Documents/Phase-II-SDOH-Strategy-

2823.pdf?rev=12e0ca6c22a9434ea133d197e44d9b82&hash=591123DA9B8D2012DE255E44B1DAD44F  

https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/-/media/Project/Websites/mdhhs/Doing-Business-with-MDHHS/Boards-and-Commissions/Health-Information-Technology-Commission/CY2022-Bridge-to-Better-Health-Report_Adopted_Final-Aug22.pdf?rev=4dd6bf50a4d24d71a049c15f7032b524
https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/-/media/Project/Websites/mdhhs/Doing-Business-with-MDHHS/Boards-and-Commissions/Health-Information-Technology-Commission/CY2022-Bridge-to-Better-Health-Report_Adopted_Final-Aug22.pdf?rev=4dd6bf50a4d24d71a049c15f7032b524
https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/-/media/Project/Websites/mdhhs/Inside-MDHHS/Policy-and-Planning/Social-Determinants-of-Health-Strategy/Strategy-Documents/Phase-II-SDOH-Strategy-2823.pdf?rev=12e0ca6c22a9434ea133d197e44d9b82&hash=591123DA9B8D2012DE255E44B1DAD44F
https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/-/media/Project/Websites/mdhhs/Inside-MDHHS/Policy-and-Planning/Social-Determinants-of-Health-Strategy/Strategy-Documents/Phase-II-SDOH-Strategy-2823.pdf?rev=12e0ca6c22a9434ea133d197e44d9b82&hash=591123DA9B8D2012DE255E44B1DAD44F
https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/-/media/Project/Websites/mdhhs/Inside-MDHHS/Policy-and-Planning/Social-Determinants-of-Health-Strategy/Strategy-Documents/Phase-II-SDOH-Strategy-2823.pdf?rev=12e0ca6c22a9434ea133d197e44d9b82&hash=591123DA9B8D2012DE255E44B1DAD44F


 

81 

 

referral process, and a robust network of referral partners. The success of this plan is heavily reliant on the universal 
availability of high-speed internet service.  

Infrastructure 

Thirty-Year Integrated Infrastructure Plan 
Developed by the Michigan Infrastructure Council, this plan includes the state’s dig-once strategy to collocate facilities 
during construction within state and local rights-of-way. This plan enables the efficient deployment of broadband 
networks. This plan is currently under development.30 

Michigan Public Service Commission (MPSC) Strategic Plan 
The mission of the MPSC is to serve the public by ensuring safe, reliable, and accessible energy and 
telecommunications services at reasonable rates. While the MPSC does not regulate broadband, the commission 
intersects with the goals, vision, and objectives of the MIHI Office, this plan, and the statewide digital equity plan. The 
follow are selected key goals and strategies of the MPSC Strategic Plan31 that support the efforts of the MIHI Office 
and vice versa. 

1. Empower customers to make informed utility choices. 
a. Public accurate information on energy and telecommunications programs 
b. Promote Connect Michigan broadband expansion 
c. Collaborate with other state departments and stakeholders 
d. Develop energy and technology pilots  

2. Assure safe, secure, and reliable utility services and infrastructure 
a. Issue a Telecommunications Assessment 
b. Define roles for telecommunications outage monitoring 
c. Support the transition to IP-911 

3. Assure accessible and affordable utility services through regulatory oversight 
a. Examine role in addressing systemic racism’s impact on energy and telecom programs 
b. Administer and promote customer programs 

4. Cultivate open and diverse communication and education 
a. Establish and encourage virtual stakeholder participation in workgroups and proceedings 
b. Engage partners on informational webinars/forums 
c. Evaluate communication and outreach programs and efforts 

Transportation 

Michigan Future Mobility Plan 
The Michigan Office of Future Mobility and Electrification oversees the Michigan Future Mobility Plan32. This plan 
identifies several objectives to position the state as the leader in mobility. The following objectives from the plan have 
been identified as those that impact or are impacted by the BEAD and State Digital Equity Programs: 

1. Deploying EV chargers.  
2. Ensuring Mobility as a Service (MaaS) access across all 77 public transit agencies. 
3. Be the number one state for mobility research and development.  
4. Be a top ten state for mobility investments.  

 
30 https://www.michigan.gov/mic/30-year-integrated-infrastructure-strategy  
31 https://www.michigan.gov/-/media/Project/Websites/mpsc/about/External_Strategic_Plan_2021-

2025.pdf?rev=29287fd46c794a07a671c37f4e97f5f9  
32 https://www.michiganbusiness.org/4aecec/globalassets/documents/mobility/state-strategy-for-the-future-of-mobility-and-electrification-detailed-version.pdf  

https://www.michigan.gov/mic/30-year-integrated-infrastructure-strategy
https://www.michigan.gov/-/media/Project/Websites/mpsc/about/External_Strategic_Plan_2021-2025.pdf?rev=29287fd46c794a07a671c37f4e97f5f9
https://www.michigan.gov/-/media/Project/Websites/mpsc/about/External_Strategic_Plan_2021-2025.pdf?rev=29287fd46c794a07a671c37f4e97f5f9
https://www.michiganbusiness.org/4aecec/globalassets/documents/mobility/state-strategy-for-the-future-of-mobility-and-electrification-detailed-version.pdf


 

82 

 

5. Reduce congestion and traffic crashes, (improve traffic safety). 

Mobility and electrification are heavily reliant on the availability of wired and wireless connections to provide real-time 
data, enable transactions, and monitor the electrical grid and associated systems. Universal connectivity and adoption 
are important for the operations of EV chargers and transit access. Having large green sites that are attractive for 
automotive investments in the future will mean looking outside of traditional urban areas to parts of the state that aren’t 
connected today. The operations of intelligent transportation systems and connected/automated vehicle tech rely on 
the reliable availability of IoT and edge computing across cellular-vehicle-to-vehicle/everything (CV2V / CV2X) 
systems. Michigan’s BEAD and Digital Equity Programs directly support the success of the Michigan Future Mobility 
Plan. 

Michigan Mobility 2045 Plan 
Michigan’s State Long-Range Transportation Plan (MM2045)33 is an essential element of Michigan’s transportation 
planning and program development process. The public- and stakeholder-driven plan provides a foundation for 
developing Michigan’s transportation programs, including MDOT’s Five-Year Transportation Program (5YTP) and the 
statewide, rural and metropolitan transportation improvement programs, and presents the social and economic cases 
for transportation investment in Michigan.  

The universal availability of high-speed internet is recognized as a key requirement for the successful implementation of 
the MM2045 Plan. Additionally, the plan contains the following strategies that are relevant to the BEAD Program and 
work of the MIHI Office: 

1. Identify opportunities to expand fiberoptic, broadband, and 5G connections through coordination or 
partnerships. 

2. Leverage technology to improve passenger transportation availability and services. 
3. Invest in data, data collection, analytics, and information systems to advance data informed decisions. 
4. Extend opportunities to share data and information for improved efficiency, accountability, and transparency 

across all of Michigan’s transportation partners. 
5. Implement and expand a real-time Transportation Infrastructure Data Exchange (TIDE) system to function as a 

centralized platform to support continuous exchange of transportation data among MDOT and other 
stakeholders. 

Workforce 

Michigan Workforce Development Plan 
The Michigan Workforce Development Plan is maintained and implemented by the Employment and Training Division 
of the Michigan Department of Labor and Economic Opportunity (LEO), the same agency that houses the MIHI Office. 
This plan is currently under development.   

Michigan Sixty by 30 Strategic Plan 
The Michigan Sixty by 30 Initiative aims to increase post-secondary educational attainment to 60% by 2030. The 
Sixty by 30 program is housed within the Michigan Department of Labor and Economic Opportunity (LEO), the same 
agency that houses the MIHI Office. The Sixty by 30 Strategic Plan34 outlines several focus areas that are impacted by 
the work of the MIHI Office including: 

1. Boost youth college going rates. 
2. Boost adult postsecondary enrollment. 
3. Create pathways for immigrants and international students. 

 
33 http://www.michiganmobility.org/pdfs/mm2045_plan/MM2045_Plan_FINAL_2021_11_03_remediated.pdf  
34 https://www.michigan.gov/-

/media/Project/Websites/leo/Documents/Executive/Sixty_by_30_Strategic_Plan.pdf?rev=b75c735459cf411ca327cb22628ac0c7  

http://www.michiganmobility.org/pdfs/mm2045_plan/MM2045_Plan_FINAL_2021_11_03_remediated.pdf
https://www.michigan.gov/-/media/Project/Websites/leo/Documents/Executive/Sixty_by_30_Strategic_Plan.pdf?rev=b75c735459cf411ca327cb22628ac0c7
https://www.michigan.gov/-/media/Project/Websites/leo/Documents/Executive/Sixty_by_30_Strategic_Plan.pdf?rev=b75c735459cf411ca327cb22628ac0c7


 

83 

 

4. Partner with employers. 
5. Catalyze a statewide postsecondary completion agenda with postsecondary institutions. 
6. Address barriers to success, especially for students living below the ALICE threshold. 

The achievement of the universal availability of high-speed internet and improved digital equity supports the focus 
areas of the Sixty by 30 initiative as student and career success is supported through expanded access to the internet.  

Technical Assistance 
MIHI is grateful for the technical assistance that the NTIA has provided thus far and is looking forward to NTIA’s 
continued support in the form of guidance and informational webinars on the following topics, as described in the 
NOFO: 

• Identification of Extremely High Cost Per Location areas 
• Approaching the subgrantee selection process 
• Developing grant applications 
• Procedures for distribution of funds 
• Cybersecurity 
• Preference for maximum subgrantee contribution and minimal BEAD subsidy determinations 

In addition to guidance, timely review and feedback from NTIA on the Five-Year Action Plan, Initial Proposal, and 
Final Proposal as well as dedicated technical assistance in the revision process of the Initial Proposal will support the 
BEAD program deployment in Michigan. 

In addition to the guidance NTIA has already reported, the below are additional areas of technical assistance 
requested by MIHI: 

• Audit requirements 
• Subgrantee compliance and reporting requirements including timelines, templates, and tutorials 
• Compliance with Build America and Buy America Acts 
• Resiliency standards or guidance  
• Application of 2 CFR 200 requirements including real property, program income, cost principles and 

procurement standards 
• Low-cost service option requirements 
• Use of public data sets 
• Defining digital equity KPIs 
• Rural area definition 
• Representations of covered populations and the relation to the recommended data sets 

MIHI values input from their partners and aims to provide them with the technical assistance necessary to implement a 

successful BEAD project. During MIHI’s partnership roundtable meetings, concerns regarding the availability of 

electronic components and supply chain shortages were raised. MIHI shares NTIA’s confidence in current supply 

chain and material availability, while acknowledging that unforeseen issues may arise. Therefore, MIHI also requests 

guidance on flexibility of the required milestones,  timelines, and requests for extensions, in the event delays due to 

supply chain shortages occur.   

MIHI would appreciate guidance on how we can holistically plan for and overcome non-traditional barriers that may 

keep Michiganders from being digitally connected. Non-traditional barriers may include those that reach into broader 

social determinants such as socioeconomic status.  

  



 

84 

 

Conclusion 
Access to high-speed internet substantially effects the ability to fully participate in everyday life and plays a critical role 
in accessing employment, education, and healthcare. The digital divide has the most significant impact on communities 
that have previously been overlooked or that have been historically disadvantaged. The BEAD Program offers an 
opportunity for Michigan to finally close the digital divide and achieve its statewide goals to ensure that high-speed 
internet access is available to every home, business, institution, and community and that 95% of Michigan households 
adopt a permanent home internet connection. 

MIHI’s robust and innovative community and stakeholder engagement process highlighted the need to address and 
approach broadband challenges based on the unique characteristics of regions and local communities.   

It is not possible to fully address the digital divide in Michigan without concurrently addressing digital equity. MIHI is 
committed to digital inclusion and will coordinate the planning and implementation of the BEAD Program with the State 
Digital Equity Plan and SDECG to achieve its digital equity goals. With the help of the state Digital Equity Plan, and in 
collaboration with partners and stakeholders, MIHI is confident in its ability to overcome obstacles and barriers. MIHI 
has conducted meetings with its enabling partners and partnership roundtables, which have reassured MIHI that 
stakeholders throughout the state are willing to collaborate for achieving the state’s vision for broadband and digital 
equity. MIHI is grateful to all the Michiganders who have taken the time to participate in the surveys, roundtables, 
coordination meetings, and the listening tours and is looking forward to a continued dialog with residents and partners 
throughout the BEAD program implementation. This participation and stakeholder feedback are key to the state’s 
strategy for closing the digital divide. Following the submission of this Five-Year Action Plan, MIHI will continue to 
engage with its stakeholders and collect valuable input and data for the BEAD program implementation to serve 
communities in the best possible way that meets their needs. 

 

 

 

  



 

85 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A – External Partner Organizations 
The following is a list of organizations invited to participate as external partners and attend MIHI’s monthly Partnership Roundtable 
meetings, (*indicates organization has attended at least one partnership roundtable meeting). 

123.NET,  INC. 
906 Technologies, LLC 
AARP* 
Above Wireless LLC  
ACD.net* 
Ace Telephone Company of Michigan, Inc* 
AcenTek 
Adtran, Inc.* 
AEG/ITC Broadband 
Agri-Valley Communications, Inc* 
Allband Communications Cooperative* 
Allegan County Government* 
Almont Township 
Almvoy Inc 
Altman Solon* 
American Arab Chamber of Commerce 
American Electric Power (AEP)* 
Aspen Wireless 
Astrea Connect* 
AT&T* 
Athens Township* 
ATI Networks, Inc. 
AuSable Valley CMHA* 
Ballmer Group 
Baraga Telephone Company* 
Barger Creek Wireless 
Barry County Telephone Company 
Bath Township MI Broadband Taskforce 
Bay Arenac ISD 
Bay County Commission* 
Bay County* 
Bay Mills Indian Community* 
BCN Telecom, Inc. 
Beaver Island Joint Townships Telecommunications Advisory 
Committee* 
Benefits Data Trust* 
Berrien County* 
Big Rapids Charter Township* 
Big River Telephone Company, LLC 
Black Leadership Advisory Council 
Blanchard Telephone Co. 
Bloomingdale Telephone Company, Inc.* 
Blue Collar ISP 
Bruce Township 
Buckeye Broadband* 
Building Assets to Strengthen Society (BASS Inc)* 
Business Leaders of Michigan 

Cadillac Area Chamber of Commerce* 
Calhoun County 
Cannon Township 
Capital Area District Libraries 
Carr Telephone Company 
CCI Systems 
CEDAM* 
Cedar Creek Wireless LLC 
Center for Change Northern Michigan Advocacy* 
Center Upper Peninsula Planning and Development* 
Central Michigan University* 
Central Upper Peninsula Planning and Development 
Regional Commission* 
Chaldean Community Foundation 
Charter Communications (Spectrum) * 
Charter Township of Hampton 
Charter Township of Union* 
Charter Township of Vienna* 
Cheboygan County* 
Cherry Capital Connection, LLC* 
Chikaming Township* 
Chocolay Township 
CHR Solutions* 
Church of the Messiah / BLVD Harambee* 
City of Alpena 
City of Birmingham, MI* 
City of Detroit* 
City of Flint* 
City of Hart 
City of Norway 
City of Portland 
Clare County EMHSD* 
Climax Telephone Company 
Closing The Digital Gap* 
CMC Telecom, Inc. 
CMSInter.net LLC 
Cogent Communications* 
Coldwater Telecommunications Utility 
COLI, Inc. 
College of Healthcare Information Management Executives 
(CHIME) 
Columbia Township Board* 
Columbus Township 
Comcast* 
Commission on Middle Eastern American Affairs 
Communications Workers of America* 
Community Action Agency Association 



 

86 

 

Community Action Alger Marquette* 
Community Action of Allegan County 
Community Advisory Council-D4 (Detroit)* 
Community Economic Development Association of Michigan 
Connecting Manistee County* 
Consumer Cellular, Incorporated 
Consumers Energy 
Convis Township 
Conway Township 
Cooperative Network Services 
COOR ISD* 
Corewell Health 
Council of Michigan Foundations 
County of Gladwin* 
County of Iosco 
County Road Association of Michigan* 
Crown Castle Fiber LLC 
Crystal Automation Systems, Inc dba Casair, Inc 
CS Mott Foundation 
D & P Communications* 
DayStarr LLC 
DCS Technology Design* 
Detroit Community Technology Project* 
Detroit Regional Chamber 
Detroit Regional Partnership 
DetroitJCS* 
Develop Iosco, Broadband Advisory Committee* 
Dexter Township 
Dickinson Area Community Foundation  
DMCI Broadband LLC* 
Downriver Community Conference* 
DTE Energy 
Duke Broadband* 
Dykema 
Dynamic Environmental Associates, Inc. 
East Bay Township 
East Michigan Council of Governments* 
Eastern UP Regional Planning and Development 
Commission* 
Eclipse Communications 
Egelston Township 
Elk Rapids Schools* 
EUPConnect Collaborative / EUPISD* 
Everstream GLC Holding Company LLC 
Farmers Mutual Telephone Company 
FirstNet Built with AT&T 
Flint Innovative Solutions* 
Frontier Communications* 
Frontier* 
Fund MI Future* 
General Equipment Maintenance and Language llc* 
Gerald R Ford Job Corps Center 
Gladwin County Commission 
Gladwin County Democratic Party* 

Gladwin County Office of Veterans Affairs* 
Global Entrepreneurship Business Lab* 
GLS Region V Planning and Development Commission 
Google North America Inc. 
Grand Rapids Alliance of Cooperative Communities 
Grand Rapids Area Black Businesses 
Grand Rapids Chamber* 
Grand Rapids Urban League* 
Grand Traverse Band of Ottowa and Chippewa Indians 
Granite Telecommunications, LLC 
Gratiot County 
Great Lakes Energy* 
Great Lakes Islands Alliance* 
Guidehouse 
GVSU* 
Hannahville Indian Community, Michigan 
Hayes Township 
Health Care Association of Michigan 
Henry Ford Health* 
Hiawatha Communications* 
Hiawatha Telephone Company 
Hidden Lake Wireless, Inc. 
Highland Twp Supervisor* 
Highline* 
Hispanic/Latino Commission 
Holland Board of Public Works 
HomeWorks * 
Hudson Webber Foundation 
Human-I-T* 
Huron  County 
Huron & Sanilac Economic Development Corp* 
IBEW* 
ICEA* 
Indiana Michigan Power Company Inc. 
Internet Service Inc.* 
InvestUP* 
Ionia Unlimited LLC 
Iron River Coop TV and Ant. 
ISP Management Inc. 
ITC* 
JMF Solutions, Inc. 
JSI Telecom* 
Kalamazoo Regional Educational Service Agency 
Kaleva Telephone Company 
KALITTA AIR * 
Kellogg Foundation of Michigan 
Kent County* 
Kent ISD 
Keweenaw Bay Indian Community 
KPMG* 
Lac Vieux Desert Band of Lake Superior Chippewa Indians 
LakeNet* 
Lansing Board of Water & Light* 
Lansing Regional Chamber 



 

87 

 

Lapeer County ISD 
Latin Americans United for Progress 
Lee Township Allegan County* 
Leland Public Schools* 
Lennon Telephone Company 
LEO - Employment & Training* 
Leroy Township  
Library of Michigan 
Lighthouse.Net 
Lit Communities* 
Little River Band of Ottawa Indians* 
Little Traverse Bay Bands of Odawa Indians 
LLEAD - Latino Leaders for the Enhancement of Advocacy 
and Development 
Local Access, LLC 
Local Initiatives Support Corporation 
Local Union 876 
London Township* 
Lynx Network Group, Inc. 
Macomb County Dept of Planning & Economic 
Development 
Macomb Intermediate School District* 
Macon Township 
MAEDS Michigan Association for Educational Data Systems 
Mainstee County Commission* 
Mainstee County Human Services Collaborative Body* 
Make This World Foundation 
Market Van Buren* 
Marq6 Broadband 
Marquette County* 
MASAL 
Mastodon Township Planning Commission 
Match-E-Be-Nash-She-Wish Band of Pottawatomi Indians 
(Gun Lake)* 
MBK Benton Harbor 
MBK Highland Park 
MBK Lansing 
MBK Southfield 
MBK Washtenaw County 
McKenzie Health System* 
MDHHS* 
MDOT* 
Mental Health Association in Michigan* 
Mercury Broadband* 
Meridian Charter Township 
Merit Network* 
Merritt Township* 
MetaLINK Technologies, Inc.* 
Metro Fibernet, LLC 
Metropolitan Telecommunications of Michigan, Inc., dba 
MetTel 
MI Community Action* 
MI Health and Hospital Association* 
Michigan AgriBusiness Association 

Michigan Asian Pacific American Affairs Commission 
Michigan Association for Computer Users in Learning 
(MACUL)* 
Michigan Association of Counties* 
Michigan Association of County Drain Commissioners 
Michigan Association of Intermediate School Administrators 
Michigan Association of Senior Centers 
Michigan Association of State Universities 
Michigan Association of United Ways 
Michigan Building and Construction Trades Council 
Michigan Central Broadband Company, LLC 
Michigan Chamber of Commerce 
Michigan Coalition on Black Civic Participation 
Michigan College Access Network* 
Michigan College Alliance 
Michigan Community College Association 
Michigan Cooperatives Directors Association 
Michigan Department of Agriculture and Rural 
Development* 
Michigan Department of Civil Rights* 
Michigan Department of Corrections* 
Michigan Department of Education 
Michigan Department of Education Office of Special 
Education* 
Michigan Department of Health and Human Services* 
Michigan Department of Natural Resources* 
Michigan Department of Technology, Management, and 
Budget* 
Michigan Department of Transportation* 
Michigan Economic Developers Association 
Michigan Economic Development Corporation* 
Michigan Educational Technology Leaders 
Michigan Electric Cooperatives Association* 
Michigan Farm Bureau 
Michigan Farmers Union* 
Michigan Health and Hospital Association 
Michigan Health Council 
Michigan Health Improvement Alliance* 
Michigan Hispanic Chamber of Commerce 
Michigan Infrastructure and Transportation Association 
Michigan Infrastructure Council 
Michigan Infrastructure Office* 
Michigan League For Public Policy 
Michigan Library Association 
Michigan Medicine* 
Michigan Municipal Electric Association 
Michigan Municipal League* 
Michigan Primary Care Association* 
Michigan Public Service Commission* 
Michigan Railroads Association 
Michigan Small Business Development Center 
Michigan State University Center for Community and 
Economic Development* 
Michigan State University* 



 

88 

 

Michigan Technological University, Information 
Technology* 
Michigan Townships Association* 
Michigan Unemployment Insurance Agency* 
Michigan Veterans Affairs Agency* 
Michigan Veterans Foundation 
Michigan Workforce Development Institute 
Michigan Works! Association* 
Michigan Works! Region 7B* 
Michigan Works! Region 7B/Ogemaw EDC* 
Michigan’s Great Lakes Bay Regional CVB* 
Michwave Technologies, Inc. 
Middle Michigan Development Corporation 
Midland Area Transportation Study* 
Midwest Energy & Communications* 
Millennium 
MISSDIG (Michigan Utility Notification Center)* 
MITCON,  LLC 
Mobilitie Management, LLC 
MPSC* 
MSU  
MSU Extension* 
Munson Healthcare* 
MVAA* 
MyMichigan Health 
Nation Outside   A Voice for the Formerly Incarcerated* 
Negaunee Cable Company 
NEMCOG* 
Networks Northwest/Northwest Michigan Works!* 
NMU Network 
Nokia 
North End Woodward Community Coalition* 
Northeast Michigan Council of Governments 
Northern Broadband* 
Northern Lakes Economic Alliance 
Northern Michigan University* 
Northside TV Corporation 
Northwest Education Services* 
Northwest Michigan Council of Governments (dba. 
Networks Northwest) 
Norvell Township Government 
NOS Communications, Inc. 
Nottawaseppi Huron Band of the Potawatomi* 
nTechQuity Community Learning * 
Oakfield Township 
Oakland Livingston Human Service Agency* 
Oakland University* 
Oceana Country Economic Alliance* 
Oceana County Board of Commissioners 
Office of Foundation Liaison 
Office of Global Michigan 
Office of U.S. Senator Debbie Stabenow* 
Ogden Telephone Company 
Osceola County 

Ottawa County* 
Park Township 
Pasty.net* 
Peerless Network of Michigan, LLC 
Peiane Township* 
Peninsula Fiber Network* 
Pennies from Heaven Foundation* 
Pentwater Township* 
Pinconning Township 
Plainfield Township* 
Plante Moran 
Point Broadband Fiber Holding, LLC 
Pokagon Band of Potawatomi 
Presque Isle Electric & Gas Co-op* 
PROTEC Michigan* 
Pure Broadband* 
Quello Center at MSU* 
Ralph J Wilson Jr Foundation 
Region 2 Planning Commission 
Regional Educational Media Center Association of 
Michigan* 
REMC* 
Representative Greg Alexander's Office 
Richland Township, Kalamazoo County 
Rockford Telephone Company, Inc. 
Roscommon County 
Roscommon Township* 
Rural Gig LLC* 
Rural Innovation Strategies Inc 
Sage Telecom Communications, LLC 
Saginaw Chippewa Indian Tribe* 
Saginaw County Community Action Center* 
Saginaw County Information Technology Director* 
Saginaw Housing Commission 
Sand Creek Telephone Company* 
Sanilac County Community Foundation* 
Sault Ste. Marie Tribe of Chippewa Indians* 
SCIT* 
Secord Township 
ShoreWaves LLC 
Sidney Township* 
Sister Lakes Cable TV 
Small Business Association of Michigan* 
SoftPath Technologies, LLC 
SonicNet, Inc.* 
Southcentral Michigan Planning Council 
Southeast Michigan Council of Governments* 
Southwest Michigan Planning Commission 
Southwestern Michigan Urban League 
Springport Telephone Co* 
Sprint Communications Company, L.P. 
St James Township, Charlevoix County* 
St. Clair County Commissioner 
St. Clair County Metropolitan Planning Commission 



 

89 

 

State Historic Preservation Office 
State of Michigan (MDARD) - Office of Rural Development* 
State Representative Angela Witwer* 
STELLAR Broadband* 
Strategic Alliance Community Development* 
Summit Digital 
Sunrise Communications, LLC 
Surf Broadband 
Sylvester Broome Empowerment Village 
SyncWave, LLC* 
TC3 Telecom, Inc. 
TDS Telecom 
Telecommunications Association of Michigan* 
The Chillicothe Telephone Company 
The Disability Network * 
The Ezekiel Project 
The Kresge Foundation 
The Right Place* 
Thumb Electric 
T-Mobile 
Torch Wireless 
Township of Bruce 
Tri-County Electric Cooperative dba HomeWorks Connect* 
Tri-County Regional Planning Commission 
United Tribes of Michigan 
United Way for Southeastern Michigan* 
University of Michigan - Flint* 
University of Michigan* 
UP Health Care Solutions / Health Information Exchange* 
Upjohn Institute* 

Urban League of Detroit and Southeastern Michigan 
Urban Wireless Solutions* 
US Cellular* 
US Signal Company, L.L.C. 
Vantage Point 
Vergennes Broadband LLC 
Verizon* 
Victor Township, Clinton County* 
Village of Pentwater* 
Waldron Communication Co.* 
Washington Township* 
Washtenaw County 
Washtenaw Fiber Properties LLC 
Wayne County Community College District* 
Wayne Metro 
Wayne State University* 
Webster Broadband Cooperative 
West Michigan Regional Planning Commission 
West Michigan Shoreline Regional Development 
Commission* 
Western Upper Peninsula Planning and Development 
Regional Commission* 
Westphalia Broadband, Inc. 
Wheatfield Township* 
Wideband Group, LLC* 
Williamston Township* 
WISPA* 
WOW! 
Wyandotte Cable 
Zayo Group, LLC 

 

 



 

 

 

Michigan Department of Labor and 

Economic Opportunity (LEO) High-Speed 

Internet Office (MIHI) 

 

  

 

State of Michigan 

Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT) 

 

 

July 2023 

  



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 1 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Table of Contents 

1 Executive Summary ................................................................................................................. 3 

2 Introduction and Vision for Digital Equity ............................................................................. 6 

2.1 Vision................................................................................................................................ 6 

2.2 Alignment with Existing Efforts to Improve Outcomes ................................................. 6 

2.3 Strategy and Objectives .................................................................................................. 11 

3 Current State of Digital Equity: Barriers and Assets ............................................................. 22 

3.1 Asset Inventory .............................................................................................................. 22 

3.1.1 Digital Inclusion Assets by Covered Population ........................................................ 22 

3.1.2 Existing Digital Equity Plans .................................................................................. 29 

3.1.3 Existing Digital Equity Programs ........................................................................... 37 

3.1.4 Broadband Adoption............................................................................................... 40 

3.1.5 Broadband Affordability .......................................................................................... 41 

3.2 Needs Assessment .......................................................................................................... 42 

3.2.1 Covered Population Needs Assessment .................................................................. 42 

3.2.2 Broadband Adoption............................................................................................... 56 

3.2.3 Broadband Affordability ......................................................................................... 56 

4 Collaboration and Stakeholder Engagement......................................................................... 58 

4.1 Coordination and Outreach Strategy ........................................................................... 58 

5 Implementation ..................................................................................................................... 60 

5.1 Implementation Strategy & Key Activities ................................................................... 60 

5.2 Timeline ......................................................................................................................... 69 

6 Conclusion ............................................................................................................................. 70 

 

Appendix A-1 

Digital Inclusion Assets by Covered Population ...................................................................... 72 

Organizations by Covered Population ...................................................................................... 75 

Digital Inclusion Plans ............................................................................................................. 79 

 

 
 

 

 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 2 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 

 

 

Disclaimer: The Draft Michigan Digital Equity Plan was developed based on data and feedback 

collected through  extensive stakeholder and community engagement completed during the first half of 

2023. While this plan has been thoughtfully prepared to establish Michigan’s vision for digital equity in 

the context of its overarching strategy and goals, this is not the final version of the document. 

Responsive public comments from Michiganders of all walks of life are imperative to strengthening the 

Digital Equity Plan. The Michigan High-Speed Internet Office (MIHI) invites the public to review and 

comment on this draft version and to provide MIHI with the valuable feedback needed to help ensure 

that the plan meets the needs of Michiganders.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 3 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

1 Executive Summary 

Introduction to Digital Equity in Michigan  

 

Nearly every aspect of modern life requires access to high-speed internet. Digital equity means 

that all individuals and communities have the tools and resources necessary to access and 

meaningfully connect to the internet. Currently, Michigan faces multi-faceted challenges in 

achieving digital equity leading to a digital divide, or a portion of the population who do not 

have reliable, affordable access to internet.  

 

As of 2023, more than 492,000 households are unserved (locations without 25/3 Mbps service 

available) or underserved (locations without 100/20 Mbps service available)1 by high-speed 

internet infrastructure. Another 730,000 households face barriers related to affordability, 

adoption, device access, digital literacy, or a combination thereof. Taken together, this means 

that approximately 30% of Michigan households  struggle with some form of the digital divide2 . 

This is particularly prevalent for covered populations including low-income households, where 

nearly 35% of households earning less than $20,000 annually do not have a broadband 

connection3, aging individuals, where more than 22% of residents aged 65 and older do not have 

broadband at home4, and racial or ethnic minorities are nearly half as likely to have a home 

broadband connection than non-minorities5. Many Michigan residents fall within these covered 

populations, with individuals likely falling into more than one covered population category, 

highlighting a need to ensure all vulnerable populations are included within the state’s digital 

equity efforts. Moreover, many individuals lack access to internet-connected devices such as 

computers, creating another significant obstacle. Michigan is also a fairly rural state, with 61 of 

the 83 counties in the state being labeled as rural by the U.S. Census Bureau, posing challenges 

related to access and affordability of broadband. These complex and overlapping issues create 

many barriers and challenges for achieving digital equity in Michigan.  

 

High-speed internet is essential to communities, as it provides access to information, enhances 

communication, and expands opportunities for its users. Additionally, education, economic 

development and mobility, environment, healthcare, transportation, infrastructure, and 

workforce development are inextricably linked to the universal availability and adoption of 

broadband service—its benefits reach beyond the immediate users of broadband service. The 

Michigan Department of Labor and Economic Opportunities estimates expanding broadband 

statewide could produce significant economic opportunities for households valued between $1.8 

billion to $2.7 billion annually6.  

 

Michigan’s goal to bridge the Digital Divide and increase digital connectivity also includes the 

aim to ensure all individuals, especially covered populations, are adequately educated, trained, 

and have the needed resources to utilize the internet in a productive and impactful manner.  

Vision  

 

1 Data for number of unserved and underserved locations comes from the June 15th, 2023 data published by the Federal 
Communications Commission  that represents availability reported by internet service providers as of December 31, 2022. 
2 2021 Update to the Michigan Broadband Roadmap (2021), Michigan High-Speed Internet Office 
3 U.S. Census Bureau. (2019). 2019 American Community Survey 1-year Estimates Detailed Tables 
4 U.S. Census Bureau. (2019). 2019 American Community Survey 1-year Estimates Detailed Tables 
5 U.S. Census Bureau. (2019). 2019 American Community Survey 1-year Estimates Detailed Tables 
6 2021 Update to the Michigan Broadband Roadmap (2021), Michigan High-Speed Internet Office 

https://www.michigan.gov/leo/-/media/Project/Websites/leo/Documents/MIHI/2021-Update-to-the-%20Michigan-Broadband-Roadmap.pdf
https://www.michigan.gov/leo/-/media/Project/Websites/leo/Documents/MIHI/2021-Update-to-the-%20Michigan-Broadband-Roadmap.pdf


 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 4 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

The Michigan High-Speed Internet Office (MIHI) envisions to close the digital divide by 2030 

and achieve a digitally connected and inclusive state where every resident and community has 

an affordable high-speed internet connection available to them regardless of location, economic 

status, or race/ethnicity. The key to MIHI’s vision is community engagement working together 

with the National Telecommunications and Information Administration (NTIA) and other state 

agencies, and creating solutions distinct to communities’ needs. 

 

MIHI’s ultimate goal for digital equity in the state is to ensure that high-speed internet access is 

available to every home, business, institution, and community. A key component of digital 

equity includes expanding the availability of internet-connected devices, technical assistance, 

training programs to ensure individuals are able to utilize the internet effectively.  

 

Alignment with Existing Efforts to Improve Outcomes  

The goals of the Digital Equity Plan are aligned to the State of Michigan’s priorities and other 

existing or planned efforts such as the BEAD program. There is considerable overlap in 

prioritization of increasing the workforce, improving educational attainment, enhancing overall 

health outcomes, improving civic and social engagement, and increasing awareness to other 

essential services and programs. To best serve Michigan natives and bridge the digital divide, 

MIHI will collaborate with public, private, and governmental agencies on new and existing 

programs that coincide. 

 

Strategy and Objectives 

MIHI's goals have informed the development of key strategies aimed at bridging the digital 

divide and enhancing digital equity throughout Michigan. These strategic initiatives will form 

the foundation for measurable tactics and objectives that will guide MIHI's efforts to ensure 

universal access and adoption of broadband service. By aligning MIHI's goals with actionable 

strategies and measurable objectives, Michigan can develop a comprehensive and equitable 

approach to achieving digital equity. MIHI’s goals for the Digital Equity Plan and to bridge the 

digital divide by 2030 are included the. 

 

 
MIHI’s Digital Equity Goals  

 

 

Ensure all Michiganders have access to an affordable, reliable high-speed 
internet connection at their homes 

 
Attract workers and employers to Michigan 

 

Improve educational attainment including removing barriers for credentialed 
workers and in postsecondary achievement 

 

Improve overall health outcomes, particularly with improvement in rural 
areas and in underrepresented populations 

 

Educate Michiganders about the online services available to them as a citizen 
of the state  

 

 

 

 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 5 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Asset Inventory  
MIHI has taken significant steps towards improving digital equity in Michigan through its 
comprehensive inventory of digital equity assets, plans, and programs. This inventory utilized 
the Michigan Digital Inclusion Resource Map to inform its collection of available resources and 
is focused on asset that serve covered populations to improve the state's digital equity 
ecosystem. The map is based on the Michigan Statewide Digital Inclusion survey, which received 
responses from over 200 organizations and resources throughout the state. MIHI has aligned 
the survey results with the covered populations they support, as shown in Appendix A-1.  
 
Central to MIHI’s approach to developing the asset inventory was the engagement with 
stakeholders, communities, and Tribal leaders throughout Michigan to gather a more 
comprehensive understanding of the state's resources, how those assets can be better utilized, 
and where asset gaps currently exist. MIHI is committed to addressing the existing asset gaps 
that were identified, while also maintaining efforts to eliminate the obstacles and barriers 
related to digital equity. 
 
 

Needs Assessment  
With the goal of 95% statewide adoption of broadband, MIHI conducted a comprehensive 

community engagement strategy wherein community members and stakeholders  shared their 

biggest broadband barriers via surveys to collect information on the barriers Michiganders face, 

specifically covered populations, when accessing broadband. The results of the needs 

assessment emphasized that the most significant barrier to internet adoption was the 

availability of broadband service. Affordability and the need for digital skills to effectively utilize 

the internet were also considered as significant concerns.  These findings are guiding MIHI's 

efforts to develop targeted tactics and objectives that respond to the specific needs of these 

covered populations and to help achieve digital equity throughout Michigan. 

 
Coordination and Outreach Strategy  
Core to MIHI's coordination and outreach strategy is MI Connected Future (MICF), an inclusive 
engagement model that aims to facilitate stakeholder and community engagement by promoting 
robust outreach and input, specifically targeted to covered populations. The MICF model has 
four primary components - community meetings, partnership roundtables, data collection, and 
public comment - that are crucial to its implementation. These components are designed to 
gather data and feedback from community members and organizations to further improve the 
Digital Equity Plan. 
 
 
Implementation Strategy  

MIHI’s implementation strategy is derived from the data and feedback gathered from 
community members and organizations during  MICF. As a result, MIHI plans to  implement a 
Digital Navigator program that’s aim is to promote community-based solutions, address the 
digital divide equitably based on individual community requirements, and facilitate high-speed 
internet access and digital skills training opportunities in urban, suburban, and rural areas. The 
implementation strategy include a robust network of digital navigators deployed throughout the 
state and designed to support community needs. Each navigator will support the capacity 
building of individuals through digital skills training, by providing resources for device access, 
and affordability resources. Navigators will be instrumental in barrier removal for individuals 
and have an emphasis on supporting underrepresented communities and covered populations.  



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 6 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 

1 Introduction and Vision for Digital Equity

1.1 Vision 

Broadband in the 21st century is a necessity yet much of Michigan remains without access to an 
affordable, or reliable broadband connection. The Michigan High-Speed Internet Office (MIHI) 
recognizes the importance of broadband access to its citizens which promotes economic 
opportunity, educational attainment, health outcomes, and civic engagement. MIHI envisions a 
connected and inclusive state where every resident has an affordable high-speed internet 
connection available to them regardless of where they live, how much money they make, or what 
they look like. Digital equity in Michigan looks like state-wide universal broadband availability, 
affordable broadband subscription plans for middle- and low-income households, at least one 
internet enabled device per household, inclusive training and technical support services for 
devices, digital skills, and personal cybersecurity. 
 
Digital equity is not something that can be accomplished with a one-size-fits-all approach. The 
needs of each corner of our state vary tremendously, as do they vary from household to 
household. For example, the Eastern Upper Peninsula lacks broadband infrastructure apart 
from portions of its towns, compared to Detroit which has infrastructure, but is met with 
affordability barriers for many of its residents. MIHI will not be satisfied with a blanket 
approach to digital equity wherein each region of our state has the same solution to close the 
divide. Digital equity means meeting communities and people where they are, connecting them 
to the resources that already exist, learning about problems that persist, and providing 
community level technical support to encourage accessibility and promote adoption. 
 
Communities know communities best. Our vision is to approach the digital divide by employing 
a grassroots strategy where communities lead the conversation and work toward solutions in 
tandem with MIHI and other state agencies. By building off the existing work community 
leaders already have in place and resources available locally, and by providing support for 
technical assistance, by fostering connections between communities and existing programs and 
services (state, regional, or otherwise), while following a coordinated approach, Michigan will 
close the digital divide by 2030. 
 

1.2 Alignment with Existing Efforts to Improve Outcomes 

MIHI recognizes the importance and impact of infrastructure deployment on digital equity. As 
such, the structure of the MIHI office is designed in an intentional way wherein members of the 
infrastructure team and the Digital Equity team collaborate on cross-over projects and programs 
to ensure infrastructure deployment is conducted equitably. MIHI will cross reference existing 
infrastructure with planned infrastructure and overlay it with feedback collected from the state-
wide engagement tour to ensure the needs of the community are being met in a holistic manner. 
Details regarding specifics of infrastructure rollout strategies will be provided in the Michigan 
Initial Proposal (BEAD Program activity). 
 
MIHI operates based on two strategic state goals: 

1. Universal availability of reliable internet service, and, 
2. 95% adoption of internet service at the home 

 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 7 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

As of 2021, 30% of Michiganders struggle with some form of the digital divide7, but 
overwhelmingly, MIHI heard from communities that the lack of availability was the biggest 
concern. MIHI is working to braid existing American Rescue Plan Act – Coronavirus Capital 
Projects Funding (ARPA-CPF)8 with future BEAD program dollars to support the build out of a 
reliable high-speed internet network throughout the state. MIHI is confident with strategic 
planning and collaboration with internet service providers and communities, goal one will be 
accomplished by 2030. Additionally, once a plan has been developed to use BEAD funding to 
bring affordable, high-speed broadband service to all unserved and underserved locations, 
BEAD funding may be used for non-deployment uses such as digital skills training, education 
programs, affordability program enrollment assistance, and other digital equity uses that 
support adoption. 
 
While it is easy to solve the availability problem, the adoption goal becomes increasingly 
complex. The American Community Survey monitors households that do not have an internet 
connection, but there is little information available as to why Michiganders don’t have an 
internet connection at their home. Barriers to adoption come in many forms and are evidenced 
in the feedback MIHI collected as part of its MI Connected Future (MICF) state-wide listening 
tour9; however, the most commonly identified barrier (second to availability) was affordability 
of service. MIHI is looking to solve the affordability gap through creative engagement with 
communities and service providers to share existing resources that support affordability of 
internet service for Michiganders and to explore options for provider-led affordability programs. 
 
Additionally, as MIHI toured the state to learn from Michigander’s as to why they were not 
online, many communities provided their community plans for digital equity and infrastructure 
expansion. Some of those plans are referenced later in this document, but MIHI will incorporate 
the content of the existing plans into the implementation of the Digital Equity Act 
implementation activities by working with community task forces, Tribal nations, and 
municipalities seeking broadband expansion and digital equity initiatives.  
 
Economic and Workforce Outcomes 
 
MIHI is located within the Department of Labor and Economic Opportunity (LEO). The LEO 
strategic plan for FY2022-FY2026 emphasizes five strategic focus areas: 
 

1. Close equity gaps 
a. Prioritize closure of socioeconomic/demographic opportunity gaps in all decision 

making 
2. Protect and enhance health, safety, and economic security for workers 

a. Ensure safe working conditions, fair wages, and labor protections 
3. Educate Michiganders and grow the middle class by removing barriers to employment 

a. Support education, training, onramps, certifications to make sustaining wages more 
attainable. 

b. Address barriers including housing, transportation, healthcare, childcare, language, 
and placement. 

c. Address talent shortages in current and future growth sectors in every region of the 
state. 

 

7 2021 Update to the Michigan Broadband Roadmap (2021), Michigan High-Speed Internet Office 
8 Also known as the Realizing Opportunities through Broadband Infrastructure Networks (ROBIN) 
9 MI Connected Future (MICF), an inclusive engagement model that aims to facilitate stakeholder and community engagement by 
promoting robust outreach and input, specifically targeted to covered populations. See section 4 for a full description of this state-
wide listening tour.  

https://www.michigan.gov/leo/-/media/Project/Websites/leo/Documents/MIHI/2021-Update-to-the-%20Michigan-Broadband-Roadmap.pdf


 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 8 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

4. Create better jobs and support small businesses 
a. Become the benchmark of economic development y supporting the creation of good 

and promising jobs that make Michigan’s economy more resilient, while 
implementing the state’s first small business strategy that includes focusing on 
microbusinesses. 

b. Address talent shortages in current and future growth sectors in every region of the 
state. 

5. Build strong communities and have great places to live 
a. Create a strong foundation for communities to grow by making historic investments 

in broadband, housing, and other critical infrastructure. 
b. Invest in developing vibrant places with rich amenities. 

 
Worker attraction is paramount to the success of the LEO strategic plan, but to attract workers, 
the state must also attract employers. Many parts of rural and northern Michigan lack 
broadband infrastructure that makes it nearly impossible to motivate a business to locate in 
these areas. The growth of e-commerce, digitization of business practices, and even the 
automation of worker facing platforms, the internet is key to running a successful small (or 
large) business. MIHI also recognizes the importance of attracting workers equitably and 
removing barriers to entry for historically underrepresented communities, including English 
language learners, women, and people of color. 
 
In addition to barrier removal, worker retraining and upskilling will be necessary to fill looming 
employment gaps in the trades industry which are crucial to the success of the ARPA- CPF and 
BEAD programs. The National Telecommunications Information Administration (NTIA) 
projects a labor shortfall of more than 11% over the next five years for laborers and material 
movers, and a shortfall of nearly 10% for inspectors. MIHI is partnering with existing state 
programs to elevate the importance of the trades and the programs available currently that will 
remove barriers to entry for Michiganders, like MiSTEM, MiYARN, and other LEO based 
programs. 
 
Educational Outcomes 
 
Households with a broadband connection make, on average, over $2,000 more per year than 
households that do not have a broadband connection10. Similarly, the National Skills Coalition 
researched the difference in wages between workers with no digital skills, compared to the 
wages of workers with likely digital skills and with wages of workers with up to nine digital skills 
(Table 1)11. The wage differences between a job requiring no digital skills compared to a job 
requiring nine digital skills equates to a 143% difference in wages. 

 

10 2021 Update to the Michigan Broadband Roadmap (2021), Michigan High-Speed Internet Office 

11 Closing the Digital Skill Divide - National Skills Coalition 

https://www.michigan.gov/leo/-/media/Project/Websites/leo/Documents/MIHI/2021-Update-to-the-%20Michigan-Broadband-Roadmap.pdf
https://nationalskillscoalition.org/resource/publications/closing-the-digital-skill-divide/


 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 9 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Figure 1: National Skills Coalition Data on Digital Skills Impact on Median Hourly Wage 

 
Source: National Skills Coalition 

MIHI recognizes how foundational digital skills are to increasing household income and 
educational attainment and aims to incorporate digital skills standards and competencies into 
K-12 education settings to improve employment outcomes for workers. Employment and 
education are connected tremendously in this regard. The incorporation of digital skills into the 
classroom so that they are foundational to the success of education, means workers will have the 
digital skills competencies needed to attain higher wages when they enter the workforce. 
 
Health Outcomes 
 
Michigan Department of Health and Human Services (MDHHS) elevated the connection 
between health outcomes and the digital divide as part of the June 2022 Health Information 
Technology Commission report12. This five-year strategy roadmap emphasizes the need to 
address “Michigan’s digital divide to help address disparities in health care and social services if 
rural parts of the state.” The Health IT Commission highlights the need for online accessibility 
among patients and their healthcare provider, given the recent transition to many online patient 
management systems. Many health systems exclusively utilize online health information portals 
that require an internet connection and some level of digital skills in order to view and/or 
manage. Additionally, the Health IT Commission references challenges in a health IT system 
regarding consumer cybersecurity and legality of health information exchange. 
 
The Health IT Commission also identifies the need for online data services to promote capacity 
building for “more complete insight into utilization, quality improvement, and evidence-based 
intervention design.” The purpose of this initiative is to promote holistic wellness and health 
outcomes and monitor the improvement of health among rural residents. 
 

MIHI supports the use of telemedicine wherever possible to improve patient outcomes, 
particularly to enhance patient access, improve care, and reduce costs (direct or indirect) to the 
patient. Telemedicine cannot be utilized in a community lacking broadband infrastructure, or 
affordable access to said infrastructure and as such, health disparities will continue to occur in 
rural and underrepresented populations if not deployed equitably. 
 

 

12 CY2022 Bridge to Better Health Final Draft Document (michigan.gov) 

$19.05 $17.62 $18.00 
$21.64 

$25.50 
$30.58 

$37.92 
$43.00 

Overall
(all jobs)

Job requires
no digital skills

Job requires
only likely

digital skills

Job requires
one definitely

digital skill

Job requires
three definitely

digital skills

Job requires
five definitely
digital skills

Job requires
seven definitely

digital skills

Job requires
nine definitely

digital skills

As more digital skills are required, median hourly wage rises (2021)

https://www.michigan.gov/mdhhs/-/media/Project/Websites/mdhhs/Doing-Business-with-MDHHS/Boards-and-Commissions/Health-Information-Technology-Commission/CY2022-Bridge-to-Better-Health-Report_Adopted_Final-Aug22.pdf?rev=4dd6bf50a4d24d71a049c15f7032b524


 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 10 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 
 
It is also important to note there are medical researchers and medical professionals (and the 
National Digital Inclusion Alliance) who identify broadband access as a “super social 
determinant of health” because of its ability to impact all other Social Determinants of Health's 
(SDOH). 
 

Civic and Social Engagement 
 
Voter records and registrations are managed by an electronic pollbook system in Michigan 
which means rural communities will need sustained access to a reliable internet connection to 
ensure safety of the elections over the course of the nine day early voting period.  
 
Photo ID’s are a requirement to vote in Michigan. Photo IDs can be obtained by visiting the 
Secretary of State branches however, one must obtain an appointment to avoid spending an 
afternoon in a government office waiting to receive the ID. Appointments can only be booked 
online. The Michigan Department of State is transitioning some services online, including 
registering to vote and renewing one’s photo ID or Driver’s License. The online transition allows 
for expanded access for Michiganders to obtain the photo ID needed to engage in elections 
(among other activities) on their own time and in their own home. The same is not true however 
for those lacking a reliable internet connection in their home. 
 
In addition to online civil engagement, many government assistance programs utilize online 
application systems for those seeking assistance. For those without internet, they are not only 
unable to apply for the benefits they need, but also they may be unaware that benefits even exist. 

 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 11 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

1.3 Strategy and Objectives  

To accomplish the vision for Michigan, MIHI aims to employ a holistic strategy focused on 

meeting the needs of communities by community members themselves. MIHI will serve as a 

resource and provide support to remove barriers. Partnership with existing state agencies and 

communities will be paramount to maximizing the reach of the Digital Equity Act (DEA) and its 

subsequent funding.  

Outlined below are the strategies in which MIHI will utilize to close the digital divide in 

Michigan, followed by how MIHI will measure the progress of the goals with key performance 

indicators (KPIs). The KPIs are crucial to measuring success of the holistic approach and 

effectiveness of closing the digital divide for Michiganders by focusing on the availability of and 

affordability of access to, fixed and wireless broadband technology, the online accessibility and 

inclusivity of public resources and services, digital literacy, securing online privacy of 

individuals, and the availability and affordability of consumer devices and technical support for 

those devices.  

 

  

Goal Strategy 

Ensure all Michiganders have access to an 
affordable, reliable high-speed internet 
connection at their home 

Collaborate and align efforts between DEA 
planned activities with BEAD planned 
activities and partner with communities, 
Tribal governments, and state agencies to 
align similar goals and timelines for 
infrastructure deployment and digital equity 
initiatives 

Attract workers and employers to Michigan 
 

Coordinate, partner, and support existing 
workforce development strategies and 
programs housed within the LEO and other 
relevant state agencies 

Improve educational attainment including 
removing barriers for credentialed workers 
and in postsecondary achievement 
 

Collaborate and partner with Michigan 
Department of Education to elevate online 
learning opportunities and additional 
pathways to digital skills development for 
adults 
 

Improve overall health outcomes, particularly 
with improvement in rural areas and in 
underrepresented populations 
 

Coordinate and collaborate with the Michigan 
Department of Health and Human Services to 
monitor health outcomes pre- and post-
deployment of broadband projects in rural 
and underrepresented communities 
 

Educate Michiganders about the online 
services available to them as a citizen 
 

Coordinate and collaborate with the Michigan 
Department of State to provide trainings to 
Michiganders about their digital citizenship 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 12 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

MIHI recognizes and values the work municipalities, counties, Tribal governments, and other 

state agencies have already done to close the digital divide in their respective communities. 

MIHI also recognizes the importance of collaboration in order to implement BEAD deployment 

dollars into the communities that need the infrastructure the most. Collaboration with local 

units of government is paramount to the success of the DEA and BEAD.  

The structure of MIHI office is intentionally designed in such a way that the Infrastructure team 

works closely with the Digital Equity team to ensure both teams are aligned on timelines, 

upcoming projects, and existing community plans so as to not invalidate the work of community 

on a project. Throughout the MICF listening tour, the MIHI team heard about the work already 

happening throughout our state and wants to ensure projects (particularly BEAD deployment 

projects), align with the goals of the community task forces already in place. Universal 

availability cannot be accomplished without the voice of community and MIHI aims to work in 

tandem with community leaders to deploy infrastructure and digital equity initiatives.  

Equitable implementation and alignment of the DEA and BEAD requires an equitable approach 

for each region of our state. The digital equity needs of the Upper Peninsula vary greatly from 

those of Detroit, and it is the goal of MIHI to support communities by developing a unique 

solution to each community’s needs.  

Geographic barriers are important, however they are not the only barrier many communities 

face when looking at solutions to closing the digital divide. Historically underrepresented 

communities and covered populations (aging individuals, people of color, non-English speakers 

to name a few), have unique barriers to full participation in the digital world. Collaboration with 

organizations and agencies that are comprised of, or represent covered populations are also 

imperative to the success of the DEA and BEAD alignment and implementation. MIHI continues 

to collaborate with and learn from organizations who serve covered populations so as to 

incorporate barrier removal strategies which may not have been initially considered.  

MIHI aims to holistically align and implement efforts funded by the DEA and BEAD to the best 

of its ability, with the recognition that community involvement is the key to its long-term 

success at closing the digital divide. MIHI will actively work to elevate the voices of 

underrepresented communities and populations throughout the planning and implementation 

process for DEA and BEAD funded programs.  

Additionally, MIHI collaborates with other state agencies supporting infrastructure deployment 

activities to ensure projects are planned with similar timelines and cohesiveness. State agencies 

include, the Michigan Infrastructure Office, the Michigan Department of Transportation, the 

Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy, the Department of Natural Resources, 

the LEO, and the Executive Office of the Governor.  

 

Collaborate and align efforts between DEA planned activities with BEAD 

planned activities and partner with communities, Tribal governments, and 

state agencies to align similar goals and timelines for infrastructure 

deployment and digital equity initiatives 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 13 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 
The strategies and objectives MIHI will employ to achieve its goal of attracting workers and 

employers to Michigan and to improve economic and workforce outcomes for the state include 

emphasis on strong labor standards, the attraction, retention, and transition of skilled workers, 

and outlines the importance of partnership with in-house training organizations and community 

colleges to achieve the goal.  

 
MIHI and the Department of Labor and Economic Opportunity (LEO) support all efforts to 
promote strong labor standards to ensure worker safety. The workforce and labor division of 
LEO focuses on “ensuring workplace safety and equitable labor relations for employees and 
employers.” MIHI plans to require potential subgrantees to comply with the strong labor 
standards outlined in the BEAD NOFO including, but not limited to, using a directly employed 
workforce, compliance with Davis-Bacon Act requirements (including the collection of certified 
payrolls), using project labor agreements, local hire provisions, union neutrality commitments 
from all subgrantees, and proof of an appropriately skilled and credentialed workforce. To 
support employers unfamiliar with Davis-Bacon Act requirements, MIHI will conduct a series of 
technical assistance webinars tailored to employers to prevent compliance failures. MIHI will 
continue to collaborate with Labor Division leadership to ensure accuracy of information and 
equitable outreach to industry leaders. 
 
Additionally, LEO identifies safe working conditions, fair wages, and labor protections for 
workers in its 5-year operational plan. One relevant strategy to achieving this goal in the context 
of the DEA is through strategic promotion of the workplace rights one-stop site which 
emphasizes responsibilities, rights, compliance requirements, and regulations. The one-stop site 
is a resource for employers and employees to ensure safe working conditions and strong labor 
practices. MIHI will encourage subgrantees to utilize the workplace rights one-stop site and to 
promote it to their workforce. 
 
LEO prioritizes talent and worker attraction within Michigan as evidenced in the LEO 5-Year 
operations plan. As a division of LEO, MIHI operates under the same goals. Additionally, LEO 
has established the Infrastructure Workforce Taskforce (IWT) following the passage of the 
Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL). MIHI is a member of the IWT which operates with the goal 
to “identify opportunities and develop plan for increasing talent pipeline for infrastructure jobs 
in order to: 
 

1. Translate unprecedented BIL resources into good paying jobs and career pathways 
with diversity, equity, inclusion, and accessibility focus, and; 
2. Mitigate labor market inflation at height of BIL investments in order to improve 
effectiveness economy-wide.” 
 

The IWT is comprised of LEO division heads and representatives from the Michigan 
Infrastructure Office (MIO) to ensure coordinated approach to workforce attraction plans across 
the state. 
 
Outlined below are relevant plans, strategies, and programs LEO and other State of Michigan 
Departments have in place. This list is not exhaustive in nature. 
 

Coordinate, partner, and support existing workforce development strategies 

and programs housed within the LEO and other relevant state agencies 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 14 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Agency Strategy/Plan/Program 

Michigan Economic 
Development 
Corporation (MEDC) 

$34 million talent attraction and retention strategy targeting 
student, job seekers and industry professionals in key growth areas 
(i.e., EV mobility and semiconductor industries). 

MEDC 
STEM-Forward Internship program connects students, who attend 
Michigan colleges and universities, with paid internship 
opportunities in STEM-focused careers. 

LEO - Michigan Science, 
Technology, Engineering, 
and Math 
(MiSTEM)Network 

Removing barriers to employment by increasing the implementation 
of project-, problem-, and place-based education-based instruction 
in K-12 schools in Michigan and expose 200,000 students to STEM 
careers. 

LEO – Workforce 
Development, Education 
and Training (E&T) 

Addressing talent shortages by engaging and creating customized 
targeted solutions to meet employer needs by: 
• Establishing and strengthening existing employer-led 

collaboratives (ELCs) 
• Aligning career pathways and educational credentials that lead to 

transferrable skills and increased wages for job seekers 

LEO – E&T; MEDC 

Expand talent in Michigan by upskilling and reskilling Michiganders 
and leverage resources resulting in 7,500 postsecondary credentials 
by: 
• Promoting tuition free pathways to obtain postsecondary 

credentials; 
• Expanding relationships with secondary and postsecondary 

education providers to improve job outcomes for students with 
disabilities; and, 

• Boosting apprenticeship opportunities to obtain industry-
recognized credentials. 

LEO – E&T; Michigan 
Works! Agencies 

Expand Michigan’s labor force by providing job readiness services to 
800 people by conducting outreach activities and supporting eligible 
persons experiencing barriers to employment to re-enter the labor 
force. 

LEO – Office of 
Prosperity; Women’s 
Commission 

Help 50,000 Michigan women re-enter or remain in the workforce 
with support of the Tri-Share Child Care program and the MI 
Fostering Access, Rights and Equity (MI FARE) program. MI FARE 
is designed to educate women workers about their employment 
rights and benefits. 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 15 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Agency Strategy/Plan/Program 

Michigan Department of 
Corrections (MDOC) 

MDOC operates a skilled trades training program that aims to 
provide a positive learning community for prisoners who are serious 
about completing career and technical education. 
Prisoners complete training at the vocational village located in the 
state prison facilities. Career paths include (but are not limited to): 
• Commercial Driving License and Forklift Operation 
• Carpentry 
• Electrical 
• Computer Coding 
• Computer Numerical Control Machine Tooling and Robotics 
• Line Clearance and Tree Trimming 

 
MIHI is aware of several Internet Service Providers (ISPs) that conduct in-house training 
programs, as well as labor unions who support training programs. MIHI will require any 
subgrantee to outline their in-house training programs to determine appropriate skilling for the 
projects which they are seeking funding. 
 
Workforce gaps are top of mind for Michigan policy makers and agencies, especially as Michigan 

is entering the time for unprecedented BIL buildouts. MIHI is plugged in to existing workforce 

development structures within the state given the vast network stewarded by our Workforce 

Development division. Partners in this space are eager to engage with MIHI to support 

workforce growth in their respective capacities. 

 
MIHI partners with LEO E&T to support relationship building among the Michigan Community 
College Association (MCCA), the Michigan Association of Intermediate School Administrators 
(MAISA), and Michigan Occupational Dean’s Advisory Council (MODAC). Additionally, LEO 
houses the Michigan office of Registered Apprenticeships which provides supportive services 
and funding for employers of apprentices. The GoingPRO Talent fund supports employers in 
reskilling new workers and ensures a pathway to credentialling as part of the involvement in the 
program. GoingPRO is housed in the WD division. Other programs include the Michigan Youth 
Apprenticeship Readiness Network (MiYARN) which aims to expand youth registered 
apprenticeships by partnering with regional entities, the Michigan Learning and Education 
Advancement Program (MiLEAP) which supports in the transition from education and training 
programs to high-wage jobs. MiLEAP focuses on underrepresented populations, particularly 
that of economically distressed rural and urban areas. 
  



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 16 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 
The Michigan Department of Education’s (MDE) Top 10 Strategic Education Plan was approved 

in August 2020 and provides direction to the Michigan education community.13 MDE aims to be 

a Top 10 education state in 10 years and employs the strategic education plan to monitor growth 

and progress on its eight goals. Three of MDE’s goals most relevant to the work at MIHI are: 

• Expand secondary learning opportunities for all students 

• Increase the percentage of all students who graduate from high school 

• Increase the percentage of adults with a postsecondary credential 

The following provides an overview of how MIHI can impact/influence MDE’s goals. 

Expand secondary learning opportunities for all students 

 MDE focuses on six specific areas for secondary learning opportunities: 

1. Career and Technical Education  

2. Early Middle College 

3. Advance Placement 

4. International baccalaureate 

5. Dual Enrollment 

6. Secondary Transition 

Closing the digital divide is important for all six focus areas and supports growth and progress 

not only in the number of skilled workers able to build the infrastructure needed to close the 

availability gaps, particularly in Michigan’s rural communities, but closing the digital divide 

ensures more educational opportunities for individuals looking to advance their education, but 

may be limited by their school districts’ course offerings.  

Dual Enrollment, for example, showcases a strong argument and need for closing the digital 

divide. When COVID-19 shut down schools and learning transitioned online, those who were 

dual enrolled were now at risk of losing not only their high school credential but also their 

college credits or even degree, if they did not have reliable access to the internet. According to 

MDE, in the 2018-19 school year, 4.1% of students across all Michigan schools were dual 

enrolled. Enrollment declined to 3.7% during 2020-21 and remained into 2021-22. 

Subsequently, school districts who offered a dual enrollment opportunity also declined and have 

not yet met pre-pandemic numbers. 14  

 

 

Increase the percentage of all students who graduate from high school  

 

13  Michigan’s Top 10 Strategic Education Plan 
14 https://www.mischooldata.org/dual-enrollment/ 

Collaborate and partner with Michigan Department of Education and other 

state agencies, to incorporate a statewide digital skills curriculum for K-12 

students, and additional pathways to digital skills development for adults 

 

https://www.michigan.gov/mde/-/media/Project/Websites/mde/top10/top_10_mi_strategic_ed_plan_promising_practices_1_pager.pdf?rev=8a9af7389097471a971dc5e97d48a6a8&hash=E1CDB70B6C52F11C51E4F2D4AD040333


 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 17 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Access to the internet and high school graduation rates may not be directly correlated, however, 

a recent study found that Grade Point Average (GPA) does. According to the Quello Center, 

students with a “fast” internet connection at home report a GPA of 3.18 compared to their 

counterparts with “slow” internet connections at home who reported a GPA of 3.10. 

Additionally, students with no internet access at home reported a 2.81 GPA and  those who only 

had cell phone access to the internet who reported a 2.75 GPA.15 While GPA is not the sole 

indicator for graduation, it does play a major part. 

MIHI will work with MDE to incorporate awareness campaigns for parents and students about 

the importance of an at-home internet connection, and provide a pathway to support the 

affordability of, and access to a reliable broadband connection, including affordability of and 

access to internet enabled devices. This holistic approach will support families with the 

resources needed to get online and support their scholars in school. 

Increase the percentage of adults with a postsecondary credential 

MDE and LEO partner to achieve Governor Whitmer’s 60x30 initiative. 60x30 is a program 

with the goal of supporting 60% of Michigander’s achieving a postsecondary credential or 

college degree by removing barriers to attainment. Educational attainment and economic 

growth correlate closely, particularly in the earned wages for individuals with a postsecondary 

degree or credential.  

MIHI is working to expand the broadband skilled trades workforce through partnerships among 

industry leaders, and community colleges to ensure Michigan has the skilled workforce needed 

to build out the robust broadband network necessary to reach universal availability. This means 

credentialed workers will earn more in their lives, and Michigan will be one step closer to 

closing the digital divide.  

In addition to the Top 10 in 10 strategic plan, MDE adopted a set of competencies to support 

consistent digital skills for k-12 schools in 2016. The International Society for Technology in 

Education (ISTE) standards have been adopted in Michigan as the Michigan Integrated 

Technology Competencies for Students (MITECS).16 These competencies work to integrate 

technology into learning for students as a way to enhance their education. 81% of all workforce 

sectors indicated the MITECS competencies reflect “high” or “very high” alignment with the 

skills needed in their workforce. 

MIHI aims to continue collaboration with MDE to meet the digital skills gap and promote 

workforce development for K-12 students, but will also work to ensure adult learners and 

covered populations have ready access to a digital skills curriculum regardless of enrollment 

status in a postsecondary education program. MIHI and the State of Michigan Library plan to 

incorporate free access to a digital skills learning platform via local libraries and Michigan 

Works! Associations.  

 

15 Hampton, K. N., Fernandez, L., Robertson, C. T., & Bauer, J. M. Broadband and Student Performance 
Gaps. James H. and Mary B. Quello Center, Michigan State University. https://doi.org/10.25335/BZGY-
3V91 
16 MITECS 

https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.michigan.gov%2Fmde%2F-%2Fmedia%2FProject%2FWebsites%2Fmde%2FAcademic-Standards%2FMITECS.pdf%3Frev%3D04cc518da0974f3fbc6d3b50816b350d%26hash%3D97B6B8087AE2C1A0A9DA324560E24452&data=05%7C01%7CHerkenroderA%40michigan.gov%7Cc9f4a4b8ce3f4bd0dbb808db780a42df%7Cd5fb7087377742ad966a892ef47225d1%7C0%7C0%7C638235757680245857%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=BtCg62%2FY6hwgj2DZf7QPTJw%2BD7ZsNUj7TkNRbEN2dso%3D&reserved=0


 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 18 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Coordinate and collaborate with the Michigan Department of Health and 

Human Services to monitor health outcomes pre- and post-deployment of 

broadband projects in rural and underrepresented communities 

 

Michigan Department of Health and Human Services (MDHHS) operates with the vision to 

“deliver health and opportunity to all Michiganders, reducing intergenerational poverty and 

promoting health equity.” With broadband indicated as a super determinant of health (SDOH), 

it is imperative to equitably roll out broadband infrastructure and the necessary technical 

support to rural and underrepresented communities. Particular emphasis is to be paid to 

Michigan’s Tribal communities given their simultaneous rurality and historically 

underrepresented status.  

MIHI and MDHHS will work together to support the monitoring and tracking of health 

outcomes in areas both pre- and post-deployment through existing health monitoring and could 

expand to new datasets as needed. Continued partnership with the Health IT commission is 

paramount to improving health outcomes for Michigan. 

Additionally, MIHI will work with MDHHS to promote and improve the way in which benefits 

such as SNAP, FAP, Medicare, and Medicaid are accessed by improving the MIBridges portal to 

improve accessibility for individuals with few digital skills. MIHI and MDHHS will work to 

promote relevant programs to MIBridges users, such as the Affordable Connectivity Program. 

  



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 19 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 

Coordinate and collaborate with the Michigan Department of State to 

provide trainings to Michiganders about their digital citizenship  

 

With the rise of political and civic engagement transitioning to exclusively online mechanisms, it 

is imperative to support covered populations in getting involved in the services provided by the 

state. The Michigan Department of State emphasizes equity in engagement and utilizes a team 

of individuals to specifically reach out to historically underrepresented communities regarding 

the changes MDOS is implementing and how it will effect them. MIHI and the MDOS will work 

closely to educate Michiganders on the tools available to engage digitally.  

Additionally, to promote safety and security of covered populations, MIHI will work with MDOS 

to educate individuals on the importance of protecting online activities and how to do so. Many 

Michiganders indicate that they refrain from using online services due to cybersecurity 

concerns. By utilizing preventative education, the online transition will promote better civic 

engagement for Michigan through ease of access and barrier removal to voter registration 

and/or license renewals.  



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 20 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Key Performance Indicators:  

Below are the key performance indicators by which MIHI will measure the effectiveness of the 

Digital Equity Act implementation plan. The goals and strategies outlined above detail the 

holistic ways in which MIHI will work to support the systemic changes needed to close the 

digital divide effectively and permanently. The goals and KPIs are designed to work in tandem, 

but may not initially appear to align, however they are intrinsically connected. For example, the 

goal of attracting workers and businesses to Michigan will be effected as MIHI improves the 

affordability and availability of service throughout the state, particularly rural areas. With more 

broadband availability, more Michiganders can work from home, which will impact their income 

or their options for educational advancement, and so on.  

Each KPI will be measured on a scale that will indicate zero when the digital divide has been 

closed. The baseline for each of the below KPIs will be determined as part of the initial phase of 

the State Digital Equity Capacity Grant and the short-term goals will be determined following 

the results of the baseline, however, the long-term goal for each will be to reach zero (0) thereby 

indicated the digital divide has been closed. The data for KPIs is a combination of public data 

sources including the American Community Survey, the FCC, and the Computer Use Survey.  

1. The availability of, and affordability of access to fixed and wireless broadband technology 

a. An affordability score that combines three data sets 

i. Internet-income ratio developed as part of Purdue University’s Digital 

Divide Index (measured by each covered population in each region) 

ii. The ratio between the FCC’s Benchmark Rate for 100/20 Mbps unlimited 

internet service and what each covered population in each region would 

pay for home internet service 

iii. Percentage of households who temporarily lost their internet connection 

due to inability or difficulty paying for the subscription (measured by each 

covered population in each region) 

2. The online accessibility and inclusivity of public resources and services 

a. A digital government accessibility score 

i. Likelihood of each covered population to access government services 

online as compared to how likely they are to use telehealth, online 

banking, or online consumer services 

3. Digital literacy 

a. A digital participation score that combines two things: 

i. Proportion of each covered population in each region that struggles to use 

computers or internet devices 

ii. Likelihood of each covered population is to do various online tasks versus 

the overall statewide average 

4. Awareness of, and the use of, measures to secure the online privacy of, and cybersecurity 

with respect to an individual 

a. A Digital Security Score that combines two things: 

i. The percentage of each covered population in each region which has 

refrained from one or more online activities due to cybersecurity concerns 

ii. The percentage of each covered population in each region which doesn’t 

use the internet at all due to cybersecurity or privacy concerns 

5. The availability and affordability of consumer devices and technical support for those 

devices 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 21 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

a. A Device Distress Score for each covered population in each region that 

compares: 

i. Percentage of homes with no computing device at all 

ii. Percentage of homes with only a smartphone 

iii. Percentage of homes where someone was unable to use a computer five or 

more days during the last six months because someone else was using it/it 

was elsewhere/it was otherwise inaccessible 

  



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 22 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 

2 Current State of Digital Equity: Barriers and Assets  

2.1 Asset Inventory 

The objective of this section is to provide an overview of the specific advantages that the state of 

Michigan has in terms of advancing digital equity for underserved communities. It aims to 

compile a comprehensive list of existing resources, programs, and strategies that contribute to 

digital inclusion and promote availability and adoption. The inventory encompasses both 

publicly and privately funded assets, as well as digital equity initiatives and plans initiated by 

various governmental entities such as municipal, regional, and Tribal governments. 

By conducting this asset inventory, the state of Michigan aims to identify and highlight the key 

resources at its disposal, enabling the effective implementation of the Digital Equity Plan. This 

comprehensive approach aims to bridge the existing gaps and address the specific needs of the 

state in order to accomplish its goals and objectives for achieving digital equity. 

 

2.1.1 Digital Inclusion Assets by Covered Population  
 

2.1.1.1 Introduction and Methodology for Identifying Digital Inclusion Assets 

Leveraging existing assets is a key strategy for both the Digital Equity and BEAD programs, this 

is why MIHI developed a Digital Inclusion Resource Map in September 2022. The map serves as 

a tool for: 

1. Collecting information regarding existing assets from the communities  

2. Understanding the current digital inclusion programs, offerings, and resources available in 

communities across Michigan. 

3. Promoting these new and existing programs to communities  

The map was developed based on responses received to the Michigan Statewide Digital 

Inclusion survey developed by MIHI and distributed to key stakeholders and the public 

throughout the state. MIHI used several channels to engage stakeholders and encourage 

participation in the survey, including socializing it at community meetings as part of the MI 

Connected Future tour, Partnership Roundtables, and in the MIHI newsletter. Additionally, the 

survey is easily accessible and prominently displayed on the MIHI website. By targeting 

stakeholders, such as non-profit organizations, for-profit organizations, government agencies, 

colleges, universities, trade schools, public libraries, and K-12 schools, the survey seeks to 

determine the current state of digital equity and inclusion programs and identify key 

organizations involved in these efforts. Based on these insights, the Digital Inclusion Resource 

Map is continuously updated, providing an ongoing and up-to-date inventory of digital inclusion 

assets in Michigan.  

In addition to the Digital Inclusion Resource Map, MIHI has independently developed a robust 

list of assets, plans, and programs that can support digital inclusion. As a way to identify the 

resource and initiatives and associated gaps in each, the MIHI office developed a robust and 

innovative community and stakeholder engagement process called MI Connected Future 

(MICF). The MICF aimed to holistically and authentically engage with communities and 

https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/cngis.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=7ef79be851894cc5bdd60c1510fbafcb__;!!N8Xdb1VRTUMlZeI!lt68Yxzy5c5beLQUT30eKcUeSIfO7PmGLDm0CwitJcrMEkzR_iBYM4jcKW8Jdwh55Q0quonxaasHwyOJWm9j5kRCM-rg0A$
https://survey123.arcgis.com/share/5f335f934fd049dead669d712b282d5f


 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 23 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

stakeholders to provide the state with input and direction needed to achieve universal 

broadband access and a more digitally equitable state. MIHI adopted the ethos of “listen first, 

plan second” to ensure the needs and current challenges of communities and stakeholders were 

collected and incorporated into the planning process equitably. This key initiative demonstrates 

that Michigan is at the forefront of the efforts to promote digital equity and inclusion. MIHI will 

continue working towards achieving its goal of a more connected and equitable Michigan by 

maintaining a collaborative approach with stakeholders across the state and providing ongoing 

support for existing and emerging digital equity and inclusion assets, plans, and programs. 

 

2.1.1.2 Digital Inclusion Assets 

In addition to the Digital Inclusion Resource Map and MICF, MIHI has identified other assets 
throughout the state that can play a significant role in closing the digital divide across the state 
of Michigan. The assets identified in this section do not constitute an exhaustive list but 
represent a best effort from the MIHI Office to identify key assets across state government.  

In this section, a selection of the state’s digital inclusion assets were aligned with the covered 
populations they support, as outlined in Table 2. Additional assets identified through the 
Michigan Statewide Digital Inclusion survey are summarized in Appendix A-1.  For clarity and 
context, a definition for each of the covered population categories are presented in Table 1, 
sourced from the Digital Equity Act of 2021. Despite not being a covered population under the 
Digital Equity Act of 2021, at-risk youth category was added to the list based on the Digital 
Inclusion Resource Map survey, which reflected significant digital inclusion efforts in this area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 24 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Table 1: Definitions of Covered Populations 

 

 

17 Guide to Disability Rights Laws | ADA.gov 

 Covered Population Description 

 
Covered households  

Households with income no more than 150 percent 
of the federal poverty threshold. 

 
Aging Individuals Individuals 60 years and older. 

 
Incarcerated individuals  

All persons in State prisons, local jails and other 
municipal confinement facilities, correctional 
residential facilities, and correctional facilities 
intended for juveniles. This does not include 
individuals who are incarcerated in a federal 
correctional facility. 

 
Veterans 

All persons aged 18 years and older who served in 
the armed forces in the past but are no longer on 
active duty. 

 
Individuals with disabilities 

A person who has a physical or mental impairment 
that substantially limits one or more major life 
activities, a person who has a history or record of 
such an impairment, or a person who is perceived by 
others as having such an impairment17. 

 

Individuals with language 
barriers 

This includes:  
a) English learners: Individuals who speak a 

language other than English at home and 
speak English less than “very well.” 

b) Have low levels of literacy: Individuals below 
literacy proficiency 

 
Racial or ethnic minorities 

Individuals who identify as a race other than White 
alone or as Hispanic or Latino of any race. 

 
Rural community  

Individuals living outside of cities and towns with 
more than 20,000 residents or living outside larger 
cities and towns with more than 50,000 residents 
and their surrounding urban areas.  

 
At-risk youth 

An individual who is less than 18 years of age who 
faces extreme threats to a successful transition into 
adulthood.  

https://www.ada.gov/resources/disability-rights-guide/


 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 25 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Table 2:  Select Digital Inclusion Assets by Covered Population 

 

A more detailed description of the select digital inclusion assets are included below:  

MI Dept. of Labor and Economic Opportunity (LEO), Michigan Poverty  

Taskforce  

The Michigan PTF is committed to finding ways to strengthen, broaden, coordinate, and 

streamline existing state efforts to ensure that Michigan families have access to the support they 

need. The Michigan PTF will work to evaluate measures and better understand poverty's impact 

on Michigan families and communities, identifying root causes and opportunities to bring 

positive change. The PTF is creating a coordinated plan to help communities address the digital 

Select Digital Inclusion 
Assets 

Covered Populations 

 

 Covered 
households 

Aging 
individuals 

Incarcerated 
individuals  

Veterans 
 
 
 
 
  

Individuals 
with 
disabilities 
 
 
 
 

Individuals 
with a 
language 
barrier 

Racial/Ethnic 
minorities 

 Rural 
community 

Youth 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MI Dept. of Labor and 
Economic Opportunity 
(LEO), Michigan Poverty 
Taskforce 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓   ✓ ✓   ✓   

MI Dept. of Labor and 
Economic Opportunity 
(LEO), Office of Global 
Michigan 

     ✓ ✓   

Michigan 2-1-1, 2-1-1 
Assistance ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  
MI Public Service 
Commission (MPSC), Wi-
Fi Hot Spot Map 

✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  

MI Dept. of Technology, 
Management, and Budget 
(DTMB), Michigan 
Geographic Framework 

✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  

DTMB, Michigan Public 
Safety Communications 
System (MPSCS) 

✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  

MI Dept. of Health and 
Human Services, 
Community Information 
Exchange (CIE) 

✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  

Southeast Michigan 
Broadband Navigator ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  
Washtenaw Community 
College, Fiber Optics 
Certifications 

✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  

Closing the Digital Gap ✓ ✓  ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓  ✓ 
Human-I-T ✓         
Michigan Public Libraries ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  
Michigan K-12 schools and 
school districts ✓    ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  
Community Centers ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  
Health 
Divisions/Departments ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  ✓  



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 26 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

divide, which acts as a barrier for families in accessing available economic, educational, health, 

housing, and safety services, and it awarded funding to create a playbook for local communities 

to plan their broadband expansion efforts. The Michigan Poverty Task Force can help promote 

digital equity by identifying root causes of poverty, reducing access barriers, and streamlining 

efforts across the state to ensure accessibility to digital resources and technology for all covered 

populations. 

 

MI Dept. of Labor and Economic Opportunity (LEO), Office of Global Michigan 

The mission of the Office of Global Michigan is to empower and engage the immigrant, refugee, 

and international community to make Michigan the home for opportunity. The office assists 

immigrant and refugee communities with connectivity needs, as well as licensing, workforce 

training, education, housing, healthcare, and quality of life. The Office also works with state 

agencies that provide services to immigrants and refugees and strives to minimize or eliminate 

barriers to accessing those state services. 

 

Michigan 2-1-1, 2-1-1 Assistance  

Michigan 2-1-1 provides individuals with a confidential and free-to-use service (by simply calling 

or texting 2-1-1 or visiting their website), connecting all covered populations with local 

community-based organizations offering thousands of programs and services. 2-1-1 Assistance is 

a robust information and referral system that provides users with information on a range of 

services, including the Affordable Connectivity Program, and assistance with needs such as food, 

housing, financial aid, employment, childcare, education, healthcare, and mental health, as well 

as household needs and utility payments. Michigan 2-1-1 serves as a connectivity tool for 

individuals seeking help and resources within their community. The accessibility of this service, 

one of 2-1-1’s guiding principles, on a digital platform helps promote digital equity and ensure 

that all individuals have access to critical resources. 

 

MI Public Service Commission (MPSC), Wi-Fi Hot Spot Map  

During the COVID-19 pandemic, MPSC partnered with Connected Nation Michigan to create a 

map of known public Wi-Fi hotspots to support those without a home connection. The resulting 

interactive broadband map enables all covered populations to search for broadband availability 

by street address, view the types of broadband available, and locate providers offering service at 

their home or business.  

 

MI Dept. of Technology, Management, and Budget (DTMB), Michigan Geographic 

Framework  

DTMB supports the business operations of state agencies through services such as the 

management of a variety of geospatial datasets, enterprise software licenses, aerial photography, 

and other remote sensing products that can be used for various purposes. The Michigan 

Geographic Framework serves as the digital base map for the State government and assists in 

maintaining core enterprise spatial assets. The Michigan Geographic Framework is an 

integrated and centralized place to store and maintain data, where it can also be standardized 

and shared with other entities to create accurate Geographic Information Systems (GIS) maps.  

 

 

 

DTMB, Michigan Public Safety Communications System (MPSCS)  

https://mi211.org/


 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 27 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

The MPSCS is a network of over 300 towers and more than 14,000 radios located throughout 

the state that supports public safety communications, such as first responders in their service to 

citizens. These towers can also be used as colocation points for wireless broadband facilities. 

MPSCS also provides interoperable voice and data communications to federal, state, local and 

private public safety agencies all over the state of Michigan. 

 

MI Dept. of Health and Human Services, Community Information Exchange 

(CIE)  

CIE is a localized effort to create and sustain the technology and relationships required to 

support Social Determinants of Health (SDOH) needs of both individuals and communities. CIE 

maximizes a person-centered approach by ensuring social care information for all covered 

populations is collected only as needed and is stored safely. CIE's initiatives encompass a wide 

range of objectives related to digital equity, including expanding broadband access, supporting 

digital literacy, and promoting patient agency in accessing and mediating their health and social 

care data. 

 

 

Southeast Michigan Broadband Navigator 

The Southeast Michigan Broadband Navigator is a resource that provides information on 

broadband availability, digital literacy, equity, inclusion, cybersecurity, funding, and programs. 

It is a resource for communities, governments, educators, and stakeholders by providing data 

and maps on broadband availability and usage. The navigator will be regularly updated and 

expanded to address emerging issues and respond to feedback from stakeholders. The intent of 

the Navigator is to help Michigan residents answer questions related to broadband access, 

availability, and affordability, as well as provide information on resources and policies to 

increase equitable broadband access. 

 

Washtenaw Community College, Fiber Optics Certifications  

Washtenaw Community College offers certification courses for fiber optic technicians, fiber 

specialists in testing and maintenance, and fiber specialist in splicing. The comprehensive 

training program combines theory and hands-on learning experiences to prepare any individual, 

with a high school diploma, to take the Certified Fiber Optic Technician exam. 

 

Closing the Digital Gap (CTDG) 

CTDG is a nonprofit corporation headquartered in Lansing. Closing the Digital Gap provides 

computer training, computer ownership and internet access to small non-profit organizations 

and individual in Michigan who may be unemployed, underemployed, low-income, single 

parents, disabled, veterans, immigrants, at-risk youth, and seniors. Its mission is to provide low-

to moderate income residents of the service area the opportunity to earn or purchase a low-cost 

computer, receive computer/Internet training and access internet services for low-cost, along 

with assisting participants in making connections with community resources through referrals 

for further training or resources that may lead to employment and/or educational enrichment 

for participants and their families. CTDG further services micro-enterprises/entrepreneurs and 

small non-profits to support with technology and training in Michigan both online, in-person, 

and through a blended delivery of training, programs and services. 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 28 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Human-I-T 

Human-I-T is an organization that believes removing systemic social and economic barriers is 

essential to shrinking the digital divide. They are committed to shrinking the digital divide by 

providing communities with equitable access to opportunity through devices, internet access, 

digital skills training, and tech support. The organization has distributed 318K tech items, 

assisted 105K households with internet and provided digital literacy training to 7K learners. The 

organization runs an online store, HITConnect.org, which offers laptops, desktops, and tablets 

for as low as $50 per device to Detroiters. They also offer Detroit households eligible for 

Comcast Internet Essentials high-speed home Wi-Fi for $9.95 a month. 

 

Michigan Public Libraries 

Across the state, Michigan has 665 public libraries, which are integral to supporting digital 

equity and inclusion efforts. Michigan public libraries commonly offer public computers and 

free internet access through wireless connections (Wi-Fi), although the availability of services 

and technologies may differ across locations; the overarching aim is to provide individuals with 

access to resources and information, both in physical and digital formats. For instance, the Elk 

Rapids District Library has allowed library cardholders to access Wi-Fi hotspots for the past six 

years due to the high cost and unreliable nature of rural internet. Similarly, the Kent District 

Library provides an array of digital and technical resources, such as one-on-one technology 

tutoring, classes for seniors learning computer basics, and computer software tutorial courses.  

Hence, libraries play an integral role in building digital literacy, engaging in workforce 

development, and expanding access to the internet across the state.  

 

Michigan K-12 schools and school districts 

Primary and secondary institutions play an integral role in developing digital literacy skills for 

children and adolescents. There are a total of 899 districts in Michigan, with 3,400 public 

schools serving over 1.4 million students. The Michigan Integrated Technology Competencies 

for Students (MITECS) is a statewide effort spearheaded by the Michigan Department of 

Education to focus on learning enhanced by technology by integrating technology competencies 

across all areas. Digital literacy plays a large part in the effort, centralizing on responsible digital 

citizenship and the utilization of digital tools to solve problems and achieve goals in a creative, 

innovative, and collaborative manner. Additionally, some school districts, such as the Detroit 

Public Schools Community District, have a device lending program that allow students to 

borrow laptops and Wi-Fi hotspots to use in and outside classroom settings.  

K-12 schools also play a large role in providing internet to students, faculty, and staff. During the 

COVID-19 pandemic, many devices such as laptops, wireless tablets, and Wi-Fi hotspots were 

loaned to students to complete coursework through distanced learning. Certain schools, such as 

schools in St. Clair County, installed wireless hotspots to provide 24-hour internet access across 

the county to students, faculty, and staff. K-12 institutions provide the foundation to develop 

digital skills through expanding training and access. 

 

Community Centers 

Community centers, including those that provide social, educational, or recreational activities, 

generally provide services to individuals of all-ages and often serve as locations where 

information and resources can be accessed. For instance, the Martin Luther King Community 

Center in Jackson has a dedicated computer center and provides Wi-Fi to the public. During the 

COVID-19 pandemic, many community centers, such as the New Troy Community Center in 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 29 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

New Troy and Baxter Community Center in Grand Rapids, were transformed into “Lift Zones”. 

Lift Zones was a partnership with Comcast where free Wi-Fi HotSpots were provided to allow 

for free access to the internet. Community centers are playing an increasingly large role in 

expanding digital equity and access. 

 

Health Divisions/Departments 

There are 43 Health Divisions and Departments across the state of Michigan, all tasked with the 

promotion of public health and wellness. An essential component of the promotion of public 

health is health equity—ensuring all individuals have access to needed resources. Hence, several 

Health Divisions and Departments provide services to aiding individuals with online enrollment 

in public assistance programs. For example, the Grand Traverse County Health Department has 

developed the Michigan Child Collaborative Care (MC3) Telemedicine Program, which provides 

psychiatric support to primary care providers in Michigan managing patients with behavioral 

health problems. The program supports telehealth by offering same-day phone consultations 

and remote psychiatric evaluation via video telepsychiatry. Moreover, the COVID-19 pandemic 

has increased the use of telehealth to provide needed services to the general population. 

Telehealth can be beneficial for many populations, such as those living in rural areas, are low-

income, lack transportation, and are disabled, as many such barriers can be removed using 

telehealth.  

 

2.1.2 Existing Digital Equity Plans 
Creating a more digitally equitable Michigan is a significant priority for the state, and many 

existing plans and efforts support this goal. Listed below are several existing state, local, and 

regional plans and efforts that have been identified as critical components in supporting and 

enabling state objectives related to digital equity and inclusion. Though the list is not exhaustive, 

it highlights much of the state’s plans for education, economic development, healthcare, 

transportation, workforce development, and equity which are inextricably linked to universal 

availability and adoption of broadband service.  

2021 Michigan Broadband Roadmap 

To bridge the digital divide and improve digital equity and inclusion, MIHI has committed to 

implement strategies to ensure that every Michigander, business, institution, and community 

can meaningfully adopt high-speed internet service. In support of this mission, MIHI developed 

a Michigan Broadband Roadmap, which established four core goals related to digital equity and 

inclusion as mentioned below: 

1. Ensure high-speed internet is available to every household, business, anchor institution, 

and community in the state 

2. Create a more digitally equitable Michigan 

3. Improve the state’s broadband ecosystem 

4. Enhance and coordinate Michigan’s broadband related investments with other 

investments in social programs, education, and economic equity and development 

Michigan Poverty Task Force Report  

The Michigan Poverty Task Force issued its second report with recommendations aimed at 

lifting Michiganders out of poverty, connecting families in every corner of Michigan with 

economic opportunity, improving quality of life, improving outcomes, and creating real change. 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 30 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

The following selection of recommendations from the report are relevant to supporting the work 

of MIHI is undertaking in the successful implementation of the DEA and BEAD programs: 

1. Increase investments in a universal benefit application so Michigan residents can apply 

for resources in one place, which can promote digital equity by enhancing resident’s 

access to digital resources and services.  

2. Establish a highly visible education and awareness effort to boost participation in and 

access to a formal network of Community-Based Education and Training Information 

Portals, which can establish an accessible resource for residents to access education, 

training, career resources, and other digital resources. 

3. Develop a coordinated strategy to help communities address the digital divide, including 

identifying best practices and effective measures to provide digital resources, access to 

training and education, and other tools necessary to bridge the digital divide and promote 

digital equity.  

The report includes other recommendations that are indirectly related to the success of the DEA 

and BEAD programs, and could be implemented more effectively by ensuring every home, 

business, and institution in the state has access to affordable and reliable high-speed internet. 

Michigan Economic Development Corporation (MEDC) Five-Year Strategic Plan  

The MEDC is Michigan’s economic development lead with a mission to achieve long-term 

economic prosperity for Michiganders by investing in communities, enabling the growth of good 

paying jobs, and promoting Michigan’s strong image worldwide. The strategic focus areas rely 

heavily on achieving universal broadband availability and improved digital equity by adopting 

the following activities: 

1. Attract, keep, and grow businesses in industries that support maximum growth in jobs, 

wages and investments. 

2. Cultivate the skills and talent needed for in-demand and high-growth occupations 

statewide. 

3. Collaborate with local communities and partners to create places in which people and 

talent want to live, work, visit and play. 

4. Support entrepreneurial growth to enable commercialization and new high-tech business 

creation. 

5. Promote Michigan’s image as a world-class business location and travel destination. 

6. Help existing small and microbusinesses grow and thrive and improve economic 

prosperity for all through small business ownership. 

 

Michigan’s Statewide Housing Plan  

The Statewide Housing Plan of Michigan, the first of its kind for the state, focuses on creating 

housing stability for all residents. The plan includes five statewide housing targets, eight priority 

areas, 37 goals, and 134 suggested strategies to address complex and intersecting challenges 

related to achieving housing stability. Feedback from thousands of residents, hundreds of 

organizational partners, public surveys, focus groups, meetings, and interviews informed the 

five-year plan. Broadband Infrastructure is a key priority with the goal of increasing affordable 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 31 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

high-speed internet access. One strategy is to coordinate with MIHI and others to improve 

accessibility and affordability of high-speed internet. The plan also includes a strategy to offer 

extra points when awarding contracts for projects that provide high-speed internet access, 

particularly in rural and low-connectivity areas. 

Education Equity in Michigan Plan  

Created by the Michigan Civil Rights Commission in September 2022, the Education Equity in 

Michigan Plan recommends that the Michigan Department of Civil Rights expand the existing 

Council for Government and Education on Equity and Inclusion to include representatives of 

the Michigan Department of Education and establish the Council as the entity responsible for 

implementing and overseeing the following recommendations for action: 

1. Develop a Statewide Educational Equity Plan to enhance policies, accountability, and 

opportunities for all, using a holistic approach to inform the Michigan Department of 

Civil Rights, the State Department of Education, and schools statewide 

2. Encourage schools across the state to create local school equity plans and contribute 

information and resources to encourage and support equitable practices and 

opportunities for schools  

3. Increase internet access for students and families and develop an easily accessible 

electronic outreach and inclusion model that is available to everyone involved in the 

education process 

Given the necessity of high-speed internet connectivity and digital inclusion in the P-20 

environment, this plan supports the vision and mission of MIHI for the State Digital Equity Plan 

to create a more digitally equitable state by ensuring equity of access across several aspects of 

the education ecosystem. 

Michigan’s Top 10 Strategic Education Plan  

The Top 10 Strategic Education Plan has a vision that states; “every learner in Michigan’s public 

schools will have an inspiring, engaging, and caring learning environment that fosters creative 

and critical thinkers who believe in their ability to positively influence Michigan and the world 

beyond.”  

One of the key guiding principles of the plan states that students should be provided every 

opportunity to achieve the broadest range of life dreams, and a selection of key goals seek to; 1) 

expand early childhood learning opportunities; 2) improve the health, safety, and wellness of all 

learners; 3) expand secondary learning opportunities for all students; and 4) increase the 

percentage of adults with a postsecondary credential. While high-speed internet access isn’t 

explicitly called out in the plan, equitable and affordable access and use are inherent in 

supporting Michigan’s achievement of the goals outlined in the plan. 

Health Information Technology Roadmap  

This roadmap is maintained and implemented by the Policy and Planning, Strategic 

Engagement, and Alignment section of the Michigan Department of Health and Human 

Services. The Health Information Technology Roadmap identifies several relevant goals, 

objectives, and strategies that impact and are impacted by the state digital equity programs: 

1. Address Michigan's Digital Divide by ensuring that all communities have equal access to 

important public health information and resources 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 32 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

2. Improve Onboarding and Technical Assistance by providing the necessary training and 

support to individuals and communities on how to effectively use digital health tools 

While the deployment of universal high-speed internet service and addressing digital equity 

contribute to each of these objectives, the objective from the Roadmap to, “Address Michigan’s 

Digital Divide,” directly aligns with the vision and goals of Michigan’s Digital Equity Plan and 

BEAD.   

Michigan Roadmap to Healthy Communities  

The Michigan Roadmap to Healthy Communities aims to address the Social Determinants of 

Health (SDOH) through a collaborative, upstream approach to remove barriers to social and 

economic opportunity, improve health outcomes, and advance equity. Phase I of the SDOH 

Strategy promoted the alignment of efforts at the state, local, and community level and the 

improvement of programs and policies through an in-depth internal review. It prioritized efforts 

in three focus areas – health equity, housing stability, and food security. Phase II of the SDOH 

Strategy builds on improvement and alignment efforts from Phase I, with a focused effort on 

health equity through multisector collaboration and supporting holistic solutions. 

A key component of the Roadmap is the development of a Community Information Exchange 

(CIE). A CIE is an evolving set of best practices and technology guided by the goal of identifying 

and addressing social needs. As identified in the plan, a successful CIE requires widespread 

access to broadband and technology and a workforce trained in its use, agreed protocols around 

data collection and coding, staff with dedicated time to facilitate the referral process, and a 

robust network of referral partners. The success of this plan is heavily reliant on the universal 

availability of high-speed internet service.  

MI Healthy Climate Plan  

The Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) published the MI 

Health Climate Plan in April 2022. This plan lays out a broad vision for fulfilling the governor’s 

fall 2020 commitment for Michigan to achieve 100% economy-wide carbon neutrality by 

midcentury – the global science-based benchmark for reducing greenhouse gas emissions to 

avoid the most devastating and costly impacts of climate change. The plan establishes ambitious 

goals and strategies for achieving the plan’s vision.  

Broadband internet access is crucial to achieve the goals laid out in the MI Healthy Climate Plan 

as it enables people to access the latest climate science, connect human activities to climate 

impacts, and make informed decisions. It is important to advocate for equitable access to this 

information, so that all residents can make informed decisions regarding climate change. 

Thirty-Year Integrated Infrastructure Plan  

Developed by the Michigan Infrastructure Council, this plan includes the state’s dig-once 

strategy to collocate facilities during construction within state and local rights-of-way. The 

strategies in the Integrated Infrastructure Plan, including dig-once and ROW access, are also 

identified in the Broadband and Digital Equity (BEAD) Five Year Action Plan as strategies to 

help remove obstacles to broadband deployment and adoption in historically marginalized and 

underserved communities. This plan enables the efficient deployment of broadband networks 

and universal availability of broadband access, which are key factors to achieving digital equity. 

This plan is currently under development. 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 33 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Michigan Public Service Commission (MPSC) Strategic Plan  

The mission of the MPSC is to serve the public by ensuring safe, reliable, and accessible energy 

and telecommunications services at reasonable rates. While the MPSC does not regulate 

broadband, the commission intersects with the goals, vision, and objectives of the MIHI Office, 

the BEAD plan, and this plan. By working towards the goal of expanding broadband access, the 

MPSC is supporting the overall efforts of the MIHI Office to promote digital equity and 

inclusion across the state. The following are selected key goals and strategies of the MPSC 

Strategic Plan that support the efforts of the MIHI Office. 

1. Empower customers to make informed utility choices 

a) Publish accurate information on energy and telecommunications programs 

b) Promote Connect Michigan broadband expansion 

c) Collaborate with other state departments and stakeholders 

d) Develop energy and technology pilots 

2. Assure safe, secure, and reliable utility services and infrastructure 

a) Issue a Telecommunications Assessment 

b) Define roles for telecommunications outage monitoring 

c) Support the transition to IP-911 

3. Assure accessible and affordable utility services through regulatory oversight 

a) Administer and promote customer programs 

4. Cultivate open and diverse communication and education 

a) Establish and encourage virtual stakeholder participation in workgroups and 

proceedings 

b) Engage partners on informational webinars/forums 

c) Evaluate communication and outreach programs and efforts 

Michigan Future Mobility Plan  

The Michigan Office of Future Mobility and Electrification oversees the Michigan Future 

Mobility Plan. This plan identifies several objectives to position the state as a leader in next-

generation mobility. A few of the objectives are impacted by digital equity programs, including 

deploying EV chargers, ensuring Mobility as a Service (MaaS), and reducing congestion and 

traffic crashes.  

Mobility and electrification are heavily reliant on the availability of wired and wireless 

connections to provide real-time data, enable transactions, and monitor the electrical grid and 

associated systems. Universal connectivity and adoption are important for the operations of EV 

chargers and transit access. Having large green sites that are attractive for automotive 

investments in the future will mean looking outside of traditional urban areas to parts of the 

state that aren't connected today. The operations of intelligent transportation systems and 

connected/automated vehicle tech rely on the reliable availability of the Internet of Things (IoT) 

and edge computing across cellular-vehicle-to-vehicle/everything (CV2V / CV2X) systems. 

Michigan’s digital equity programs directly support the success of the Michigan Future Mobility 

Plan. 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 34 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Michigan Mobility 2045 Plan  

Michigan’s State Long-Range Transportation Plan (MM2045) is an essential element of 

Michigan’s transportation planning and program development process. The public- and 

stakeholder-driven plan provides a foundation for developing Michigan’s transportation 

programs, including MDOT’s Five-Year Transportation Program (5YTP) and the statewide, rural 

and metropolitan transportation improvement programs, and presents the social and economic 

cases for transportation investment in Michigan.  

The universal availability of high-speed internet is recognized as a key requirement for the 

successful implementation of the MM2045 Plan. Additionally, the plan contains the following 

strategies that are relevant to the digital equity programs and work of the MIHI Office: 

1. Identify opportunities to expand fiberoptic, broadband, and 5G connections through 

coordination or partnerships. 

2. Leverage technology to improve passenger transportation availability and services. 

3. Invest in data, data collection, analytics, and information systems to advance data 

informed decisions. 

4. Extend opportunities to share data and information for improved efficiency, 

accountability, and transparency across all of Michigan’s transportation partners. 

5. Implement and expand a real-time Transportation Infrastructure Data Exchange (TIDE) 

system to function as a centralized platform to support continuous exchange of 

transportation data among MDOT and other stakeholders. 

Michigan Workforce Development Plan  

The Michigan Workforce Development Plan is maintained and implemented by the 

Employment and Training Division of LEO, the same agency the MIHI Office is part of. The plan 

identifies a projected worker shortage in twelve NTIA identified occupation groups. The most 

significant occupation groups impacted by projected shortfall are “laborers and material 

movers,” “trenchers,” and “inspectors” which are facing a 11.9%, 10.4%, and 9.8% shortfall 

respectively.  The Michigan Workforce Development Plan outlines several steps to address the 

projected shortage that could impact the expansion and access to digital resources statewide 

related to digital equity: 

1. Engagement of underrepresented communities, unions, worker organizations. 

2. Leveraging and partnering with subgrantees, contractors, subcontractors, educational 

institutions, supportive service providers, and workforce/labor training providers  

MIHI is actively partnering with the workforce development division of LEO to creatively solve 

these shortfall projections. Upcoming workforce strategies highlight the importance of diversity, 

equity, and inclusion to expand the labor pool to those not historically represented in the 

construction industry.  

Michigan Sixty by 30 Strategic Plan  

The Michigan Sixty by 30 Initiative aims to increase postsecondary educational attainment to 

60% by 2030. The Sixty by 30 program is housed within the LEO, the same agency the MIHI 

Office is part of. The Sixty by 30 Strategic Plan outlines several focus areas that are impacted by 

the work of the MIHI Office including, boosting youth college going rates, creating pathways for 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 35 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

immigrants and international students, and addressing barriers to success, especially for 

students living below the ALICE threshold. 

Expanding access to high-speed internet and promoting digital equity contribute to the 

objectives of the Sixty by 30 initiative, which prioritizes student and career success. 

Existing County Plans 

Connected Nation's "Connected Community" program has partnered with 10 counties across the 

state of Michigan to conduct an assessment regarding the current status of broadband and to 

establish a broadband planning process. Through surveys of local residents, businesses, and 

organizations, the program aims to understand the existing resources and capabilities in place to 

support the access, adoption, and use of broadband technology in homes and businesses. Data 

obtained from this assessment is used to develop an appropriate action plan to improve the 

broadband ecosystem effectively, addressing the current and future broadband needs of these 

counties. The program's aim is to enhance the accessibility, affordability, and availability of 

broadband technology in the counties, leading to social and economic development. Appendix 

A-1 provides additional information on the Technology Action Plan development of the 10 

county plans listed below. 

Cheboygan County Eaton County 

Huron County Lake County 

Lapeer County Midland County 

Newaygo County Oceana County 

Sanilac County Tuscola County 

 

Please note that these are not the entirety of county plans that MIHI is aware of, rather, these 

are the 10 county plans which were developed in tandem with Connected Nation. 

Washtenaw County Broadband Equity Subcommittee Final Report 

Washtenaw County’s Broadband Equity Subcommittee final report highlights how lack of 

broadband access is impacting residents across the county. The Committee suggests several 

activities to achieve this goal, such as defining the need, supporting best and emerging practices, 

seeking funding, changing or updating policies, and coordinating with local governments. 

Digital Equity and Inclusion – City of Detroit  

The Office of Digital Equity & Inclusion in Detroit offers solutions and resources to bridge the 

digital divide in the city by providing affordable and quality high-speed internet, access to 

devices, digital literacy training, technical support, and upgraded internet infrastructure city-

wide. 

The Office of Digital Equity and Inclusion developed an interactive digital dashboard that 

defines the needs of Detroit residents. The interactive dashboard provides transparency to the 

residents of Detroit concerning the allocation of resources and services geared towards closing 

the digital gap in the city. This data driven approach will allow for the creation of customized 

digital equity plans for each district and neighborhood to meet the needs of the community. 

Southeast Michigan Council of Governments (SEMCOG) 

SEMCOG developed Broadband in Southeast Michigan, a roadmap that identifies key 

challenges and opportunities, policy recommendations, and case studies for expanding 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 36 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

broadband throughout the region. The goal of the roadmap is to promote accessibility of high-

speed broadband to homes and businesses across Michigan to enhance community and 

economic development, improve quality of life, provide access to education and lifelong learning 

opportunities, support remote work demand, and promote equitable access to health. The four 

goals related to digital equity include: 

1. Expand high-speed broadband availability throughout Southeast Michigan 

2. Improve data on broadband availability and access to reflect current conditions with 

accuracy 

3. Ensure equitable access to broadband and support digital literacy efforts for students, 

seniors, and households with limited access to resources 

4. Coordinate broadband efforts at the State level to support broadband development for 

community and economic development 

 

2.1.2.1 Asset Gaps in Existing Digital Equity Plans 

MIHI recognizes the need for additional local, regional, and county digital equity plans to ensure 

equitable access to digital resources and opportunities throughout the state. There should be 

additional focus on building partnerships and collaborations with various stakeholders to 

implement digital inclusion activities at the local level effectively. These efforts will help drive 

the development of more digital equity plans and address the current gaps in Michigan's digital 

inclusion landscape.  

The results of the Digital Inclusion Resource Map, in Appendix A-1, revealed asset gaps 

primarily related to incarcerated individuals, veterans, and individuals with disabilities. 

Although the Digital Inclusion Resource Map is not a complete list of organizations supporting 

Digital Inclusion throughout the state, out of the 208 organizations that completed the survey, 

only four organizations covered incarcerated individuals, and five organizations covered 

veterans and individuals with disabilities. The organizations supporting these individuals 

mainly focused on providing services related to digital access.   

During the partnership roundtable meetings which discussed obstacles and barriers of 

broadband deployment and adoption, participants were asked to share their thoughts and ideas 

regarding digital equity, focusing on device access, digital skills and proficiency, affordability, 

relevance/awareness, and inclusivity. After analyzing the feedback gathered from these 

discussions and responses, we identified several common themes related to asset gaps that 

emerged across these discussions. The following is a summary of these themes, which can guide 

us as we work towards addressing these issues and achieving greater digital equity and inclusion 

in our communities.  

• Rural communities are often left behind when it comes to access to high-speed internet and 

other digital services due to the higher costs associated with providing these services in 

remote areas. This lack of access can have a significant impact on economic development, 

education, healthcare, and social connectivity in these rural communities.  

• In addition to access issues, the cost of service is often higher in rural areas than in urban 

areas. Internet Service Providers (ISPs) have to invest more to build the necessary 

infrastructure in remote areas, and due to smaller populations, they may not be able to 

achieve the same economies of scale as they do in urban areas. This cost burden is usually 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 37 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

passed on to the consumers, making the service more expensive for those who live in rural 

areas. 

• Many individuals do not have access to high-speed internet, which is necessary to access 

telehealth services. This creates a significant gap in healthcare accessibility and highlights 

the need for increased focus on expanding access to telehealth services for all individuals. 

• Deploying broadband infrastructure is a complex and time-consuming process that requires 

significant investment and coordination from stakeholders. Waiting for broadband 

infrastructure to be deployed can result in significant opportunity costs, including lost 

economic development, healthcare, and educational opportunities. 

• Digital literacy and training is a crucial asset gap, especially notable for older generations. 

Digital literacy training can include basic computer skills, internet browsing, digital data 

entry, and file management. Offering digital literacy training in person may be essential to 

serving aging individuals. 

• Digital safety is another critical concern. With the risk of cyber-attacks and digital fraud, it is 

essential to educate people on digital safety best practices. Older generations may be 

particularly vulnerable to scams and fraud. 

MIHI is committed to addressing the digital asset gaps that affect covered populations, 

including veterans, incarcerated individuals, and those with disabilities, while also prioritizing 

removing the obstacles and barriers related to digital equity. The asset gaps and themes 

identified during the Digital Inclusion Resource Map and Partnership Roundtable discussions 

provided key insights for addressing challenges related to broadband deployment and adoption, 

access and affordability, digital literacy and training, digital safety, and more. By recognizing 

these challenges and working together to develop comprehensive solutions, plans, and programs 

we can achieve greater digital equity and inclusion in our communities and bridge the digital 

divide. 

2.1.3 Existing Digital Equity Programs 
In this section, MIHI has identified various existing state and local digital equity programs, and 

outlined how each initiative enables or supports Michigan's digital equity and inclusion goals. 

Although this is not an all-encompassing list, it reflects MIHI's commitment to identify and 

leverage existing programs and initiatives across state and local government as part of the 

strategy to closing the digital divide. Understanding the strengths and potential gaps in service 

of these various programs is crucial in advancing Michigan's broader digital inclusion goals and 

ensuring a cohesive and coordinated approach to achieving digital equity across the state. By 

identifying areas of convergence and potential collaboration across programs, Michigan can 

leverage existing resources, expertise, and momentum, while avoiding duplication of efforts 

especially with the non-deployment aspect of the BEAD program and maximizing the impact of 

state investment in digital inclusion. 

Affordable Connectivity Program Eligible Households  

Eligible Michiganders may qualify for monthly assistance toward paying their monthly home 

internet bill under the federal Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP). The Affordable 

Connectivity Program is a $14.2 billion benefit program that helps ensure that households can 

afford the broadband they need for work, school, healthcare and more. The benefit provides a 

discount of up to $30 per month toward internet service for eligible households and up to $75 

per month for households on qualifying tribal lands. Eligible households can also receive a one-

time discount of up to $100 to purchase a laptop, desktop computer, or tablet from participating 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 38 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

providers if they contribute more than $10 and less than $50 toward the purchase price. The 

Affordable Connectivity Program is limited to one monthly service discount and one device 

discount per household.  

Eligibility for the ACP program is based on household income. ACP-eligible households include 

families with incomes at or below 200% of the federal poverty level and those who qualify for 

Lifeline, SNAP, Free and Reduced-Price School Lunch, WIC and other government-funded 

programs. Essentially, the covered population that this program is geared towards is the 

households with lower incomes. An estimated 1,685,725 households in Michigan are eligible for 

the ACP program. As of April 1, 2023, 604,108 households are enrolled in the program which 

constitutes approximately 35.8% of the estimated eligible households.  

MI Dept. of Education, E-Rate Support  

E-rate is a federal program that provides reduced rates on internet access and internal 

connections for schools and libraries. The discount rate, which ranges between 20% and90%, is 

based on the number of school children in the area who are eligible for a free or reduced lunch, 

and E-rate can save libraries money through lower fees for these vital services. The funding for 

the E-rate program is determined based on the level of demand, up to an annual cap of $4.456 

billion set by the Commission. 

If a state provides eligible schools and libraries with funding for special construction charges for 

high-speed broadband that meets the FCC’s long-term connectivity targets, the E-Rate program 

will increase an applicant’s discount rate for these charges up to an additional 10% to match the 

state funding on a one-to-one dollar basis. For tribal schools and libraries, the E-Rate program 

will also match special construction funding provided by states, tribal governments, or other 

federal agencies on a one-to-one basis, up to an additional 10% for the applicant’s discount rate. 

Total E-Rate support with matching funds may not exceed 100 percent. Discounts for support 

depend on the level of poverty and whether the school or library is located in an urban or rural 

area. 

Michigan Public Service Commission, Utility Assistance Programs  

The Michigan Public Service Commission (MPSC) is the regulatory authority for all utility 

providers in the State of Michigan. The MPSC maintains a database of utility assistance 

programs to support consumers. The purpose of the assistance program is to establish and 

administer programs statewide that provide energy assistance and self-sufficiency services to 

eligible low-income households. Self-sufficiency services include assisting participants with the 

following: paying their utility bills on time, including broadband; budgeting for and contributing 

to their ability to provide for energy expenses, which may include enrollment into an affordable 

payment plan (APP); and utilizing energy services to optimize energy efficiency. Additionally, 

the assistance program allows low-income residents who fall behind on their gas and electric 

bills to stay safely in their homes and become energy self-sufficient through utility bill payment 

assistance and an array of other support programs, including the Affordable Connectivity 

Program (ACP), which offers monthly assistance towards broadband or internet bills. 

Michigan Public Act 95 allows the MPSC to approve a low-income energy assistance “funding 

factor” (a surcharge on utilities), not to exceed $50 million dollars, every year to fund the 

program. In 2017, the MPSC established a monthly .93 cents per meter surcharge on all 

participating electric utilities who have opted-in to fund the program. 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 39 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Connecting Michigan Communities Grant Program  

The Michigan Department of Technology, Management, and Budget (DTMB) is providing a 

grant opportunity to extend broadband service into unserved areas in Michigan. The grant funds 

are available to middle mile and last mile projects that demonstrate collaboration to achieve 

community investment and economic development goals of the area impacted. 

CMIC was created in late 2018 as Michigan’s first broadband infrastructure grant program and 

seeded with $20M in initial funds. An additional $14.3M was added to the program in mid-

2020. The program has issued three rounds of grants with the last occurring in 2022. The 

program is currently housed at the MI Dept. of Technology, Management, and Budget, but 

recent discussion may shift administration of the program to MIHI. No additional grant awards 

are anticipated from the program. The intended outcome of the program is to connect more 

than 17,000 locations to high-speed internet.  

Realizing Opportunity with Broadband Infrastructure Networks (ROBIN) 

Broadband Infrastructure Grant Program 

ROBIN is a high-speed internet last mile and middle mile infrastructure competitive grant 

program with $238M in project funds from the US Treasury as part of the Coronavirus Capital 

Projects Fund. ROBIN provides funds to internet service providers and public-private 

partnerships for the expansion of broadband infrastructure to unserved areas. Up to 35% of 

ROBIN funds can be used for middle-mile projects that support deployment of broadband 

service to unserved areas, while the remainder is dedicated for last-mile service projects. The 

program is designed to connect locations currently without 100/20 Mbps service. Ultimately, 

the goal is to connect 60,000 – 75,000 locations with high-speed internet service with this 

grant. 

Tribal Broadband Connectivity Program (TBCP) 

The NTIA’s Tribal Broadband Connectivity Program is an initiative that provides grants to 

support broadband deployment and adoption in tribal communities across the United States. 

The program offers $1 billion in funding to tribal governments and tribal organizations to 

expand access to high-speed internet and improve digital inclusion. The grants can be used for a 

range of activities, such as building and upgrading broadband infrastructure, establishing public 

computer centers, and providing digital skills training. These grants will expand high-speed 

Internet network deployment and digital skills training to improve access to education, jobs, and 

healthcare on Tribal lands.  

Two tribes in Michigan received grants from the TBCP. The Nottawaseppi Huron Band of the 

Potawatomi project was awarded about $1.2M and proposes to upgrade existing local fiber optic 

infrastructure that currently serves Tribal government offices, Tribal businesses, and 

community anchor institutions in addition to 35 Tribal households. These upgrades will assist 

Tribal members in gaining better access to telehealth, distance learning, and economic and 

workforce development, in addition to digital inclusion efforts. In addition, Match-E-Be-Nash-

She-Wish Band of Pottawatomi Indians (Gun Lake) was awarded around $500k, which will 

connect 17 households in the Gun Lake tribe that lacked access to broadband to qualifying 

broadband service.  

2.1.3.1 Asset Gaps in Existing Digital Equity Programs 

Refer to Asset Gaps in Existing Digital Equity Plans. 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 40 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

2.1.4 Broadband Adoption 
As of 2023, more than 492,000 households are unserved (locations without 25/3 Mbps service 

available) or underserved (locations without 100/20 Mbps service available)18 by high-speed 

internet infrastructure. Another 730,000 households face barriers related to affordability, 

adoption, device access, digital literacy, or a combination thereof. Taken together, this means 

that approximately 30% of Michigan households  struggle with some form of the digital divide19 

MIHI has actively been working with internal and external agencies to ensure that Michiganders 

are aware of the programs and resources that can subsidize internet service plans and internet-

enabled devices. 

The Affordable Connectivity Program is administered by the Federal Communications 

Commission (FCC) and provides financial assistance ($30 per month) and a one-time discount 

to purchase an internet enabled device for eligible households and households on qualifying 

lands (FCC.gov). The Affordable Connectivity Program is open to households with an income of 

200% or less of the Federal Poverty Guidelines. It is also available to households that have a 

member who accesses any of the following programs: Supplemental Nutrition Assistance 

Program (SNAP), Medicaid, Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and 

Children (WIC), Supplemental Security Income (SSI), Federal Public Housing Assistance 

(FPHA), Veterans Pension and Survivors Benefit, Free and Reduced-Price School Lunch 

Program or School Breakfast Program, Federal Pell Grant (received in current award year). 

Tribal members involved in specific additional programs are also eligible. Tribal members who 

live on federally recognized tribal lands are eligible for a more significant potential benefit (up to 

$75 per month). ACP also provides a one-time subsidy for the purchase of an internet-enabled 

device. 

MIHI will support the ACP enrollment process for Michiganders, by partnering with 

EducationSuperHighway to coordinate a statewide ACP awareness campaign. 

EducationSuperHighway is a national nonprofit that has worked in the broadband space for 

decades and has recently shifted their focus to on the digital divide. Another program that 

assists in the promotion of ACP is Lifeline. Through this service, Michigan senior citizens have 

access to a phone landline and are also eligible for the Affordable Connectivity Program. 

MIHI currently leverages a digital navigator program presently funded with Community 

Development Block Grant dollars from the CARES Act and administered in partnership with the 

MEDC. The program is hosted in three of the ten economic prosperity regions. The primary goal 

of this program is to increase awareness of broadband opportunities and events, to provide 

technical assistance for broadband related skills, and to identify resources to subsidize internet 

service plans. MIHI will scale the Digital Navigator program to a statewide offering covering 

each of the ten Prosperity Regions with a focus on underrepresented and underserved 

communities. 

MIHI has partnered with the statewide library network and the Michigan Department of 

Education to leverage resources and expand digital learning opportunities for communities. For 

decades, Michigan’s statewide libraries have provided a physical space and digital learning 

opportunities for community members. More recently, many libraries have also been a provider 

 

18 Data for number of unserved and underserved locations comes from the June 15th, 2023 data published by the Federal 
Communications Commission  that represents availability reported by internet service providers as of December 31, 2022. 
19 2021 Update to the Michigan Broadband Roadmap (2021), Michigan High-Speed Internet Office 

https://www.michigan.gov/leo/-/media/Project/Websites/leo/Documents/MIHI/2021-Update-to-the-%20Michigan-Broadband-Roadmap.pdf


 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 41 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

of loaner internet enable devices and mobile hotspots. The MDE has adopted the International 

Society for Technology in Education (ISTE) standards as digital literacy competencies that are 

implemented at various grade levels for students in kindergarten through secondary schools. 

MIHI’s works to collaborate and coordinate with local nonprofit organizations that are 

operating in the device ecosystem, workforce and digital skill development space. One such 

collaboration with Human-I-T. Detroit’s Human-I-T creates equitable access to technology in 

several ways. The most notable strategies are providing low-cost devices, internet access, digital 

skills training, and tech support. Human-I-T also works with companies to recycle internet- 

enabled devices. A multi-tiered approach will be considered to scale the work of Human-I-T to 

more Detroiters and Michiganders. 

During the MI Connected Future Tour, MIHI learned that communities want to get involved 

and develop relationships that will aid in them to compete in the BEAD subgrantee process. The 

current landscape of broadband adoption allows MIHI to support digital inclusion virtually by 

way of a Digital Inclusion Playbook20, which is a five-step framework to address Digital Equity in 

communities. The Playbook guides communities on how to identify key stakeholders, create the 

coalition, collect data, and establish goals. These are all critical components to creating a more 

digitally inclusive community. 

Additionally, MIHI has created an asset inventory that allows organizations/companies to share 

their information including the digital services it provides. Once complete, the organization can 

be located by anyone inquiring about their services in an online map. 

2.1.5 Broadband Affordability 
MIHI provides resources and outreach toolkits that are available electronically via the Labor and 

Economic Opportunity website. MIHI also references the  Affordable Connectivity Program 

(ACP). Enrollments for ACP in the state of Michigan are among the highest nationally. 

According to EducationSuperHighway, 1,690,382 Michigan households are eligible for the ACP, 

yet only 636,672,007 (38% of those eligible) have enrolled. Without high- speed internet access 

at home, Michigan households can’t work remotely, can’t access healthcare, job training, the 

social safety net, or critical government services, and their children can’t complete schoolwork 

outside the classroom. The MIHI website links several internet service providers directly for 

Michiganders to enroll in low-cost opportunities. MIHI intends to sustain a low-cost internet 

service plan model that is required by the BEAD program. 

In addition to that household subsidy program, several organizations and municipalities were 

awarded federal grants towards ACP promotion through the Affordable Connectivity Outreach 

Grant Program. The grantees were: United Way of Southeastern Michigan, Wayne County, City 

of Flint and Literacy Center of West Michigan. Each of the awardees will serve as trusted 

community institutions that will implement strategies to reach unserved and underserved 

households. 

The State of Michigan has provided additional support to low-income households. The Michigan 

Energy Assistance Program (MEAP) administers statewide programs that provide energy 

assistance and self-sufficiency services to eligible households. MEAP acknowledges that 

concerns about gas, electric, telecommunications and broadband services affects Michiganders. 

According to the MEAP website, self-sufficiency services include assisting eligible households 

 

20 LEO - Michigan Digital Inclusion Resources 

https://www.michigan.gov/leo/bureaus-agencies/mihi/michigan-digital-inclusion-resources


 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 42 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

with paying energy bills on time, budgeting for and contributing to their ability to provide for 

energy expenses, assistance in enrollment into an affordable payment plan, and utilizing energy 

services to optimize on energy efficiency. MEAP carefully outlines a step-by-step process for 

participants to employ and to be proactive. Additionally, MEAP outlines an outreach toolkit, 

links to resources, including MiBridges, the Michigan Department of Health and Human 

Services led program.  Using MEAP, Michiganders can also discover energy assistance resources 

available to them in their area. 

2.2 Needs Assessment 

MIHI instituted a comprehensive community engagement strategy wherein community 

members and partnership roundtable attendees shared their biggest broadband barriers via 

surveys. MIHI conducted 31 community meetings, held in-person, throughout each of the 10 

prosperity regions in Michigan and the data collected during these meetings is the source of the 

information below. Cities where each community meeting was held were targeted based on their 

rurality, status of internet availability, and historically underrepresented populations.  

 Section 3.2.1. below summarizes the results of those surveys by region and covered population 

including: 

• Income below 150% of the poverty line 

• Aging Individuals 

• Veteran Status 

• Disabled Individuals 

• English Language Learners 

• Racial-Ethnic Minorities 

• Rural Residents 

 

2.2.1 Covered Population Needs Assessment 
The MIHI Office has chosen to examine its needs and gaps regionally. LEO defines ten, multi-

county economic prosperity regions as a basis for analysis and implementation across programs. 

The map below provides the regional boundaries.  



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 43 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 

The profiles begin with that of Michigan as a whole, followed by a similar profile for each of the 

ten regions. The purpose of these profiles is to establish a baseline for understanding the unique 

digital equity and connectivity needs of the state and each region. Each profile contains a digital 

equity analysis that identifies the covered populations as defined by the Digital Equity Act, as 

well as the current state and needs for broadband availability and the priorities defined by each 

region during MIHI’s MICF listening tour. The following describes each of the data points found 

in the profiles. If a metric is highlighted in a regional profile, the rate of that metric in the region 

is higher/lower than the state average, which may indicate a need for additional focus on this 

covered population or element of digital equity. 

Digital Equity Profile 

The Digital Equity Profile identifies and enumerates the various Digital Equity Act covered 

populations within each region. These metrics are critical for identifying the unique digital 

equity needs throughout the state that can drive future digital inclusion program 

implementation.  

Population: The total population of the area from the American Community Survey 2021 5-

Year Estimates. 

Rural: The total number and percentage of the population residing in rural areas of the 

region as defined by the USDA 2013 Rural-Urban Continuum Code.  

Age 60+: The total number and percentage of the population aged 60 years or more in the 

region from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates.  



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 44 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Below Poverty: The total number and percentage of the population living below the federal 

poverty guideline in the region from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year 

Estimates.  

ALICE Population: The total number and percentage of the population defined as Asset 

Limited, Income Constrained, Employed (ALICE) in the region as defined by the United 

Way. Data is from 2021.  

Non-White: The total number and percentage of the population identifying as a race other 

than white, not including those of Hispanic descent, in the region from the American 

Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates. 

Hispanic: The total number and percentage of the population identifying as being of 

Hispanic descent in the region from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year 

Estimates.  

Foreign-Born: The total number and percentage of the population in each region born 

outside of the United States from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates.  

Limited English-Speaking: The total number and percentage of the population in each 

region that identify as being limited English speakers. This data was derived by identifying 

the number of households in each region identifying as such and multiplying it by the 

average household size for each region to determine the estimated population that are 

limited English speakers. Data is from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year 

Estimates.  

Veterans: The total number and percentage of the population in the region that indicate past 

military service from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year Estimates.. 

Disabled: The total number and percentage of the population in the region that indicate that 

they have mental or physical disability from the American Community Survey 2021 5-Year 

Estimates.  

Living in Correctional Facility: The total number and percentage of the population in the 

region that is living in a correctional facility. This data comes from the 2020 Decennial 

Census. The data does not differentiate between those in federal or state correctional 

facilities.  

Broadband Availability 

This section identifies the total number of residential and business Broadband Serviceable 

Locations (BSL) identified on the BSL Fabric developed and maintained by the Federal 

Communications Commission. The number and percentage of unserved (locations without 25/3 

Mbps service available) and underserved (locations without 100/20 Mbps service available) 

BSLs are included for each region. This data comes from the June 15th, 2023 data published by 

the FCC that represents availability reported by internet service providers as of December 31, 

2022. These metrics are critical for understanding the service availability needs and gaps within 

each region.  

Digital Equity Priorities 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 45 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

This data is derived from the MICF statewide community listening tour MIHI conducted in early 

2023. Community meetings were held in each region and participants were asked to prioritize 

the importance of the four primary barriers to digital equity; 1) Availability; 2) Affordability; 3) 

Digital Literacy/Skills; and 4) Devices. Participants were asked to rank these topics in order of 

importance through a dot-sticker exercise. Votes were weighted according to their importance 

and the results averaged to determine the overall importance of each topic on a scale of one to 

four with four being the most important and one being the least important. This data helps 

identify the most critical issues for those living in each region of the state.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 46 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 47 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

  



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 48 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 49 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 50 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 

 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 51 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 52 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 53 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 54 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 55 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 56 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

2.2.2 Broadband Adoption 
 

The MIHI Office recognizes that the following challenges exist for Michiganders: availability of 

affordable high-speed internet, accessible internet enabled devices and digital skills. Addressing 

these barriers across all sectors is essential. The Needs Assessment/MI Connected Future 

Listening Tour of 31 cities highlighted some critical data points regarding the barriers. The 778 

surveys collected during the Listening Tour, produced the following: 

• 553 of the attendees ranked Availability as the most challenging barrier. Availability was 

defined as: having internet service providers and speeds that meet the needs of the 

household 

• Affordability was identified by 172 of the participants as the highest priority challenge. 

Affordability was defined as: internet service plans in the area meet the household needs of 

participants and fit within the household monthly budget 

• 25 participants ranked having applicable digital skills (Tech Savvy) needed to use internet 

enabled devices as the highest priority 

• Having access to internet enabled devices was ranked a high priority for 8 participants 

With the goal of 95% adoption of broadband, MIHI intends to take careful consideration of 

covered populations, which may overlap with unserved and underserved communities. MIHI 

intends to prioritize the barriers above based upon the responses of Michiganders to address 

adoption. Additionally, MIHI recognizes that using digital skills requires the availability of 

internet service, having affordable options and having access to internet enabled devices. A 

wholistic approach to meeting the needs of covered populations is necessary. Working with 

trusted institutions or CAIs requires a focus on statewide, regional and local partners that are 

already working to improve adoption in ways previously discussed. Digital programs, digital 

skills-based nonprofits and library systems currently exist. By providing additional data and 

resources, MIHI can leverage these partnerships and scale the availability of services to covered 

populations. MIHI has also developed partnerships with agencies focused on aging populations, 

individuals with disabilities, veterans, members of racial minority groups and individuals in 

rural areas. Improving digital literacy and increasing broadband subscribers has also been a 

focus. 

 

2.2.3 Broadband Affordability 
 

The Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP) 

The ACP is a program that allows for a thirty dollar-a-month subsidy for eligible households 

toward internet bills, is now utilized in 40.6% of all eligible households in Michigan9. To 

increase the remaining 59.4% of eligible households who are not yet enrolled, the State of 

Michigan partnered with EducationSuperHighway to coordinate an ACP seminar on June 26, 

2023. The ACP faces uncertainty of continued funding with some projections showing the funds 

running out by early 2024. This would leave the 278,000 Michigan households that currently 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 57 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

receive funds and more who will apply for funding with an additional monthly cost21. The ACP 

needs to be continued to help provide internet service 

Increased Technical Assistance 

The MIHI office has been offering technical assistance and answering queries for Michiganders 

who send in questions related to the finding affordable service and signing up for the ACP. 

Currently, MIHI works with three Digital Navigators who are located within 3 different regions 

of Michigan. The state will need more Digital Navigators who can inform people about what is 

available as well as ask questions about what users can afford to pay for certain services. Digital 

Navigators will be familiar with regional ISPs, costs, and how to sign up for programs like the 

ACP. 

Creating Different Broadband Service Plans 

Michiganders attending MI Connected Future events spoke about receiving poor service quality 

at costs ranging from seventy dollars to over one hundred dollars a month. The cost for internet 

is too high. The NTIA’s Internet Use survey further validates this with the fact that 18.7% of 

people who did not have internet pointed to the cost22. Creating more affordable plans and 

having a middle-class affordability plan will help to ensure that the needs are met for all 

Michiganders. 

Lack of Standardization - Broadband Consumer Labels 

While touring the state, many Michiganders expressed frustration about costs or knowledge of 

increased fees. For example, a modem/router combo from many ISPs will cost an additional ten 

dollars a month. The explanation for such information is not always simple and many internet 

users do not realize that purchasing their own modem and router can save money in the long 

term. Broadband labels not only provide information on prices, service speeds, and the type of 

service, but also allow consumers to compare one internet service plan with another with ease23. 

 

  

 

21 https://acpdashboard.com/ 
22 Ibid. 
23 https://www.fcc.gov/broadbandlabels 

http://www.fcc.gov/broadbandlabels


 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 58 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

3 Collaboration and Stakeholder Engagement 

3.1 Coordination and Outreach Strategy 

Beginning in Fall 2022, MIHI developed the MI Connected Future (MICF) strategy designed to 

fulfill the needs of both the BEAD and DEA programs. MICF includes an innovative strategy for 

stakeholder and community engagement. Comprised of in-person regional meetings and 

partnership roundtables comprised of industry leaders and organizations representing covered 

populations, MICF actively supports robust community outreach and input while providing an 

opportunity for industry to provide additional barriers in the broadband space in a 

comprehensive and equitable manner. 

There is particular care and intention in creating an avenue for engagement for historically 

marginalized populations including not only low-income, ageing individuals, and those residing 

in rural areas, but also refugees, members of racial or ethnic minority groups, veterans, 

individuals with disabilities, individuals with language barriers, and formally incarcerated 

individuals. 

There are four primary components that are key to the execution of MICF: 

1. Community Meetings; 

2. Partnership Roundtables; and 

3. Data 

4. Public Comment 

Community Meetings 

Each region and community in the state is unique and approaching the needs of each in the way 

that serves them best promotes equity. MICF supports equitable engagement by respecting the 

unique needs of each community. This manifests as relationship building with community 

leaders prior to hosting community meetings in their towns. Buy-in is crucial for the success of 

MICF, and ultimately for the success of BEAD and DEA programs. In the conversations leading 

up to a formal community meeting, MIHI acted within its capacity to understand the issues that 

are important to the community, including critical context regarding past and current 

broadband and digital equity and inclusion activities. 

MIHI divided the community meeting portion of MICF into two phases: initial data collection 

and public comment/feedback. Phase one consisted of 31 MICF stops throughout all 10 

economic Prosperity Regions in Michigan. Phase two consisted of an additional 10 stops to 

collect public comment and feedback on the draft BEAD Five-Year Action Plan and the Digital 

Equity Plan. 

Initial Data Collection 

The initial data collection phase of MICF aimed to gather feedback from Michiganders regarding 

their biggest broadband barriers. 

- 778 surveys collected 

- 854 Michiganders attended 

- 31 MIHI hosted meetings Dot Activity 

- Availability: 553 attendees ranked this as the most challenging barrier 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 59 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

- Affordability: 172 attendees ranked this as the most challenging barrier 

- Tech Savvy: 25 attendees ranked this as the most challenging barrier 

- Devices: 8 attendees ranked this as their most challenging barrier 

- Other: 32 attendees ranked other as their most challenging barrier. These 

concerns ranged from internet reliability to lack of economic competition for ISPs 

Survey Results (4-Point Scale) 

- Availability was ranked 3.49 statewide for its level of importance 

- Affordability was ranked 2.92 statewide for its level of importance 

- Devices was ranked 1.6 statewide for its level of importance 

- Tech Savvy was ranked 1.94 statewide for its level of importance 

 

Partnership Roundtables 

Concurrently, MIHI convened a series of roundtable discussions comprised of stakeholders 

from organizations across the state who are  necessary in guiding the development of the BEAD 

and SDEPG/SDECG programs. These panels included representatives from community anchor 

institutions, tribal nations, organizations representing covered populations, internet service 

providers, and many others. The intent for the cross-sectorial panel format is to share 

information and resources, raise awareness for potential issues concerning infrastructure 

deployment and digital inclusion, and provide MIHI with policy and operational guidance for 

program implementation. These panels met regularly throughout the entire stakeholder 

engagement and plan development phases of MICF planning process. 

Data 

Quality data collection is crucial for determining the correct baseline for broadband service in 

Michigan. Furthermore, quality data supports an equitable deployment strategy in both the 

infrastructure and digital equity programs. Questions and input asked of community members 

will be consistent throughout the MICF Plan state-wide tour; however, the context in which the 

questions will be delivered will be unique to the group with whom MIHI is engaging. Following 

the state-wide tour, the MIHI team has analyzed feedback and engage with other professional 

organizations for quality analysis. Care was taken to engage with academics who work in the 

digital equity field and with existing digital equity indices to highlight areas of need. 

After gathering community feedback, engaging with partnership roundtables, and analyzing the 

gathered data, the final phase of the MICF planning process is to return to communities to share 

results and the draft MICF plan. MIHI aims to have a draft MICF Plan completed no less than 

three months prior to its submission deadline to the NTIA in July of 2023. In the three- month 

window prior to submission, MIHI will again visit communities across the state to solicit 

feedback on the proposed MICF Plan. 

Public Comment 

Responsive public comments from Michiganders of all walks of life are imperative to 

strengthening the Digital Equity Plan. All comments will allow MIHI to consider input and 

further improve the plan. To best facilitate the public comment period MIHI contacted all 

individuals who attended previous sessions and those who receive MIHI newsletter recipients, 

partnered with local and regional organizations, used State of Michigan communications, and 

leveraged relationships to share the opportunity to make public comments. 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 60 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

MIHI knows that not everyone is online and wants to provide ample opportunities for the public 

to comment. Three avenues to submit public comments are available. 

1. Online on the MIHI website 

2. In-person at a MI Connected Future event 

3. In-person at a local library after reading a physical copy of the Digital Equity Plan 

Option One: Submitting a comment online allows you to submit a comment when it is most 

convenient for you. Upon visiting the public comment page, you download the Digital Equity 

Plan, research it, and then submit a public comment. 

Option Two: Ten in-person events will take place over the course of five weeks with one event in 

each Prosperity Region of Michigan. These events will share information about gathered data 

from the former tour stops, allow for questions and feedback, and give all participants the 

opportunity to submit public comments in either a digital or physical format. 

Option Three: Local libraries in Michigan will have physical copies of the Digital Equity Plan on 

hand for Michiganders to come in and read. After reading the plan, interested individuals will be 

able to submit a public comment using a computer at the library connected to the internet or 

write down feedback in a tangible format that will be scanned and sent to MIHI as a form of 

public comment. 

Public Comment Outcomes 

[This section will include a report on the number of comments received, some background 

analytics, and a summary of revisions made to the plan. A full report with public comment 

tracking will be placed in the Appendix.] 

4 Implementation  

4.1 Implementation Strategy & Key Activities 

MIHI takes every effort to utilize holistic strategies to close the digital divide and remove 

barriers in a non-traditional manner. The digital divide looks different to everyone depending 
on their community, their income, their race, or their education. A person may have easy access 

to the internet, but not have the digital skills to advance in their career. Another may not have 
the money to utilize public transportation to get to a library to complete their college courses. 

Closing the digital divide is not a “one-size-fits-all” solution and Michigan will not approach it as 
one.  Additionally, MIHI is aware of several local and regional partners that are currently 

offering digital opportunities to communities. With this in mind, MIHI intends to support and 
convene efforts on the local and regional level to scale programs statewide. The current digital 

skills programming offered may be isolated to individual municipalities or to smaller 
populations. Ideally, MIHI’s efforts will be coordinated in the most efficient way.  

The main vehicle for closing the digital divide in Michigan will be through the implementation of 
a robust community Digital Navigator program. Navigators will serve communities they live in, 

therefore understand the needs of the digital divide in their community. Information from state 
agencies pertaining to online accessibility of services, new opportunities for workforce or 

education, and affordable internet service plans and devices will be disseminated to 
communities through these digital navigators. MIHI recognizes that community members know 
their communities best.  



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 61 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Digital Navigator System 

During MIHI’s MICF Listening Sessions, Michiganders expressed challenges with accessing 

and/or utilizing high-speed internet and having the needed skills to use internet enabled 

devices. Each community is different and has key insights on how to solve challenges with 

broadband that suit their needs. MIHI staff also heard that many communities want to get 

involved in the digital inclusion space but are unsure of where to find appropriately scaled 

resources, funding for positions, and the individuals with the skills to teach others about the 

resources available to them.  

To meet the needs of communities, and to close the digital divide, MIHI will implement a 

grassroots Digital Navigator program to serve as the vehicle for community-based solutions 

development. MIHI will implement the Digital Navigator program using the “snowflake model” 

of community organizing (as 

seen in the image below). This 

model allows communities to be 

engaged in the work to close the 

digital divide in an equitable 

manner, and one in which suits 

their community best, but 

continues to align with the 

coordinated strategy led by 

MIHI. By utilizing partnerships 

with local, trusted community 

institutions, MIHI, as the lead, 

will serve as the hub and the 

foundation of the vehicle 

providing support to the 

navigators and coordinating 

initiatives from within LEO and 

in partnership with other state 

agencies. The statewide Digital 

Navigator Program will promote 

equitable access to high-speed 

internet and digital skills 

training opportunities to 

Michiganders in urban, 

suburban, and rural areas. The 

program will target 

underrepresented, under-invested and underserved communities. The Digital Navigators will 

aim to increase adoption of broadband and the skills needed to use devices, based on the needs 

in the community, including physical and virtual access to identified need-based programs. In 

collaboration with community leaders, local businesses high quality programming will center 

around barrier removal for access to high-speed internet, internet enabled devices, applicable 

digital learning, and practical skill development. With the need for digital skills and internet use 

growing, Michiganders will have the training required to compete in an evolving digital society. 

The digital divide is influenced by many factors beyond lack of access to a device or a broadband 

connection and for many Michiganders, barriers such as childcare or transportation impact 

Figure 1: Snowflake model for community organizing 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 62 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

their ability to get online. The Digital navigator system will not only fund the positions for 

Community Digital Navigators and Regional Digital Coordinators but will support barrier 

removal activities such as providing bus passes or gas cards for individuals with transportation 

barriers, assistance devices for those with disabilities, or translation software for non-English 

speakers. The barriers for the individual will be unique, and as such, the removal of those 

barriers will be viewed by MIHI as a “strategic investment in human and community capacity.”24  

To scale the program throughout the state, Digital Navigators will be placed in each of the ten 

Prosperity Regions and in larger municipalities, e.g., Detroit and Grand Rapids. Digital 

Navigators facilitate need-based partnerships, programs, and digital skill development. The 

evolving workforce, telehealth platforms, virtual learning, and entertainment needs of covered 

populations in Michigan. By focusing the Digital Navigator Program on the communities that 

have the most need, the digital divide can be positively impacted. MIHI will provide oversight as 

it relates to assigning measurable deliverables and reporting requirements for the Digital 

Navigators.  

Digital Navigators will be trained on the initiatives of the state and how to holistically 

implement the activities for community by the Digital Inclusion Program Manager. Initial 

reviews of the progress for the Digital Navigators will occur in the first 90 days of their 

placement and will occur every six months for the term of their placement. Navigators will be 

required to provide monthly reports on the status of progress for implementation including 

metrics aligned with KPIs.  

To sustain the Digital Navigator system, MIHI will build relationships with philanthropic 

organizations and Community Reinvestment Act participating banking instutions. The ability to 
create an endowment fund with DEA funding is something MIHI is also strongly advocating for 

to ensure long-term sustainability of not only the Digital Navigator program, but other digital 
equity activities in the state.  

It is anticipated this this plan will be reviewed annually to assess activities performed against 

those planned and make updates or adjustments to the plan, as required. The KPIs will be 

evaluated annually, and where possible, quarterly, and will consist of data collected from the 

Digital Navigators as well as reporting from the Digital Equity Director regarding the progress of 

interagency coordination and implementation efforts. Progress on all KPI’s, and other relevant 

state initiatives supporting closing the digital divide will be published in an annual report by 

MIHI to the residents of Michigan.   

Goals and Planned Activities 

Priorities, KPI, Planned Activities, Roles and Responsibilities Related to 
Affordability 
Priorities: • Empower communities through engagement and involvement 

• Leverage community inputs to drive program planning and 
implementation. 

• Develop an approach for communities to define infrastructure 
and equity programs roll out 

• Include evidence of community support as part of subprogram 
requirements and partnerships for infrastructure deployment 

 

24 State Digital Equity Planning Grant Notice of Funding Opportunity, § (C)(1)(b) 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 63 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

• Community involvement to ensure alignment between local plans 
and state plans 

KPI:  An affordability score that combines: 

1. Internet to Income ratio as part of the Purdue University Digital 
Divide Index 

2. FCC’s Benchmark Rate for 100/20 mbps unlimited internet 
service and what each covered population in each region pay for 
internet service 

3. The percentage of households (per covered population, per 
region) who lost their internet connection temporarily due to 
inability or difficulty paying 

 
Activities:   • Digital Navigators placed in statewide libraries and other CAIs to 

support local, low-cost broadband opportunities 

• Utilize Intake Form for each participant to provide insight on 
related points for the participants’ Affordability Score 

• Promote low-cost broadband services to community members at 
host site, events, etc. 

• Participate in local broadband related events and meetings (i.e., 
broadband taskforce, committees) 

• Evaluate the progress of adoption for community members who 
indicated affordability or availability as a barrier to adoption 

Roles: • Digital Inclusion Program Manager will serve as the 
primary contact for each Regional Digital Coordinator. Will 
provide information on the status of the region as a baseline, the 
progress goals for the upcoming quarter, and the resources 
available for affordability and availability of broadband service to 
the Regional Digital Coordinator. 

• Regional Digital Coordinator will serve as the primary 
contact for each of the prosperity regions and the larger 
municipalities in the state. Will report directly to the MIHI office. 
Will flow information from the Digital Inclusion Program 
Manager regarding resources to the Community Digital 
Navigator. Will also share concerns with Digital Inclusion 
Program Manager from Community Digital navigators as needed. 

• Community Digital Navigator will serve as the leads in 
communities to support efforts to expand the impact of 
broadband in areas that covered populations. Will report data 
directly to the Regional Digital Coordinator. 

Priorities, KPI, Planned Activities, Roles and Responsibilities Related to 
Accessibility 
Priorities: • Empower individuals to utilize online services available from their 

health care provider, financial institution, or other online services 
as needed (i.e. Secretary of state appointments) 

• Target covered populations, particularly geographically isolated, 
and low-income households, to take advantage of the online 
services available to them to reduce unnecessary expenses relating 
to transportation or lost wages for services which can be 
conducted online 

 
KPI:  A digital government accessibility score 

1. Determine how likely each covered population is to access 
government services online as compared to how likely they are to 
use telehealth, online banking, or online consumer services 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 64 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 
Activities:   • Analyze webservices available throughout the state and create a 

resource bank of offerings available from the state for enrollment 
into assistance programs relating to workforce, education, 
healthcare access, and general civic engagement. 

• Utilize Intake Form for each participant to provide insight on 
related points for the participants’ baseline Digital Government 
Accessibility Score  

•  Measure progress periodically and at program exit 

• Analyze webservices available throughout the region and create a 
bank of resources available from the region’s healthcare systems, 
financial institutions, Tribal resources, municipal and county 
governments, and education institutions 

• Provide tailored resource guides for industry improvement of 
websites for improving their government accessibility score 

Roles: • MIHI with the help of other state agencies will complete the 
analysis of statewide resources and their current digital 
government accessibility status. MIHI will develop the framework 
for analysis and provide a template to Regional Digital 
Coordinator to expand capacity for communities to utilize the 
template for local use. 

• MIHI, with the help of relevant state agencies, and external 
partners, will facilitate the creation of resource guides to support 
education, workforce, banking, healthcare, and other civic 
agencies to improve their accessibility 

• Regional Digital Coordinator will support Community Digital 
Navigator with training and resources to encourage community 
members to utilize the online services available to them.  

• Community Digital Coordinator will promote and encourage 
online services among targeted covered populations to telehealth, 
online banking, and consumer services resources available 

Priorities, KPI, Planned Activities, Roles and Responsibilities Related to Digital 
Skills and Digital Literacy 
Priorities: • Promote Digital Equity and Digital Literacy  

• Target covered populations that are economically distressed, 
geographically distressed areas, historically underrepresented and 
uninvested 

• Support non-deployment subprograms that promote digital 
equity and literacy  

• Develop awareness strategies that improve digital literacy 
engagement and enrollment through marketing and 
communication 

 
KPI:  Create a digital participation score that: 

1. Combines the proportion of each covered population in each 
region that struggles to use computers or internet enabled devices 

2. How likely each covered population is to do various online tasks 
versus the overall statewide average 

3. Utilize Intake Form for each participant to provide insight on 
related points for the individual Participation Score 

 
Activities:   • Partner with the State of Michigan Library to identify and employ 

a digital skills training platform for adults  

• Partner with the Michigan Department of Education to promote 
digital skills competencies among K-12 students  



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 65 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

• Analyze regional and covered population data to focus resources 
in areas with lower rates of digital literacy 

• Evaluate digital literacy levels among participants in Digital 
Navigator led activities  

• Convene a workgroup comprised of MIHI and MDE staff to 
provide quarterly status updates toward the status of digital 
literacy in Michigan among covered populations in K-12, 
postsecondary, and adult learning environments.  

 
Roles: • MIHI will convene education workgroup and monitor growth 

toward closing the digital literacy skills gap. Resources and 
updates to relevant educational programs will be provided to the 
Regional Digital Coordinator by the Digital Inclusion Program 
Manager. 

• Regional Digital Coordinator will provide information 
updates to the Community Digital Navigator on programs 
relevant to their region/community. Regional Digital Coordinator 
will collect data from Community Coordinator and report back to 
MIHI staff.  

• Community Digital Navigator will facilitate digital literacy 
programs for adult learners at community organizations and 
provide data and progress to Regional Digital Coordinator. Any 
challenges or barrier trends preventing adults from completing 
course work will be shared with Regional Digital Coordinator and 
MIHI staff.  

 
 

Priorities, KPI, Planned Activities, Roles and Responsibilities Related to 
Individual Cybersecurity 
Priorities: • Target covered populations, specifically aging individuals, 

geographically isolated individuals, and formerly incarcerated 
individuals 

• Utilize Intake Form for each participant to provide insight on 
related points for the participants’ Digital Security Score 

• Empower individuals to utilize online services available to them 
with confidence to keep their information safe and to minimize 
unnecessary expenses relating to transportation or lost wages for 
services which can be conducted online 

KPI:  Develop a Digital Security Score that: 
1. Determines the percentage of each covered population in each 

region which has refrained from one or more online activities 
due to cyber security concerns 

2. Determines the percentage of each covered population in each 
region which does not use the internet at all due to cybersecurity 
or privacy concerns 

Activities:   • Develop communications strategy to promote safe online 
practices to targeted populations 

• Utilize practical examples of good cyber-hygiene to model 
behavior among target populations 

• Coordinate with Michigan Department of State and other relevant 
state agencies to communicate best practices when engaging 
online to protect personal information 

• Convene/attend relevant workgroup with appropriate state 
agencies to report the status of, and progress toward KPI, 
specifically among targeted populations 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 66 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Roles: • MIHI will convene/attend the relevant workgroup among state 
agencies to monitor progress of digital security among targeted 
populations. MIHI will report changes quarterly to show progress 
to the KPI. Communications strategy will be led by MIHI staff 
with resources disseminating to the Regional Coordinator and 
Community Digital Navigators. 

• Regional Digital Coordinator will disseminate information to 
the Community Digital Navigator and provide support to 
Community Digital Navigator for any concerns regarding personal 
cybersecurity as they arise. 

• Community Digital Navigator will disseminate information to 
community members regarding best practices to stay safe online 
and share concerns from the public with the Regional Digital 
Coordinator as needed.  

Priorities, KPI, Planned Activities, Roles and Responsibilities Related to Device 
Access and Affordability 
Priorities: • Target covered populations, specifically aging individuals, 

individuals with disabilities, formerly incarcerated individuals, 
and low-income households  

• Coordinate outreach (and in-reach in the case of incarcerated 
individuals) and communication about how to purchase low-cost, 
refurbished, or access free devices meeting the needs of the 
individual 

KPI:  Create a device distress score for each covered population per region 
which compares: 

1. The percentage of homes with no computing device at all 
2. Percentage of homes with only a smartphone 
3. Percentage of homes where someone was unable to use a 

computer five or more days during the last six months because 
someone else was using it/it was elsewhere/it was otherwise 
inaccessible 

Activities:   • Partner with internal and external organizations currently 
refurbishing internet enabled devices to expeditiously distribute 
devices to targeted populations 

• Utilize Intake Form for each participant to provide insight on 
related points for the participants’ baseline Device Distress Score 

• Encourage responsible device ownership including the promotion 
of digital skills and cyber-hygiene best practices with every device 

• Coordinate with MDE to promote responsible device usage among 
K-12 students, post-secondary, and adult learners 

• Monitor the progress of device distress score on annual basis in 
alignment with data sources 

Roles: • MIHI will develop and secure relationships with internal and 
external agencies to promote device distribution throughout more 
significantly distressed regions in accordance with the device 
distress score. MIHI will develop and coordinate the outreach and 
in-reach strategies and capitalize on existing programs to utilize 
funding efficiently. MIHI will elevate the importance of devices to 
education with its partners throughout MDE. MIHI will monitor 
the device distress score accordingly. 

• Regional Digital Coordinators will promote device outreach 
strategies to Community Digital Navigators and regional 
businesses. 

• Community Digital Navigators will disseminate information 
to community members regarding device access and resources.  



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 67 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 68 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Partners, Host sites 

MIHI will continue to work with partners to scale programs that are successful in smaller areas 

to statewide efforts. Digital Navigators will be placed in organizations as determined by a 

competitive RFP process. Potential host site partners include, but are not limited to: 

o Michigan Works! Associations 
o Library Systems 
o Local Community Colleges, Colleges, 

Universities 
o Intermediate School Districts 
o Tribal Nations 

 

o Councils of Government 
o United Way organizations 
o Philanthropic entities 
o Healthcare Systems 
o Non-profit entities 
o Other partners, as needed 

 

MIHI DE KPI Impact/Interaction with Outcomes 

 Outcomes 

Key Performance 
Indicator 

Economic and 
workforce 

development 
goals, plans 

and outcomes  

Educational 
outcomes 

Health 
outcomes 

Civic and 
social 

engagement 

Delivery of 
other essential 

services 

Affordability Score ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Digital Government 
Accessibility Score ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Digital Participation 
Score 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Digital Security Score ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Device Distress Score  ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 69 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

4.2 Timeline 

Year/Stage Activities 

2023 

• Complete Phase 1 of community meetings for initial data collection 

• Complete partnership roundtable discussions 

• Draft MICF Plan 

• Complete Phase 2 of community meetings for public comment and feedback on 
the draft BEAD Five-Year Action Plan and the Digital Equity Plan 

• Develop the DE plan, and finalize based off on public feedback 
 

2024 

• Apply for State Digital Equity Capacity Grant funding 

• Calculate Key Performance Indicator Scores 

• Affordability 

• Digital Government Accessibility 

• Digital Participation  

• Digital Security 

• Device Distress 

• Finalize asset inventory 

• Develop tracking mechanism for KPI progress 

• Convene workgroups among relevant state agencies and external partners 

2025 

• Coordination between State Digital Equity Capacity Grant and Digital Equity 
programs funded through BEAD 

• Begin designing outreach and in-reach campaigns for relevant KPIs 

• Issue RFP for Digital Navigator Host sites 

• Hire Regional Digital Coordinators and Community Digital Navigators 

• Finalize digital skills platform contract  

2026 

• Collaborate on progress of workforce development strategies and programs 

• Collaborate with MDE on progress of statewide digital skills competencies for 
K-12 learners 

• Coordinate with MDHHS on health outcomes from pre-and post-deployment 
of broadband projects in targeted areas 

• Publish annual progress report card 
 

2027 

• Monitor KPI progress quarterly and annually 

• Publish annual progress report card 

• Monitor continuous quality improvement mechanisms for KPI analysis and 
among internal systems/coordination 

2028 

• Monitor KPI progress quarterly and annually 

• Publish annual progress report card 

• Monitor continuous quality improvement mechanisms for KPI analysis and 
among internal systems/coordination 
 

2029 

• Monitor KPI progress quarterly and annually 

• Publish annual progress report card 

• Monitor continuous quality improvement mechanisms for KPI analysis and 
among internal systems/coordination 

 

2030 
• Close the digital divide  

• Universal availability of reliable internet service 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 70 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

5 Conclusion 

Michigan's journey to digital equity is a challenging but achievable goal that promises a brighter 

and more connected future. The state recognizes that broadband infrastructure and resources 

are crucial for economic and workforce development, healthcare, education, transportation, and 

more. Michigan's Digital Equity Plan aims at closing the digital divide by 2030 and ensuring 

universal access and adoption of high-speed internet services. With its integrated and 

comprehensive approach that involves state agencies, public and private stakeholders, and 

community members, Michigan is well-positioned to achieve its objectives and become an 

accessible and inclusive state. 

Michigan's Digital Equity Plan sets out key goals, strategies, and measurable objectives to 

ensure that every resident in the state has access to affordable high-speed internet services. This 

includes developing and supporting new plans and programs to expand broadband coverage 

statewide, facilitating digital skills training for all Michiganders, and removing barriers to 

increased digital adoption, such as device access and computer training. Through collaboration 

and a success-focused approach, Michigan is paving the way for a more connected future and an 

inclusive state that offers boundless opportunities for every Michigander. 

  



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 71 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A-1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 72 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Digital Inclusion Assets by Covered Population  

Introduction 

Michigan’s digital inclusion asset inventory identifies existing resources available to promote 

digital availability and adoption and has been used to identify any asset gaps that may exist. 

Leveraging existing assets is a key strategy of both the Digital Equity and BEAD programs.  

Leveraging existing assets is a key strategy for both the Digital Equity and BEAD programs, this 

is why MIHI developed a Digital Inclusion Resource Map in September 2022. The map serves as 

a tool for: 

1. Collecting information regarding existing assets from the communities  
2. Understanding the current digital inclusion programs, offerings, and resources available in 

communities across Michigan. 
3. Promoting these new and existing programs to communities  

The map was developed based on responses received to the Michigan Statewide Digital 

Inclusion survey developed by MIHI and distributed to key stakeholders and the public 

throughout the state. MIHI used several channels to engage stakeholders and encourage 

participation in the survey, including socializing it at community meetings as part of the MI 

Connected Future tour, Partnership Roundtables, and in the MIHI newsletter. Additionally, the 

survey is easily accessible and prominently displayed on the MIHI website. By targeting 

stakeholders, such as non-profit organizations, for-profit organizations, government agencies, 

colleges, universities, trade schools, public libraries, and K-12 schools, the survey seeks to 

determine the current state of digital equity and inclusion programs and identify key 

organizations involved in these efforts. Based on these insights, the Digital Inclusion Resource 

Map is continuously updated, providing an ongoing and up-to-date inventory of digital inclusion 

assets in Michigan.  

Methodology and Purpose 

The purpose of this appendix is to provide NTIA with a high-level summary of digital inclusion 

efforts that were undertaken in the state of Michigan, including the diverse set of organizations 

and stakeholders involved in promoting digital inclusion throughout the state. By identifying 

key players and networks, NTIA can gain a deeper understanding of the scope and scale of 

digital inclusion initiatives across the state and the impact that these efforts are having on the 

covered populations they serve. 

Table A-1 summarizes assets (including non-profit organizations, for-profit organizations, 

government agencies, colleges, universities, trade schools, public libraries, and K-12 schools or 

school districts) that support digital equity and were submitted as part of the Michigan 

Statewide Digital Inclusion survey in 2023. Each organization was aligned to the covered 

populations they best serve based on the organization’s mission, values, and services provided. 

Some organizations included in Table A-1 may serve multiple covered populations, but in order 

to simplify our approach in the Organizations by Covered Population section below, they were 

classified under a single covered population. Following Table A-1, a description of each of these 

organizations is included, categorized by the category of covered population each organization 

serves the most. 

 

https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/cngis.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=7ef79be851894cc5bdd60c1510fbafcb__;!!N8Xdb1VRTUMlZeI!lt68Yxzy5c5beLQUT30eKcUeSIfO7PmGLDm0CwitJcrMEkzR_iBYM4jcKW8Jdwh55Q0quonxaasHwyOJWm9j5kRCM-rg0A$
https://survey123.arcgis.com/share/5f335f934fd049dead669d712b282d5f


 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 73 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Digital Inclusion Resource Map by Covered Populations 

Table A-3: Select Digital Inclusion Assets by Covered Population 

Select Digital 
Inclusion Assets 

Covered Populations 

 

Covered 
households 

Aging 
individuals 

Incarcerated 
individuals 

Veterans Individuals 
with 
disabilities 

Individuals 
with a 
language 
barrier 

Racial/ 
Ethnic 
minorities 

Rural 
community 

Youth 

Detroit Blight Busters 
Inc. ✓        ✓ 

Edgewood Village 
Nonprofit Housing ✓ ✓       ✓ 
The Avalon Village Inc. ✓        ✓ 
SAY Detroit Play Center ✓        ✓ 
NPower Inc. ✓   ✓ ✓  ✓   
Digitunity ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 
Center County Center 
for Seniors  ✓        
St. Patrick Senior Center  ✓        
Engage @ Eastern 
Michigan University - 
Digital Connecting 
Corps 

 ✓        

Grand Traverse County 
Commission on Aging  ✓        
Buchanan Area Senior 
Center  ✓        
Greater Niles Senior 
Center Inc.  ✓        
River Valley Senior 
Center  ✓        
Senior Citizens Center  ✓        
ABC Computers  ✓       ✓ 
Detroit Rescue Mission 
Ministries Education 
Complex 

✓  ✓      ✓ 

Emmanuel House ✓   ✓      
Michigan Department of 
Military and Veterans 
Affairs 

   ✓      

Closing the Digital Gap ✓ ✓  ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓  ✓ 
Ann Arbor Center for 
Independent Living     ✓     
Chance For Life Satellite 
Center Location   ✓  ✓     
Washtenaw Literacy      ✓ ✓  ✓ 
American Indian Health 
and Family Services      ✓ ✓  ✓ 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 74 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

 

 

 

 

 

Select Digital 
Inclusion Assets 

Covered Populations 

 

Covered 
households 

Aging 
individuals 

Incarcerated 
individuals 

Veterans Individuals 
with 
disabilities 

Individuals 
with a 
language 
barrier 

Racial/ 
Ethnic 
minorities 

Rural 
community 

Youth 

Alkebu-Ian Village       ✓  ✓ 
Detroit Urban League ✓ ✓     ✓  ✓ 
Dream of Detroit ✓  ✓    ✓  ✓ 
Interfaith Center for 
Racial Justice       ✓   
Latin Americans United 
for Progress      ✓ ✓   
Latin Americans for 
Social and Economic 
Development 

 ✓     ✓   
The Detroit Association 
of Black Organizations       ✓   
Association of Chinese 
Americans Community 
Center 

 ✓    ✓ ✓  ✓ 

Pure Broadband        ✓  
Lee Township        ✓  
London Township         ✓  
Boys and Girls Club       ✓  ✓ 
Center for Success         ✓ 
Church of the Messiah / 
BLVD Harambee       ✓  ✓ 
Detroit Hispanic 
Development 
Corporation 

✓     ✓ ✓  ✓ 

Detroit PAL         ✓ 
Downtown Boxing Gym 
Youth Program         ✓ 
Life Remodeled ✓        ✓ 
New City Kids: Grand 
Rapids ✓        ✓ 
New Level Sports 
Ministries         ✓ 
Baxter Community 
Center ✓        ✓ 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 75 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Organizations by Covered Population 

 

Individuals living in households with incomes at or below 150% of the poverty line 

1. Detroit Blight Busters Inc.: Detroit Blight Busters mission is to stabilize, revitalize, and 
rebuild the city of Detroit. by demolishing, renovating, and boarding up blighted homes for 
community use, and building community partnerships and events to help low to middle-
income families. 

2. Edgewood Village Nonprofit Housing Corporation: Edgewood Village empowers low 
to very low-income households by providing them with access to affordable housing, 
educational opportunities, assistance, health and wellness, and community programming. 

3. The Avalon Village Inc.: Avalon Village's mission is to create a safe, nurturing, uplifting, 
and healing space within the City of Highland Park, MI by converting vacant and blighted 

land into a valuable urban resource and providing basic living components for a quality, 
comfortable, and prosperous life. In addition, the company provides basic services to the 
community to enhance traditional municipal or government services that have been 
reduced, eliminated, or have become unaffordable. 

4. SAY Detroit Play Center: SAY Play helps students from low-income families overcome 
literacy inequality while improving themselves and their communities. It has also become a 
motivational learning center for Detroit youth with academics as its core. 

5. NPower Inc.: NPower creates pathways to economic prosperity by launching digital 
careers for military veterans and young adults from underserved communities. Their 
mission is to move people from poverty to the middle class by creating access and pathways 

to careers in technology fields. 
6. Digitunity: Digitunity is a national organization working to eliminate technological gaps 

between individuals by providing computers and related equipment to those in need since 
1984. Their mission is to ensure that everyone has access to technology through a network of 
stakeholders and solutions. They focus on the device component of digital equity from the 
supply chain to community distribution. 

Individuals 60 years of age or older 

1. Central County Center for Seniors: The Central County Senior Center has a clear 
objective of meeting the documented needs of senior citizens aged 60 and above. It aims to 
provide solutions to their problems and offer enjoyable activities for those who reside in 
their homes. 

2. St. Patrick Senior Center: Detroit’s largest health, wellness, and activities center for 
people over the age of 55. The center provides a variety of services including nutritious 
meals, dozens of health & wellness programs, an on-site clinic, transportation to medical 

appointments, and others. 
3. Engage @ Eastern Michigan University - Digital Connecting Corps: The Digital 

Connecting Corps, a collaboration between Eastern Michigan University (EMU) Engage @ 
EMU and University of Michigan (UM) Ginsberg Center, seeks to design and implement an 
intergenerational and sustainable digital support program for older adults living in 
Washtenaw County. The goal is to leverage the resources of both institutions’ student capital 
to serve as tech coaches for the older adult community at older adult centers. 

4. Grand Traverse County Commission on Aging: Grand Traverse County Commission 
on Aging provides services to Grand Traverse County residents aged 60 and over to enable 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 76 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

them to remain living at home. This includes personal care, medication management, foot 
care, housecleaning, laundry, outdoor services, and personal emergency response systems. 

5. Buchanan Area Senior Center: Buchanan Area Senior Center is a community focal 
point on aging, where older adults gather for services, programs, and activities that reflect 
their experiences and skills, and responds to their diverse needs and interests. 

6. Greater Niles Senior Center Inc.: Greater Niles Senior Center is a senior citizen center 

located in Berrien County, Michigan. The center provides a broad range of services and 
programs for Seniors in the Niles area. Its mission is to offer a variety of activities to keep 
seniors engaged and active.  

7. River Valley Senior Center: River Valley Senior Center is a senior center located in 
Harbert, Michigan. Its mission is to offer residents of the area aged 60 years and older a 
range of educational, recreational, social, transportation, and referral services. 

8. Senior Citizens Center: Senior Citizens Center is a senior citizen center located in Benton 
Harbor, Michigan. The mission of the service Center is to provide safe, friendly, and positive 
social, educational, and recreational services to enhance the independence and well-being of 
the 60+ citizens of its community. 

9. ABC Computers: ABC Computers offers a range of computer-related services, including 
the sale of computer equipment, computer servicing (inclusive of laptops), onsite service, 
data recovery, and providing educational services for both high school students and senior 
citizens. They also offer consulting services. 

Incarcerated Individuals 

1. Detroit Rescue Mission Ministries Education Complex: The Detroit Rescue Mission 
Ministries is a faith-based, non-profit organization that has devoted a wealth of resources to 
meet the basic needs of humanity while motivating individuals to rebuild their lives, one life 
at a time. DRMM has spent over 100 years of continued service providing food, shelter, and 
services to intervene where homelessness and substance addiction occur. 

Veterans 

1. Emmanuel House: Emmanuel House is a nonprofit organization that provides daily 
programs and services to over 70 homeless veterans. It offers homeless Veterans an 
opportunity to take steps towards employment, create a self-help environment, establish a 
safe and drug-free residential setting, provide economic management training services, and 
facilitate structured interactions for the entire family. 

2. Michigan Department of Military and Veterans Affairs: The DMVA synchronizes 

strategic, legislative, and fiscal initiatives to build and sustain military readiness, care and 
advocate for veterans, and cultivate purposeful partnerships. Its vision is for Michigan to be 
the premier state for advancing military readiness and serving veterans and their families.  

3. Closing the Digital Gap: Closing the Digital Gap provides computer training, computer 
ownership and internet access to small non-profit organizations and individual in Michigan 
who may be unemployed, underemployed, low-income, single parents, disabled, veterans, 
immigrants, at-risk youth, and seniors. 

Individuals living with one or more disabilities 

1. Ann Arbor Center for Independent Living: The center is a nonprofit disability 
advocacy and service agency that assists people with disabilities and their families in living 
full and productive lives. Its mission is to empower the lives of people with disabilities and 
advocate for a more inclusive community for all. 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 77 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

2. Chance For Life Satellite Center Location: The center's vision is to transform minds, 
change hearts, and create safe communities by giving returning citizens and people with 
disabilities an opportunity to develop themselves in a positive manner in spite of adverse 
conditions. CFL focuses on fueling workforce development and strengthening family bonds. 

Individuals with barriers to the English language (including English language 

learners and those with low literacy) 

1. Washtenaw Literacy: Washtenaw Literacy provides literacy support, free of charge, to 
adults through a network of trained tutors. It is the organization’s vision to eliminate 
illiteracy in Washtenaw County. The organization also offers free English as a Second 
language (ESL) tutoring for adults. Tutoring is open to adults who live, work, or volunteer in 
Washtenaw County. 

Members of racial and ethnic minority groups 

1. American Indian Health and Family Services: The American Indian Health and 
Family Services is a nonprofit health and community wellness center whose mission is to 
empower and enhance the physical, spiritual, emotional, and mental well-being of American 
Indian/Alaska Native individuals, families, and other underserved populations in Southeast 
Michigan through culturally grounded health and family services. 

2. Alkebu-Ian Village: The original purpose of the organization was to provide affordable 
martial arts training for the African American youth. Over the years the organization has 
expanded to include youth and adult sports and fitness, leadership training, visual and 

performing arts, homework assistance and tutoring, youth entrepreneurship training and 
community service.  

3. Detroit Urban League: The Urban League of Detroit & Southeastern Michigan is 
committed to being a provider of choice for its clients, an employer of choice for its co-
workers, and the investment of choice for its stakeholders and philanthropic entities. Its 
mission is to enable African Americans and other persons of color to achieve their fullest 
potential. 

4. Dream of Detroit: Dream facilitates the growth of a thriving Muslim community, rooted 
in Detroit’s Black Muslim history while attracting a young, multi-racial future. It also 
remains committed to the broader neighborhood, meeting the concerns and building the 

capacity and connectedness of all residents, no matter their background. 
5. Interfaith Center for Racial Justice: The Interfaith Center for Racial Justice has been 

working for over 50 years to build bridges of understanding among people of different 
cultures and faith traditions. The center addresses issues that impact inclusion and  
recognize that social and racial justice are key elements that impact inclusion in its 
communities. 

6. Latin Americans United for Progress: The organization focuses on empowering 
Latinos to participate in creating a better community for all through advocacy, education & 
celebration. 

7. Latin Americans for Social and Economic Development: The development’s focus is 

to promote the social economic educational development of the residents of South Detroit by 
providing advocacy services and programs that create opportunities for the diverse 
community to better their educational level employment opportunities health and well-
being. 

8. The Detroit Association of Black Organizations (DABO): The association has been a 
champion for greater unity and opportunities in Detroit's African American community. 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 78 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Through an expansive network of over 130 organizations, DABO strives to create meaningful 
resources aimed at improving quality-of-life initiatives around the city. It has uplifted, 
unified, and empowered Detroit’s African American community through various programs, 
initiatives, and events. 

9. Association of Chinese Americans Community Center: The center plays a leading 
role in enriching the lives of Asian Pacific Americans in the Metro-Detroit region. The 

organization is one of several entities that serve the Chinese and Asian Pacific American 
communities, providing year-round programs that include social services, educational 
classes, preventive health care, and cultural events. Programs focus currently on wellness for 
seniors and underserved Asians, education excellence and culture awareness for youths, and 
social and education services for adults. 

Individuals residing in rural areas 

1. Pure Broadband: Pure Broadband is an internet service provider focusing on serving 
rural communities for over 10 years. Pure provides rural internet, home automation, IT 
support, and personalized installations. 

2. Lee Township: Lee Township is a government agency trying to get reliable, affordable 
internet in a rural community. The township partners with county and local service 
providers to ensure residents have access to affordable and reliable broadband services. 

3. London Township: London Township is a local township agency with a population of 

3,000 with the goal of getting reliable internet in its rural community. 

Youth 

1. Boys and Girls Club: The club is a nonprofit youth development organization that seeks 
to create hope, opportunity and foster civic engagement by inspiring and enabling all young 
people, especially those that need the most, to realize their full potential as productive, 

responsible, and caring citizens. The club focuses on three core areas to meet diverse needs 
and interests of members - academic success, good character and citizenship, and healthy 
lifestyles. 

2. Center for Success: The mission of the Center for Success is to unite literacy and 
community to empower students in the journey of education. The center offers mentoring, 
bringing together students and community partners during one-on-one, small group and 
whole class sessions to allow students to participate in various opportunities.   

3. Church of the Messiah / BLVD Harambee: BLVD Harambee is a non-profit 
organization helping foster life skills and connect resources for the holistic development of 
young people in the neighborhood. The church’s primary focus is young people; the 
congregation is 60% African American males under thirty. 

4. Detroit Hispanic Development Corporation: DHDC is an organization that focuses on 

youth and families, particularly those at high risk within the Hispanic communities. DHDC 
provides a range of community services including adult continuing education, 
conversational Spanish classes, parenting classes, and after-school and summer programs 
for youth. DHDC’s mission is to make a difference by creating life-changing opportunities 
for youth and their families. Their vision is to create a stable and safe community where 
youth and families have quality opportunities for self-empowerment, education, and 
personal wealth. 

5. Detroit PAL: Detroit PAL helps youth find their greatness through athletic, academic, and 
leadership development programs. The Detroit PAL department of Youth Enrichment 
provides supplemental services for youth and their families in order to help influence 



 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 79 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

student-athletes to be school and life ready. It focuses on literacy and academic enrichment, 
leadership development, college readiness, mentoring, workforce development, 
partnerships, and collaboration. 

6. Downtown Boxing Gym Youth Program: DBG is a leading, free, out-of-school time 
program centered around student achievement and success. DBG has been providing free 
academic and athletic programs to students with continuing mentorship and support up to 

the age of 25. 

7. Life Remodeled: Life remodeled repurposes properties into one stop hubs of opportunity 
for entire families to thrive. The organization fills buildings with the best and brightest 
nonprofit organizations who are providing youth programs, workforce development, and 
human services to tens of thousands of students and community members each year.  

8. New City Kids: Grand Rapids: New City Kids offers after school programming for local 
low-income youth. Children and teens get a chance to explore music and academics in a 
creative and fun environment. 

9. New Level Sport Ministries: New Level Sport Ministries is a non-profit youth support 
service committed to developing purpose-driven individuals that will be highly effective in 
all aspects of life. It is a Student Athlete Support Service, for ages 1 – 18 with a mission to 
maximize and balance the intellectual, spiritual, mental, and physical elements of all 
participating student-athletes. 

10.  Baxter Community Center: The Baxter Community Center's Child Development Center 
serves infants through preschoolers and provides a Wholistic Health Center that offers 
dental and mental health services through partnerships with local clinics and dedicated 
volunteers. It also has a marketplace which provides fresh produce to those in need of food 
assistance. 

Digital Inclusion Plans  

 

Existing County Plans 

Connected Nation's "Connected Community" program has partnered with 10 counties across the 

state of Michigan to conduct an assessment regarding the current status of broadband and to 

establish a broadband planning process. Through surveys of local residents, businesses, and 

organizations, the program aims to understand the existing resources and capabilities in place to 

support the access, adoption, and use of broadband technology in homes and businesses. Data 

obtained from this assessment is used to develop an appropriate action plan to improve the 

broadband ecosystem effectively, addressing the current and future broadband needs of these 

counties. The program's aim is to enhance the accessibility, affordability, and availability of 

broadband technology in the counties, leading to social and economic development. Additional 

information by county is included below. It’s important to note that as more households and 

communities participate in the Connected Community program, these figures are likely to 

change. 

Cheboygan County: Data from Cheboygan County represent survey responses collected between 

September 28, 2020, and January 29, 2021. Altogether, 1,126 Cheboygan County households 

responded to the survey; some responded more than one time. Data from all Connected 

communities represent survey responses collected between January 1, 2017, and January 29, 

2021.  

https://connectednation.org/michigan/wp-content/uploads/sites/13/2023/01/Cheboygan-County_Portal-Results_03082021.pdf


 
Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)  
State of Michigan  

 

Page | 80 DRAFT Version for Public Comment 

Eaton County: Data from Eaton County represent survey responses collected between 

September and November 2021. During this time, 1,322 Eaton County households responded to 

the survey, with some households responding more than once. Data from all Connected 

communities represent survey responses collected between January 1, 2017, and November 30, 

2021. Eaton County also released the Executive Summary of their Technology Action Plan in 

January 2022. Eaton County’s Executive Summary document can be accessed using the 

following link: Eaton-County_Executive-Summary_01272022.pdf (connectednation.org). 

Huron County: Data from Huron County represent survey responses collected between 

December 2020 and April 2021. During this time, 682 Huron County households responded to 

the survey, with some households responding more than one time. Data from all Connected 

communities represent survey responses collected between January 1, 2017, and April 30, 2021.  

Lake County: Data from Lake County represent survey responses collected between September 

2020 and February 2021. During this time, 464 Lake County households responded to the 

survey, with some households responding more than one time. Data from all Connected 

communities represent survey responses collected between January 1, 2017, and February 28, 

2021.  

Lapeer County: Data from Lapeer County represent survey responses collected between October 

9, 2020, and January 1, 2021. Altogether, 1,845 Lapeer County households responded to the 

survey. Data from all Connected communities represent survey responses collected between 

January 1, 2017, and January 29, 2021.  

Midland County: Data from Midland County represent survey responses collected between 

October 26, 2020, and January 26, 2021. Altogether, 1,438 Midland County households 

responded to the survey. Data from all Connected communities represent survey responses 

collected between January 1, 2017, and January 29, 2021.  

Newaygo County: Data from Newaygo County represent survey responses collected between 

April 2017 and September 2018. During this time, 929 Newaygo County households responded 

to the survey, with some households responding more than one time. Data from all Connected 

communities represent survey responses collected between January 1, 2017, and February 28, 

2021.  

Oceana County: Data from Oceana County represent 481 households that responded to the 

survey in 2017 and 537 households that responded in 2021, with some households responding 

more than one time. Data from all Connected communities represent survey responses collected 

between January 1, 2017, and May 31, 2021.  

Sanilac County: Data from Sanilac County represent survey responses collected between 

October 2020 and February 2021. During this time, 676 Sanilac County households responded 

to the survey, with some households responding more than one time. Data from all Connected 

communities represent survey responses collected between January 1, 2017, and February 28, 

2021.  

Tuscola County: Data from Tuscola County represent survey responses collected between 
February 2021 and April 2021. During this time, 663 Tuscola County households responded to 
the survey, with some households responding more than one time. Data from all Connected 
communities represent survey responses collected between January 1, 2017, and April 30, 2021.  
 

https://connectednation.org/michigan/wp-content/uploads/sites/13/2022/01/Eaton-County_Portal-Results_01272022.pdf
https://connectednation.org/michigan/wp-content/uploads/sites/13/2022/01/Eaton-County_Executive-Summary_01272022.pdf
https://connectednation.org/michigan/wp-content/uploads/sites/13/2023/01/Huron-County_Portal-Results_06042021.pdf
https://connectednation.org/michigan/wp-content/uploads/sites/13/2023/01/Lake-County_Portal-Results_04132021.pdf
https://connectednation.org/michigan/wp-content/uploads/sites/13/2023/01/Lapeer-County_Portal-Results_02192021.pdf
https://connectednation.org/michigan/wp-content/uploads/sites/13/2023/01/Midland-County_Portal-Results_04082021.pdf
https://connectednation.org/michigan/wp-content/uploads/sites/13/2023/01/Newaygo-County_Portal-Results_04292021.pdf
https://connectednation.org/michigan/wp-content/uploads/sites/13/2023/01/Oceana-County-MI_Portal-Results_07292021.pdf
https://connectednation.org/michigan/wp-content/uploads/sites/13/2023/01/Sanilac-County_Portal-Results_04152021.pdf
https://connectednation.org/michigan/wp-content/uploads/sites/13/2023/01/Tuscola-County_Portal-Results_06042021.pdf


Comm 
 
 

Communications 
Commission 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Finance 



Comm 
 
 

Communications 
Commission 

 
 
 
 
 

 
HOMTV 

Internship/Alumni 



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 
 

 
12G. 

 
 
 
 

To: 

From: 

Date: 

Re: 

 
Communications Commission 

Danneisha McDole, Multimedia Production and Operations Specialist  

August 29, 2023 

HOMTV Internship/Alumni 

For the Summer 2023 HOMTV Internship Program, we had one reporting intern and two production 
interns that were all Level I interns. We also still have our promotions intern who is now our senior 
intern.  

For the first 2 weeks of the internship program, we had a training period for the interns to prepare 
for upcoming story assignments and segments. The training workshops included: 

• Navigating the HOMTV website when it comes to the story uploading process. 
• How to properly use Social News Desk to follow and know the proper protocol when it comes 

to uploading posts through HOMTV and Meridian Township’s social media accounts. 
• “How to Conduct a Standard News Story Package,” workshop to train interns on how to 

properly conduct a story, and doing story article practices that meets our HOMTV brand 
standards. 

• “Interview Basics,” workshop to guide the interns on how to conduct an interview rather it is 
in-person, virtual and through the phone to help increase their comfortability, confidence and 
to hold a successful and conversational interview. 

• Photography and Videography workshops for the interns to know and use our camera 
equipment. Interns would learn the helpful tips when it comes to taking pictures and 
recording while also using our Adobe Creative Cloud software that included, Adobe Premiere 
Pro and Adobe Lightroom to edit. 

• Our reporting intern would practice using and reading off the field teleprompter weekly. 
• The last workshop for the training period was, “How to Conduct a Podcast,” where interns 

were presented a PowerPoint on how podcasts work and what it all entails to have a 
successful podcast and each intern was assigned to create their own podcast that was 
presented. 

Once the training period was done, individual meetings were held to discuss and create their own 
segment to build their resume reel. For the summer semester, one segment was created, a 
documentary series called, ‘Meridian Makers,’ the first episode was titled, “The History of 
HOMTV,” by our reporting intern, Stella Govitz. 

Throughout the semester, interns took on story assignments related to the Township, with 
guidance and supervision, more events that were covered by the interns included: 

• Celebrate Meridian: Recording and editing promotional videos, selfie boards designed 
and created for each sponsor.  



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 
 

• Juneteenth Freedom Fest: Photos and videos taken. 
• Heat Safety Video Package: Annual PSA reminder for residents to keep cool when it 

comes to rising temperatures.   

The Summer 2023 interns completed the semester on August 11, 2023. We held our Intern 
Appreciation Luncheon on July 27, 2023, where we presented our interns a certificate of completion 
and acknowledgement during our luncheon.  

As we enter into the Fall semester, we will have 1 Promotions intern and 1 Special Assignment intern 
for the Fall semester to cover events and posts as needed.  

 

 
 
 
 


	September 6, 2023 Communications Commission Regular Meeting Agenda
	March 22, 2023 Regular Meeting DRAFT Minutes
	Full Color - COMMUNCIATIONS MANAGER REPORT - New
	6A. Communications Department 2nd Quarter Report 2023
	Municipal Building Renovation
	Staffing Changes
	On May 1, Rachael Stohlin started in the position of Marketing and Public Relations Specialist, taking over for Andrea Smiley. The Marketing and Public Relations Specialist position received over 20 applications, and three in-person interviews were co...
	The interview panel consisted of Multimedia Production and Operations Specialist Danneisha McDole, Human Resources Director Abby Tithof, Director of Project Management and Operations Melissa Massey, and Janet Lillie, who serves as the Assistant Vice P...
	Certified Tourist Ambassador (CTA) Class
	Marketing & Communications
	HOMTV Operations
	Town Hall Room A/V Upgrades Project
	HOMTV National Award Winner
	HOMTV Programming & Internship

	6A. Communications Department 3rd Quarter Report 2023
	Municipal Building Renovation
	HOMTV Channel Audio Issues
	A Meridian Township resident reported to Clerk Guthrie and Deputy Manager Opsommer that the HOMTV channel had no audio for two weeks. Manager Diehl contacted Ben Miller, the Comcast representative for the region, and asked if Comcast could look at any...
	After further testing, Manager Diehl concluded that the encoder is dropping the audio when the signal is sent to Comcast. Staff were looking to upgrade the HOMTV channel playback systems in 2024 but would like to move that to 2023 due to the new audio...
	HOMTV has utilized Leightronix products for channel streaming and on-demand viewing, but Staff is looking to switch companies. Manager Diehl has a meeting with Cablecast on September 6 to demo their product and discuss what a system upgrade may look l...
	ArchiveSocial Integration
	2024 Budget
	Manager Diehl submitted the Communications Department’s 2024 budget in August. The Township Board will be presented with the 2024 budget at their meeting on Tuesday, September 5. The budget will be on for final adoption at their Tuesday, September 19 ...
	Marketing & Communications
	HOMTV Operations
	HOMTV Programming & Internship

	6A1. Health Expo Flyer
	6A2. Celebrate Meridian
	6A3. Freedom Fest
	6A4. Pride Flyer
	6A5. Summer Concert Series
	6A6. Pride Social Posts
	6A7. Boombox Bingo
	6A8. Karaoke
	6A9. Snell Towar
	7. Commission Member Reports
	8. Full Color - Action Items - New
	9. Full Color - Discussion Items - New
	9A. History of the Communications Commission
	To: From: Date: Re:
	Samantha Diehl, Communications Manager
	History of the Communications Commission

	9B. Communications Commission Member Recruitment
	To: From: Date: Re:
	Samantha Diehl, Communications Manager
	Communications Commission Member Recruitment

	10A. Full Color - Compliments.Complaints - New
	10A. Cable Complaint
	11A. Full Color - Video Service Provider - New
	Full Color - Programming - New
	11Bi. Program Totals and Video On-Demand Stats
	Full Color - Website Analytics - New.docx
	11Ci Website Analytics
	11Cii Social Media Performance
	Full Color - Publications-Promotions
	11Di. Family Fun Guide
	Full Color - Broadband Update
	11E. Broadband Update
	To: From: Date: Re:
	Samantha Diehl, Communications Manager
	Broadband Update

	11E1. Draft MIHI BEAD Five-Year Plan
	BEAD Five Year Plan
	Executive Summary 
	Overview of the Five-Year Action Plan 
	Vision 
	Goals and Objectives 
	Current State of Broadband and Digital Inclusion 
	Existing Programs 
	Current Activities of the Michigan High-Speed Internet Office 
	Current and Planned Full-Time and Part-Time Employees of the Michigan High-Speed Internet Office 
	Current and Planned Contractor Support 
	Broadband Funding 
	Partnerships 
	Partnership Framework 
	Core Partners 
	Enabling Partners 
	External Partners 
	Asset Inventory 
	Needs and Gaps Assessment 
	State and Regional Profiles 
	Digital Equity Profile 
	Broadband Availability 
	Broadband Adoption 
	Devices 
	Digital Equity Priorities 
	Regional Profile Summary 
	Workforce 
	Obstacles and Barriers 
	Deployment Barriers 
	Legislative or Regulatory Barriers 
	Pole Attachment 
	Municipal Participation 
	Utility Notification and Flagging Capacity:  
	Permitting 
	Federal Permitting 
	State Permitting 
	Environmental 
	Cultural and historical 
	State rights-of-way 
	Local Permitting 
	City, village, and township rights-of-way 
	County rights-of-way and drains 
	Railroad crossings 
	Workforce 
	Supply Chain and Materials  
	Limited Availability of Materials 
	Semiconductors 
	Fiber Optic Cables 
	Modems and Routers 
	Network Switches 
	Batteries 
	Supply Chain Disruptions 
	Competition for Resources 
	Local Capacity 
	Limited Local Resources 
	Limited Demand for Service 
	Lack of Community Engagement 
	Topography/Geography 
	Rural Terrain 
	Great Lakes 
	Remote Areas 
	Winter Weather 
	Environmental Concerns 
	Remote Islands 
	Procurement, Contracting, and Industry Participation 
	Knowledge and Communications  
	Local Resistance 
	Misinformation 
	False Claims about Health and Safety 
	Misconceptions about Costs 
	Myths about the Benefits of Broadband 
	False Information about Availability 
	Lack of Topical Knowledge/Awareness  
	Deployment Barriers Impact Matrix 
	Impact on BEAD 
	Likely to Overcome 
	Deployment Impact Matrix   
	Digital Equity Barriers 
	Device Access 
	Cost 
	Obsolescence 
	Technical Support 
	Digital Literacy and Skills 
	Confidence/Limited Technology Experience 
	Online Safety and Security 
	Advanced Online Services 
	Affordability 
	Inclusivity 
	Accessibility 
	Geographic Location 
	Language and Cultural Barriers 
	Relevance/Awareness 
	Digital Equity Impact Matrix 
	Impact on BEAD and SDEPG 
	Likely to Overcome 
	Digital Equity Impact Matrix 
	Implementation Plan 
	Stakeholder Engagement Process 
	Community Listening Tour 
	Partnership Roundtables 
	Tribal Consultations 
	Priorities 
	Priorities for Broadband Deployment and Digital Equity 
	Key Strategies 
	Planned Activities 
	Estimated Timeline for Universal Service 
	Estimated Cost for Universal Service 
	Alignment 
	Economic Development  
	Michigan Economic Development Corporation (MEDC) Five-Year Strategic Plan 
	Michigan Poverty Task Force Report 
	Education 
	Education Equity in Michigan Plan 
	Michigan’s Top 10 Strategic Education Plan 
	Environment 
	MI Healthy Climate Plan 
	Health 
	Health Information Technology Roadmap 
	Michigan Roadmap to Healthy Communities 
	Infrastructure 
	Thirty-Year Integrated Infrastructure Plan 
	Michigan Public Service Commission (MPSC) Strategic Plan 
	Transportation 
	Michigan Future Mobility Plan 
	Michigan Mobility 2045 Plan 
	Workforce 
	Michigan Workforce Development Plan 
	Michigan Sixty by 30 Strategic Plan 
	Technical Assistance 
	Conclusion 
	Appendices 
	Appendix A – External Partner Organizations 
	 


	11E2. Draft Digital Equity Plan
	Digital Equity Plan (DRAFT)

	11E. Full Color - Finance - New
	11F. Full Color - HOMTV Internship.Alumni - New
	12G. HOMTV Internship and Alumni
	To: From: Date: Re:
	Danneisha McDole, Multimedia Production and Operations Specialist
	HOMTV Internship/Alumni


